

Smartphone Applications for the Self-management of Low Back Pain

By

Claudia Didyk

Bachelor of Physiotherapy Graduate Certificate of Chronic Condition Management

> Thesis Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

College of Nursing and Health Sciences 25th of January, 2024

Contents

List of Tables	6
List of Figures	7
Abbreviations	8
Summary	10
Declaration	13
Acknowledgements	14
Publications and Conference presentations arising from this thesis	16
Publications	16
Manuscripts under review	16
Conference presentations	17
Evidence of Impact	17
CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	19
Low back pain	19
Current management	21
Self-management of LBP	24
Smartphone and smartphone app use	26
Self-management apps for LBP	27
Barriers to app use	
Current and future directions	29
Aims and thesis outline	
CHAPTER TWO – STUDY 1	33
Effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pair systematic review	
Statement of co-authorship:	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Identification and selection of studies	
Assessment of characteristics of studies	42
Data analysis	43
Results	44
Flow of studies through the review	44
Characteristics of studies	
Effects of interventions	54
Discussion	57
Strengths and limitations	61

Implications	62
CHAPTER THREE – STUDY 2	64
Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for self-management of low back pain: a systematic assessment.	
Statement of co-authorship:	65
Abstract	66
Introduction	67
Methods	70
Search	70
Procedure	70
Outcomes	73
Data extraction and synthesis	74
Results	75
App selection	75
Description of included apps	76
App Quality	79
Associations between in-app rating, price and quality	80
App potential for developing self-management	81
App behaviour change potential	82
Highest rating apps	85
Discussion	86
Strengths and limitations	90
Implications	91
CHAPTER FOUR – STUDY 3 (CONSUMERS)	94
Self-efficacy, self-management and use of smartphone apps for low back pain: an	
observational study	
Statement of co-authorship:	95
Abstract	96
Introduction	98
Methods	100
Design	100
Survey instrument	101
Data management and analysis	103
Results	104
Participant characteristics	104
LBP self-management options	106
Effectiveness	107

Self-efficacy and self-management scores	108
Associations between participant characteristics and self-efficacy	109
Associations between participant characteristics and self-management	109
Use of smartphone apps by people with LBP	111
Self-management and app use	112
Apps used for LBP self-management	113
Discussion	115
Strengths and limitations	119
CHAPTER FIVE – STUDY 3 (HEALTH PROFESSIONALS)	121
Health professionals' use of smartphone apps for clients with low back pain: an observational study	121
Statement of co-authorship:	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Design	
Participants	
Survey instrument	
Data management and analysis	
Results	
Participant characteristics and app use	130
Barriers and facilitators to health professionals recommending apps	131
Health professionals' preferences for apps for the self-management of LBP	133
Associations between health professional characteristics, technology use and recommendation of smartphone apps	135
Discussion	
Strengths and limitations	141
CHAPTER SIX – STUDY 4	143
Co-design of the Low Back Pain Self-Management App Review Tool (LBP-SMAR consumers to assess the quality, behaviour change and self-management potenti	al of
LBP smartphone apps	
Statement of co-authorship:	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods Design	
Phase 1: Development and co-design of the tool Data analysis	
Dala ahaiysis	152

Phase 2: Pilot testing	152
Data analysis	153
Results	154
Phase 1: Development and co-design of the tool	154
Phase 2 – Pilot study	165
Discussion	167
Strengths and limitations	170
CHAPTER SEVEN – DISCUSSION	171
Self-management	173
Interventions for self-management	175
Apps	176
Evidence for app use	178
The role of education for self-management	180
How can consumers choose and assess apps for LBP self-management?	182
Strengths and limitations	184
Future directions and recommendations	185
Conclusion	187
References	188
APPENDICES	210
Appendix 1	210
Signed co-authorship approval form	210
Appendix 2	216
Ethics Approval – Study 3 & 4, chapter 4-5	216
Appendix 3	218
Ethics Approval – Study 5, chapter 6	218
Appendix 4	220
Smartphone apps and back pain treatments	220
Appendix 5	
Smartphone apps and back pain treatments	223

List of Tables

Table S 2. 1. Search Strategy – Medline (Via OVID)	40
Table 2. 1. Summary of included studies	46
Table 2. 2. Summary of CASP Randomised Controlled Trial Checklist	52
Table S2. 2. TIDieR Checklist	53
Table 2. 3. Summary of effectiveness of interventions in the included studies (n=4)	55
Table 3. 1. Summary of included apps	77
Table 3. 2. The Mobile Application Rating Scale (MARS) quality mean ^a scores	801
Table S3. 1. Self-management Support (SMS-14) checklist scores	813
Table S3. 2. App Behavior Change Scale (ABACUS) Scores	84
Table 3. 3. MARS, SMS-14 and ABACUS total scores	86
Table 4. 1. Participant characteristics for whole sample and app users	105
Table 4. 2. Frequency of use of self-management options for LBP	107
Table 4. 3. Associations between demographic factors and self-efficacy and self-	
management	110
Table 5. 1. Participant characteristics of whole sample and health professionals that	
recommend apps for LBP	132
Table 5. 2. Associations between demographic factors, technology use and app	
recommendation	136
Table 6. 1. Workshop 1 findings	155
Table 6. 2. Workshop 2 findings	158
Table 6. 3. Workshop 3 findings	159
Table 6. 4. LBP Self-Management App Review Tool (LBP-SMART)	161

List of Figures

Figure 2. 1. Flow of Studies Through the Review	45
Figure 3. 1. App Selection Flow Diagram	76
Figure 4. 1. Use of different LBP self-management treatment options and perceived	
effectiveness	108
Figure 4. 2. Phase of LBP self-management app use most effective	113
Figure 5. 1. LBP self-management app features liked by health professionals	134
Figure 5. 2. Behaviour change features and perceived importance of apps recommend	led
by health professionals	135
Figure 6. 1. App assessment tool development process and co-design groups (based	on
the Co-KT framework)	151
Figure 7. 1. Recommendations	186

Abbreviations

ABACUS	App behaviour change scale
ADDRF	African Doctoral dissertation research fellowship
Apps	Applications
AUD	Australian dollars
BP	Blood pressure
CASP	Clinical appraisal skills program
Co-KT	Cocreating knowledge translation
COM-B	Capability, opportunity and motivation –behaviour change
GP	General practitioner
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
IQR	Interquartile range
LBP	Low back pain
LBP-SMART	Low back pain – Self-management app review tool
MARS	Mobile app rating scale
NGSE	New general self-efficacy scale
NICE	National institute for health and care excellence
NPRS	Numeric pain rating scale
ODI	Oswestry disability index
PhD	Doctor of Philosophy
PRISMA	Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses
PROSPERO	International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews
PSEQ	Pain self-efficacy questionnaire
QOL	Quality of life

RCT	Randomised controlled trial
RMDQ	Roland-Morris disability questionnaire
RTW	Return to work
SD	Standard deviation
SEIFA	Socio-economic indexes for areas
SES	Socio-economic status
SMS	Short messaging service
SMS-14	Self-management support checklist
SMST	Self-management self-test
TGA	Therapeutic goods administration
TIDieR	Template for intervention description and replication
TIPI	Ten-Item personality inventory
TMBT	Telerehabilitation-based McKenzie therapy app
USA	United States of America
VAS	Visual analogue scale

Summary

Low back pain (LBP) is a leading cause of disability worldwide and a global economic health issue. Low back pain is estimated to affect 70-90% of people at some time in their lives and is the second leading cause of disease burden in Australia. Current LBP guidelines recommend interventions that have been investigated by many studies over the years and these include self-management, active rehabilitation and exercise. Usual self-management varies, but includes a range of strategies such as exercise, advice from health professionals, pharmacological management and passive treatments. Smartphone applications (apps) are an easily accessible and cost-effective option that may help improve self-management. Most of the population in developed countries use a smartphone, and this is increasing at a steady rate. They offer consumers a mobile health platform that can be used in place of or as an adjunct to in-clinic treatment. As a result, they have the potential to decrease healthcare costs and improve access to health management guidance and monitoring. Apps offer the potential for widespread implementation of health care interventions.

This program of research was undertaken in a series of four studies. Study one is a systematic review aimed at synthesising the evidence of effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain in adults and exploring participant adherence with smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP. Overall, the findings suggest that smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP provide more effective reduction in pain and disability than usual care or minimal interventions, however, the evidence is inconclusive. The limited number of papers and heterogeneity of the research make it difficult to determine what apps work best and with whom. Wider use of smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP and its effectiveness are still unclear.

Study two is a systematic assessment aimed at evaluating the availability, content, and quality of commercially available, self-contained smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of low back pain in adults. The results showed that smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain are of average to good quality, but few were designed to specifically incorporate self-management support and behaviour change potential, as such have questionable potential for self-management and behaviour change. A clear need for stricter regulation of application content and consumer education is highlighted due to the low quality information and advice provided for low back pain.

Study three used two online surveys, a health professional survey and a consumer survey, to explore consumers' and health professionals' choice of self-management options for low back pain and use of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain. The results showed that few health professionals and consumers used apps due to lack of knowledge. All consumer app users had LBP and most found that app use helped improve their LBP. The small percentage of both consumer and health professional app users outlines the underutilisation of this self-management tool.

Study four used workshops to co-design a tool for use by consumers to assess LBP self-management apps. The co-design process involved both consumer and health professional input, as well as input from the research team. A new app assessment tool was developed, and pilot tested for usability with a separate group of participants. The app assessment tool allows for quick, easy evaluation of currently available LBP self-management apps by consumers and health professionals. Apps are an underutilised, yet potentially cost effective, portable and scalable self-management tool for LBP and this tool was developed to increase adoption of app use.

Overall, this research adds to the knowledge base and contributes to the paucity of research in this area. To our knowledge this is the first program of research that combines key elements to inform consumer and health professional choice. The developed codesigned tool allows for fast, easy integration into the clinical setting.

Declaration

I certify that this thesis does not incorporate without acknowledgment any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university; and that to the best of my knowledge and belief it does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text.

Acknowledgements

This journey, of undertaking a PhD, was a long and winding, often uphill, road that would not have been possible without the support of many. I would firstly like to thank my wonderfully supportive and truly brilliant supervisors, Associate Professor Belinda Lange and Professor Lucy Lewis. Undertaking a PhD is challenging even in the best of circumstances, doing so through a global pandemic requires another level of guidance and support that I was very fortunate to receive from my supervisors. Their guidance, knowledge and patience were more than I could have hoped for and helped me grow and develop as a researcher. They helped me navigate academic and personal challenges and were flexible to my needs. Looking back, I am amazed at the amount of knowledge that they were able to impart and did so eagerly in a supportive and enthusiastic mentoring environment. They challenged me to regularly step outside of my comfort zone to continuously develop my research skills throughout my PhD. Our time together has been a privilege.

I would also like to acknowledge Flinders University for not only accepting me into a higher degree by research but also for their financial assistance which covered the costs of my PhD. I would like to acknowledge the Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship, Caring Futures Institute and the College of Nursing and Health Sciences for their financial support, with the RTP support and the student research maintenance funds, that assisted in covering the costs associated with undertaking my research, and the wonderful facilities that made my time on campus comfortable and productive. Thank you to the Office of Graduate Research for your invaluable assistance in answering my queries and Di Chamberlain for your guidance, support and expertise.

I am extremely grateful to Josephine McGill (academic librarian) for the search strategy advice and Pawel Skuza (statistical consultant) for his statistical advice and appreciate the time you afforded me. I would also like to thank Jasmine Petersen (PhD candidate) for the selfless sharing of her time and guidance in statistics, behaviour change tools and survey promotion. I am immensely grateful for your selfless generosity in assisting a colleague.

I am forever indebted to the individuals that were involved in providing feedback for the surveys and to those that volunteered to participate in the surveys. Without your participation this research would not have been possible. Finally, my eternal thanks for the support from those closest to me, my work colleagues, friends and family. I am especially grateful to my children, Kiara and Marco, who were my greatest supporters. Their encouragement and steadfast belief was unwavering and they never doubted my ability to succeed as a working and studying mother. I hope that any negative impact that this undertaking has had on your lives is mitigated by the resilience and thirst for knowledge you have learnt that will benefit you in your future endeavours. To my long-suffering husband and best friend, Kristian, who not only had to navigate the tears, stress, lack of confidence and emotional highs of the occasional successes, but also undertake a larger share of school pickups, drop offs and dinners to help make this a reality. Thank you for the sacrifices you made and your encouragement, support and pride. I will always be grateful.

Publications and Conference presentations arising from this thesis

Publications

Didyk, C., Lewis, L. K., & Lange, B. (2022). Effectiveness of smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of low back pain in adults: a systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 44*(25), 7781–7790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.2005161</u>

Didyk, C., Lewis, L. K., & Lange, B. (2022). Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic assessment. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 44*(24), 7600–7609. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1979664

Manuscripts under review

Didyk, C., Lange, B. & Lewis, L.K. (2023). Self-efficacy, self-management and use of smartphone apps for low back pain: an observational study. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*.

Didyk, C., Lewis, L.K. & Lange, B. (2023). Health professionals' use of smartphone apps for clients with low back pain: an observational study. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*.

Didyk, C., Lewis, L.K. & Lange, B. (2023). Co-design of a consumer-level tool to assess the quality of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain. *Games for Health.*

Conference presentations

*Denotes presenting author

Didyk, C.*, Lewis, L. K., & Lange, B. (2022). Effectiveness of smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of low back pain in adults: a systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 44*(25), 7781–7790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.2005161</u> Virtual oral presentation at the International Society of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity (ISBNPA) Conference. Phoenix, Arizona, USA 2022.

Didyk, C.*, Lewis, L. K., & Lange, B. (2022). Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic assessment. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 44*(24), 7600–7609. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1979664

Virtual oral presentation at the International Society of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity (ISBNPA) Conference. Phoenix, Arizona, USA 2022.

Evidence of Impact

November 2021

Flinders University Media release

Smartphone apps not offering proven medical solutions for back pain sufferers

Self-management support and behavioural training lacking in Aussie app stores

https://news.flinders.edu.au/blog/2021/11/11/smartphone-apps-and-back-pain-treatments/

11th November 2021

Medical Express

Smartphone apps and back pain treatments

https://medicalxpress.com/news/2021-11-smartphone-apps-pain-treatments.html

13th December 2021

ABC Morning Radio interview – What Ails you? Back Pain - With Simon Royal

22nd February 2022

Australian Physiotherapy Association – Pain Committee Presentation (invited)

Chapter 1 - Introduction

This chapter provides an introduction and background information on low back pain (LBP), including prevalence, economic and health impacts. Current management strategies for LBP are then outlined, as well as the challenges for managing this condition. An overview of self-management is then presented, as well as the use of technology and smartphone apps for self-management. Finally, the potential for LBP self-management apps to assist in LBP management is presented as well as potential barriers to adoption and future directions. An outline of the program of research aims and thesis format concludes this chapter.

Low back pain

Low back pain is not a disease. It is a symptom defined by its location between the buttock creases and the lower margin of the ribs (Dionne et al., 2008). It may also present with unilateral or bilateral leg symptoms, such as pain or neurological symptoms, but most (85%) (Mesner et al., 2016) often does not have a specific cause (Finucane et al., 2020; Hartvigsen et al., 2018; Maher et al., 2017). Although recurrence is thought to be common, little robust evidence is available regarding the factors that predict recurrence and rates of recurrence (da Silva et al., 2017). Low back pain is a global economic health issue and leading cause of disability based on prevalence (Vos et al., 2017; Vos et al., 2020), and does not discriminate by age or country (Maher & Ferreira, 2022). The point prevalence for LBP, in 2017, was 7.5% with approximately 577 million people globally experiencing LBP (Wu et al., 2020), with the highest number in people aged 45 to 54 years (Chen et al., 2022). The highest increases in years lived with disability (YLD) due to LBP occurred in low-middle income countries (Kahere & Ginindza, 2020), although disability resulting from

LBP can vary between countries due to the influence of health and social systems (Hartvigsen et al., 2018). As a result, models of care and management must be specific to the geographical context (Buchbinder et al., 2018; Hartvigsen et al., 2018).

In Australia, back pain (of which LBP is the most common), is the second leading cause of disease burden (4.2%) (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [AIHW], 2022a) and the number one cause of non-fatal disease burden overall (8.1%) (AIHW, 2023b). Back pain prevalence is exceeding prediction (Arthritis and Osteoporosis [AOV], 2013), with four million Australians experiencing back pain in 2017-18 (Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS], 2019; AIHW, 2023b). Low back pain numbers have continued to rise due to an aging population in Australia (AIHW, 2023a; Hoy et al., 2014) and accounts for 16% of Australians with chronic conditions (AIHW, 2019b). Low back pain is often combined with comorbidities (ABS, 2022a) and a cause of psychological distress, impacting activity levels and workforce participation (AIHW, 2023a, 2023b; Buchbinder et al., 2018; Du et al., 2019). As a result, back pain is a leading cause for early retirement in Australia (Schofield et al., 2012) and further contributes to economic burden. The considerable levels of pain and disability sometimes experienced during episodes of LBP can also result in hospitalisation (AIHW, 2023a). The hospitalisation rate for non-acute and sub-acute back pain in Australia has tripled in the decade from 2006 to 2016, (AIHW, 2019a).

Non-serious LBP hospitalisation rates are estimated to cost over AUD 390 million per year (Coombs et al., 2021). Global private health costs have also increased, with musculoskeletal claims the most common (Willis Tower Watson [WTW], 2022). In Australia, health insurance premiums rose by 2.4% in the year to September 2022 (Australian Prudential Regulation Authority [APRA], 2022). Increasing health insurance costs may potentially cause affordability issues (Australian Broadcasting Corporation [ABC-News], 2020) and lead to falling private health insurance memberships. This will ultimately impact private health insurance costs, which may result in a downward spiral in which private health insurers further increase their costs to cover the loss (ABC-News, 2020). Falling health insurance memberships will ultimately place a greater financial burden on the Australian public health system and may result in further non-serious LBP hospital admissions.

Back problems, of which LBP is the most common, accounted for 23% of health system expenditure costing the Australian health system AUD 3.3 billion in 2018-19 (AIHW, 2022a) an increase of AUD half a billion in three years (AIHW, 2019b). The indirect costs of LBP only add to this figure, resulting in a significantly higher overall cost, estimated to be AUD 4.79 billion in 2012 (AOV, 2013). Unfortunately, much of the focus globally is on developing lifesaving interventions for common causes of death rather than main contributors to disability, such as LBP, which do not routinely result in death (Vos et al., 2020). However, an ageing population will only experience more disability, adding to the disease burden and expenditure, and requiring low cost, novel and effective intervention strategies (Vos et al., 2020).

Current management

The impact of disability resulting from LBP varies across countries and is influenced by local health care and social norms (Hartvigsen et al., 2018). In Australia, LBP is predominantly managed with face-to-face appointments and is the third most common reason Australians see their General Practitioner (GP) (Britt et al., 2016). Current management practises are expensive and can provide low value care (Buchbinder et al., 2018). In the current economic climate, regular face-to-face appointments with health professionals may not be affordable or easily accessible for those that live in rural and remote areas. Guideline recommended care for LBP is aimed at improving function, encouraging self-management and addressing psychosocial factors (Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care [ACSQHC], 2022b; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [NICE], 2016). Recommendations include: patient specific graduated return to normal activity using a biopsychosocial management approach, education, non-pharmacological treatments, psychological programmes if required for those with ongoing symptoms and limited use of imaging and surgery (Foster et al., 2018). However, guideline recommended care is not always received by people with LBP for several reasons, including, time constraints, payment models that do not effectively cover physical or psychological treatment options and lack of clinician knowledge of the guidelines (Foster et al., 2018).

In 1997 in Australia, a media campaign was delivered using well know personalities to educate and improve LBP beliefs at a population level (Buchbinder et al., 2001). However, although steps have been undertaken to improve LBP knowledge and dispel unhealthy beliefs, the gap between evidence and practice and the lack of clinician knowledge of current best practice and guideline recommendations continues (ACSQHC, 2022b). This is an important area of LBP management that requires addressing to improve LBP outcomes (Foster et al., 2018). It is perhaps due to incorrect beliefs about LBP, both from clinicians and consumers, and the pain related fear associated with LBP, that back problems are one of the most common reasons people present to hospital emergency departments globally (Edwards et al., 2017). This adds to the financial burden of LBP and a potentially wasteful use of limited health resources (Buchbinder et al., 2018).

Low back pain is one of the most feared health conditions (ACSQHC, 2022a), leading to fear-avoidance beliefs which have been shown to be present in high levels early in people that experience LBP (Coudeyre et al., 2007) and can predict the development to chronicity (Yihunie et al., 2023). Fear reduction dialogue, with health professionals equipped with knowledge, should be a focus of management in the acute stage of LBP (Bunzli et al., 2017). Appropriate patient education may assist in the reduction of fear avoidance behaviour, pain, disability and progression to chronicity that can result from incorrect beliefs (Bunzli et al., 2017).

Research into better LBP management options continues and more recently, research has been undertaken in the United Kingdom involving triaging musculoskeletal patients directly to physiotherapists (Downie et al., 2019). Although, this has allowed for cost effective, quicker access to care and improved outcomes (Downie et al., 2019), implementation into clinical practice is not quick and generalisability to other countries would need to be ascertained. In Australia, a national clinical care standard for LBP (ACSQHC, 2022b) guides health practitioners on early LBP management, with the aim to reduce the conflicting advice provided by health professionals to people with LBP and progression to chronicity. The clinical care standards outline the need for a thorough initial examination to rule out any serious, but rare, causes for LBP (ACSQHC, 2022b). For the 16% of Australians that experience back pain, the standards encourage the more effective early management of LBP that includes active rehabilitation, pain education and selfmanagement rather than medication, rest and imaging which have limited effectiveness and can hinder recovery (ACSQHC, 2022b).

Self-management of LBP

Self-management involves the active participation of a person in their treatment to manage the medical, emotional and behavioural aspects of their condition (Lorig & Holman, 2003), by following treatment plans, carrying out health promoting activities, monitoring symptoms and managing the impact of the condition on well-being (Dwarswaard & van de Bovenkamp, 2015). Current LBP guidelines recommend self-management (Meroni et al., 2021) to improve quality of life by enhancing the day-to-day management of LBP (Lorig & Holman, 2003). Self-management of LBP encourages activity and continuation of normal activities and work. A self-management plan should involve a discussion between the health professional and the person experiencing LBP, to develop a personalised plan that validates the person's thoughts and feelings and incorporates their preferences and needs (ACSQHC, 2022b). The aim of a LBP self-management plan is to give the person experiencing LBP the guidance and confidence to return to normal activities by avoiding bed rest, taking control of their pain, altering lifestyle factors that contribute to LBP, and navigating barriers (ACSQHC, 2022a). Targeted self-management interventions that are personalised and aimed at modifiable biopsychosocial factors, such as physical activity, depression, disability, kinesiophobia and catastrophising, have shown small to medium effects (Banerjee et al., 2022) in reducing pain intensity and disability in people with LBP (Du et al., 2017). Personal and environmental characteristics, health status, access to the health care system and available resources (Battersby et al., 2010; Schulman-Green et al., 2016), can impact self-management and adherence (Battersby et al., 2010; Schulman-Green et al., 2016).

Individual circumstances, differences and preferences require consideration in selfmanagement behaviour change interventions (Stieger et al., 2020) as local health care and social norms can influence and vary disability resulting from LBP (Hartvigsen et al., 2018). Ethnic differences (Hartvigsen et al., 2018) and personality traits may impact a person's openness to change (Baum et al., 2004; Chapman et al., 2014; Stieger et al., 2020), guiding health behaviour and resultant self-management (Courtenay et al., 2002; Peyrot et al., 2018). Those more likely to undertake self-management health promoting activities and self-manage better, are more emotionally resilient and manage stress well (emotional stability), open to new experiences (openness), cooperative (agreeableness), able to control impulses and thoughtful (conscientiousness), sociable and assertive (extroversion) (Dietmaier et al., 2022; Hampson et al., 2016; Mendoza-Catalán et al., 2022; Power & Pluess, 2015; Sirois & Hirsch, 2015; Zhang et al., 2019). Increased use of physical activity apps has been shown to be associated with higher levels of some personality traits in the general population (Petersen et al., 2020). However, further research is required as the personality traits outlined in this research do not directly align with those mentioned above.

Self-management programs for LBP (Du et al., 2017; Guzmán et al., 2001; Keogh et al., 2015; Oliveira et al., 2012; Toomey et al., 2015; van Tulder et al., 2000) have achieved a moderate reduction in pain intensity and disability (Du et al., 2017; Oliveira et al., 2012; van Tulder et al., 2000). Adherence to self-management programs can be challenging for people with LBP, but is required to improve outcomes (Schaller et al., 2017), and an important component of behaviour change (Prochaska et al., 1992). Smartphones are widely used in developed countries (Statista, 2020) and have capacity to improve pain (Bailey et al., 2020; Cavanagh et al., 2019; Thurnheer et al., 2018) and disability outcomes (Shebib et al., 2019) for people with LBP. Smartphones apps have great potential for self-management by offering a cost-effective, portable and scalable option that can reduce barriers to care for people with LBP (Merolli et al., 2022; Murray et al., 2016).

Smartphone and smartphone app use

The number of smartphone users globally in 2023 is projected to surpass 6.6 billion or over 86% of the world's population (Statista, 2023b). In 2022, 255 billion apps were downloaded globally (Statista, 2023a). The global revenue from apps in 2020 was just under AUD 480 billion (Statista, 2021). The global revenue from mHealth (mobile health) apps was valued at over AUD 65 billion in 2022, with an expected compound annual growth rate of over 11% (Grand View Research [GVR], 2023), with medical apps accounting for the largest revenue share (GVR, 2023).

Digital health technologies, such as telehealth, have become indispensable in addressing many public health problems and to deliver health interventions (Cucciniello et al., 2021; El Benny et al., 2021; Stark et al., 2022). The need for remote care was particularly highlighted during the Covid-19 pandemic (Petracca et al., 2020; Stark et al., 2022), when access to in-clinic care was limited (Accenture, 2020; Merolli et al., 2022). Digital health interventions (accessed via mobile phones, other handheld devices or via a computer) include apps or Web and computer-based programs and can provide selfmanagement guidance (Nicholl et al., 2017). Research has shown efficacy for the use of digital health interventions (Hewitt et al., 2020; Marcolino et al., 2018) and smartphone apps for LBP self-management, have been shown to improve disability and pain (Bailey et al., 2020; Cavanagh et al., 2019; Du et al., 2020; Rintala et al., 2022; Shebib et al., 2019; Thurnheer et al., 2018) or at least provide similar outcomes (Stark et al., 2022). Most internet users globally (93%) reported doing so via smartphones compared with 63% that accessed the internet via laptop or desktop (Statista, 2023c) and spent most of the time (92.5%) using mobile apps rather than browsers (Datareportal, 2022). Although websites are accessible to anyone on the internet, smartphone apps are optimised for mobile

phones, offer a better user experience with more features (such as cameras and real time location) and allow for personlisation and compilation of sensor data, push notifications and offline access once downloaded onto a smartphone (Turner-McGrievy et al., 2017). The significant use of smartphones, and their apps, globally can assist in reducing barriers experienced by LBP patients in accessing care (Stark et al., 2022). However, a systematic review approach is often not used for commercially available LBP self-management apps. Hence, the accuracy of the content and the provision of evidence-based advice is not guaranteed (Kasperbauer & Wright, 2020).

Self-management apps for LBP

The Lancet LBP Series Working Group have recognised the urgent need for affordable, effective and scalable strategies that can be used to manage LBP (Foster et al., 2018). The current waste of resources on high cost, low value care is an unaffordable management option, particularly in low to middle income countries (Foster et al., 2018). Smartphones are readily available globally (Statista, 2023b) and can address resource constraints (Bennell et al., 2017). The apps available through smartphones are affordable, scalable, easy to access and have been shown to be effective in reducing pain and disability for people with LBP (Bailey et al., 2020; Cavanagh et al., 2019; Du et al., 2020; Rintala et al., 2022; Shebib et al., 2019; Thurnheer et al., 2018). Unfortunately, the apps used in research are often not available for consumer use or require health professional support (Didyk et al., 2022b). Apps have the potential to encourage guideline-based recommendation of self-management (Rintala et al., 2022) and activity maintenance in a cost-effective manner that can improve access to credible health management guidance (lyengar et al., 2020; Murray et al., 2016; Stark et al., 2022; Stec et al., 2019; Whitelaw et al., 2020). The Covid-19 pandemic accelerated digital health use (Accenture, 2020; Merolli et al., 2022; Windisch et al., 2020) due to a lack of access to health professional face-to-face appointments (Stark et al., 2022). Consumers have shown a desire to continue the use of digital health management as part of their care (Accenture, 2020; Merolli et al., 2022) and look to trusted health professionals for guidance (Accenture, 2020). Research has also shown app-based rehabilitation of LBP to be at least as good as standard physiotherapy care (Stark et al., 2022). However, the uptake of smartphone app use as a potential management option for LBP is limited (Gordon et al., 2020) and may be a result of clinical practice barriers experienced by health professionals (Gordon et al., 2020; Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021).

Barriers to app use

Consumers are interested in using digital health options due to convenience (Byambasuren et al., 2020; Deloitte, 2018), however, consumer concerns of lower quality, and less professionalism and personalisation of care requires addressing (Deloitte, 2018). Older age and the useability of apps have been documented as a barriers for consumer app use (Byambasuren et al., 2020). Consumers look to health professionals for guidance (Accenture, 2020; Byambasuren et al., 2020) and recommendation of apps (Byambasuren et al., 2020) which requires health professionals to have the knowledge, and tools, required to do so.

Despite 54% of consumers being willing to use digital health options from their usual health care providers to manage their care, only 11% of health care providers recommend digital tools for health management (Accenture, 2020). The current clinical practice of fee for service encourages short duration consults. Time constraints in clinical practice can

impact the delivery of high value care (ACSQHC, 2022b; Foster et al., 2018; Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021) and be a barrier to the uptake of novel health management options. Other barriers that could impact uptake include data protection concerns and medical liability (Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021). To better address any barriers to app use as a LBP management option in clinical practice, a clear understanding of the barriers is required as they have not been explored extensively.

Current and future directions

Despite the plethora of health and wellness apps that are readily available to consumers, these apps continue to be poorly regulated globally. The USA, Europe (NICE, 2022; World Health Organisation [WHO], 2018) and now Australia (Australian Digital Health Agency [ADHA], 2022), are attempting to regulate or implement processes to improve app quality from the development stage. Australia has launched an assessment framework for mHealth apps to assist developers in designing, and consumers and health professionals with choosing, credible mHealth apps to encourage app use in clinical practice (ADHA, 2022). The framework is newly developed, implementation is due from the second half of 2023 to mid-2024 and targeted to developers not consumers (ADHA, 2022). It is voluntary and requires app developers to pay to nominate the app for a four-stage process of assessment prior to uploading the outcomes to an app library where the app is endorsed and provided with a star rating (ADHA, 2022). This process does not present immediate changes that can be incorporated into clinical practice and app use remains underutilised in healthcare (Gordon et al., 2020).

Given the lack of knowledge about smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP, there is a need for evaluation of the evidence on and for the use of LBP self-

management apps aligned with current guidelines. Additionally, an understanding of the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with LBP and their use of apps for self-management is also required to guide the development of targeted and scalable interventions to improve self-management of LBP. Further knowledge on the use of smartphone LBP self-management apps by first point of contact health professionals for LBP management could address the barriers to adoption of smartphone LBP self-management apps the barriers to adoption of smartphone LBP self-management apps by first point of smartphone LBP self-management apps by first point of smartphone LBP self-management apps the barriers to adoption of smartphone LBP self-management apps by first point of smartphone LBP self-management apps the barriers to adoption of smartphone LBP self-management app use in clinical practice.

A clear need remains for consumers and health professionals to quickly and easily assess app quality and potential to improve self-management and behaviour change. A checklist of required features, that incorporates the views and opinions of all stakeholders, would allow for quick, easy and relevant (Ioannidis, 2016) app assessment to guide app choice. A consumer-focused checklist could increase confidence in app quality, and as health professionals would not be recommending a specific app, would minimise liability concerns for health professionals (Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021). This could potentially increase the recommendation, and use, of quality LBP self-management apps by health professionals and consumers and potentially decrease the personal and economic burden of LBP globally.

Aims and thesis outline

The overall aim of this program of research was to evaluate the use of commercially available LBP self-management smartphone apps by consumers and health professionals to better guide implementation and adoption of app use into LBP management. Additionally, adherence with smartphone apps, individual factors such as personality traits, self-management and self-efficacy and their contribution to app use, confidence in choosing and recommending apps and the barriers to app use in clinical practice were also evaluated.

A series of four studies was undertaken to address the overall aim of the program of research. The four studies included:

- Study 1 (chapter 2) involved a systematic review that aimed to evaluate and synthesise the current evidence of effectiveness of existing smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of LBP, with a secondary aim, to explore participant adherence with smartphone apps.
- Study 2 (chapter 3) was a systematic assessment which aimed to assess the availability, content, and quality of commercially available, self-contained smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP in adults. The associations between quality, inapp user ratings and cost were also explored.
- Study 3 aimed to understand and explore consumer and health professional practises for LBP self-management and use of smartphone apps. Chapter 4 presents the results from an observational study incorporating an online consumer survey. The consumer survey evaluated what LBP self-management app features consumers like and use as well as individual factors such as personality traits, self-management and self-efficacy that may contribute to app use and improve LBP outcomes. Chapter 5 then presents an observational study incorporating a health professional survey. The health professional survey was undertaken to evaluate what LBP self-management apps, and app features, health professionals like or use, and the barriers to app use in clinical practice.
- Study 4 (chapter 6) aimed to co-design and pilot test a LBP self-management app assessment tool with health professionals and consumers. The tool was developed with the aim of assessing the quality and behaviour change and self-management potential of LBP self-management apps to ease the process of app assessment and inform choice for consumers and health professionals.

The four studies are formatted and presented within the thesis as publication manuscripts. Studies 1 and 2 have been published in the *Disability and Rehabilitation* Journal (Q1). A further three manuscripts are currently under review with Q1 journals, two manuscripts from Study 3 (one for consumers and one for health professionals) and one for Study 4. As a result, there is some repetition within the introduction sections of each manuscript in the thesis.

Chapter Two – Study 1

Effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain in adults: a systematic review.

This chapter answers the aim "to explore the effectiveness of smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of LBP in adults in improving pain, function, quality of life and adherence". This chapter describes a systematic review which was completed to determine the effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP and potential for recommendation of use in clinical practice. It was important to explore this prior to conducting the remaining studies where app quality and use were being evaluated.

Statement of co-authorship:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the review. Claudia Didyk conducted the literature search, Claudia Didyk and Belinda Lange conducted the data analysis, and Claudia Didyk completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript. See Appendix 1 for the signed coauthorship approval form. No conflict of interest is reported by the authors and funding was not provided for this review. The authors would like to acknowledge Josephine McGill (Academic Librarian) for her valuable assistance peer reviewing the search strategy for this systematic review. This manuscript has been published by Taylor & Francis in Disability and Rehabilitation, a quartile one journal, on 02/12/2021. This publication has been cited three times, and has an Altmetric score of 13, being in the top 25% of all outputs scored by Altmetric (19/07/2023). The manuscript has been formatted for consistency with this thesis. The final published version of the manuscript is available via the following reference:

Didyk, C., Lewis, L. K., & Lange, B. (2022). Effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain in adults: a systematic review. Disability and Rehabilitation, 44(25), 7781–7790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.2005161</u>

Abstract

Purpose: To explore the effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain in adults.

Methods: Prospectively registered systematic review of randomised controlled trials (2008-) published in English. Studies investigating smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of low back pain (adults \geq 18 years), including \geq 1 NICE low back pain and sciatica clinical guideline recommended component and functioning without health professional input were included. Outcomes were pain, function, quality of life and adherence.

Results: Six studies were included (n= 2100 participants). All comparator groups incorporated some form of management (n=3 physiotherapy, n=2 GPs, n=1 not specified). Three studies reported a significant decrease in pain intensity in the intervention group compared with control. One study reported no significant difference between groups in pain self-efficacy. One study reported a significant reduction in disability (function) in the intervention group compared with control. Two studies reported no between group differences in quality of life. One study reported no correlation between adherence (app use) and change in pain intensity and one study reported that app use mediated the effect of teleconsultations on pain improvements.

Conclusions: Inconclusive evidence exists for the use of smartphone applications for the self-management of low back pain. Further research is needed.

Keywords: smartphone apps; low back pain; self-management; systematic review; adults

Introduction

Low back pain is a leading cause of disability worldwide and a global economic health issue (Vos et al., 2017). Back pain impacts activity levels and workforce participation, causes psychological distress (AIHW, 2016; Du et al., 2019), considerable levels of pain and disability (AIHW, 2019d) and can result in hospitalisation. The economic burden of back pain can be significant (AIHW, 2019c), with both direct and indirect costs such as community health expenditures, public health programs, aids and appliances, health administration, capital expenditures, productivity loss due to absenteeism, loss of superannuation and taxation revenue, carers and welfare (AOV, 2013). There is a clear need for proactive management responses and intervention programs to meet the financial and human costs of LBP.

Current LBP guidelines recommend self-management, active rehabilitation and exercise (NICE, 2016; Bernstein et al., 2017). Numerous studies have investigated interventions for people with LBP, many incorporating principles of self-management, active rehabilitation and exercise (Baena-Beato et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2015; Monro et al., 2015; Moon et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2014). Self-management requires a person to actively participate in their treatment and be responsible for the daily medical, behavioural and emotional tasks required for the management of their condition (Lorig & Holman, 2003). To effectively self-manage, it is essential for a person to follow a treatment plan, such as taking medication as recommended, and monitor the symptoms of their condition as well as carry out health promoting activities, such as maintaining activity levels, and manage the impact of the condition on their well-being and personal relationships (Dwarswaard & van de Bovenkamp, 2015). Interventions aimed at self-management must address each of these
domains (medical, behavioural and emotional) in the management of a condition (Lorig & Holman, 2003), which can often be costly, time consuming and difficult to administer (Battersby et al., 2010). Additionally, internal and external factors, including personal and environmental characteristics, health status, available resources, and access to the health care system, can be barriers or enablers and affect an individual's capacity to self-manage and adhere to self-management programs long-term (Battersby et al., 2010; Schulman-Green et al., 2016).

Smartphone apps are an easily accessible and portable treatment modality that have the potential to encourage physical activity engagement and facilitate self-management. Smartphones are used by most of the population in developed countries, and this use is steadily increasing, with the number of smartphone users expected to reach 3.8 billion by 2021 (Statista, 2020). Smartphones offer a mobile health platform that is easily accessible and cost effective for consumers that may be used in place of, or as an adjunct to, in-clinic treatment (Wang et al., 2018). Although the concept of self-management is expansive, apps encouraging self-management should promote consumer involvement in their care and, provide advice and education to enhance skills required for daily symptom management such as unsupervised physical activity programs (Machado et al., 2016). Smartphone apps have great potential for widespread implementation of health care interventions by decreasing healthcare costs, improving access to health management guidance and monitoring (Stec et al., 2019), and improving health-related outcomes (Thurnheer et al., 2018) such as pain (Cavanagh et al., 2019) and disability (Shebib et al., 2019). However, content accuracy including alignment with current guidelines and evidence-based recommendations of apps is not well regulated (Cortez et al., 2014).

Given the lack of knowledge about smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP, there is a need for evaluation of the evidence for the use of these apps. Therefore, this review aimed to systematically identify, evaluate and synthesise the current evidence of effectiveness of existing smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP. The secondary aim was to explore participant adherence with smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP.

The questions for this review were:

- 1. What is the effectiveness of smartphone apps used for the self-management of LBP on pain, quality of life (QOL) and function?
- 2. How well do participants adhere with smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP and what are the relationships between adherence, pain, QOL and function?

Methods

A systematic review protocol was prospectively registered in PROSPERO (CRD42020184486). The review was conducted and reported according to PRISMA guidelines (Moher et al., 2009).

Identification and selection of studies

Literature search

In June 2021, a systematic literature search of nine electronic databases (Medline, The Cochrane Library, Scopus, CINAHL, Pedro, LILACS, Web of Science, ProQuest and IEEEXplore) was undertaken. The search strategy was peer reviewed by an academic librarian, and wherever possible, used a combination of keywords and subject headings for back pain and smartphone apps. The original search strategy was registered in PROSPERO, but following peer review, an additional five databases were added. An example of the search strategy (Medline) is presented in supplementary material table S2.1. No limits were applied at this stage.

Study selection

Two independent reviewers (CD and BL) screened all citations for relevance by title and abstract. Pre-specified eligibility criteria were applied and full-text analysis for eligibility was performed by two independent reviewers (CD and BL). The full text was obtained for citations with no abstract, or where ambiguity existed. Disagreements were resolved by consensus with a third member of the research team (LL). Reference lists of included studies and relevant systematic reviews were searched by two reviewers (CD and BL) for additional studies meeting the eligibility criteria.

Table S 2. 1.

Topic area	Keywords and subject headings
	1. "back ache".mp.
	2. "backache".mp.
	"back pain".mp. or exp Back Pain/
	4. exp Low Back Pain/
Back Pain	5. "LBP".mp.
	6. "lumbago".mp.
	7. "lumbar ache".mp.
	8. "lumbar pain".mp.
	9. "spinal ache".mp.
	10. "spinal pain".mp.
	11. or/1-10
	12. "app".mp.
	"application program*".mp.
	14. "application software*".mp.
	15. "cell* phone".mp.
	16. exp Cellular Phone/
	17. "digital health".mp.
	18. "digital intervention".mp.
	19. "android".mp.
	20. "iPad".mp.
Smartphone apps	21. "iPhone".mp.
	22. "mobile application*".mp.
	23. exp Mobile Applications/
	24. "mobile communication*".mp.
	25. "mobile device".mp.
	26. "mobile health".mp.
	27. "mobile phone".mp.
	28. "mobile technology".mp.
	29. "smart phone".mp.
	30. "smartphone".mp.
	31. "smartphone app*".mp.
	32. "smart phone app*".mp.
	33. or/12-32
	34. 11 and 33

Search Strategy – Medline (Via OVID)

Note. / Subject Heading; exp explode function; mp multi-purpose field in Medline (Title, Original Title, Abstract, Subject Heading, Name of Substance, and Registry Word fields).

Eligibility criteria

The following eligibility criteria were applied:

Design - Included studies were randomised controlled trials (RCTs).

Population - Studies involving community-dwelling adults aged ≥18 years with non-specific

LBP of any duration were included. English language restrictions and publication year

restrictions, from 2008 to present, were placed on studies at full text review stage if required. This publication year restriction was applied as the Google play and Apple App stores opened in 2008.

Intervention - To be included, studies must have included smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of LBP in adults. Self-management requires a person to actively participate in their treatment and be responsible for the daily medical, behavioural and emotional tasks required for the management of their condition (Lorig & Holman, 2003). This review included evidence of effectiveness of any existing apps, able to be accessed through a smartphone/tablet that provided self-management assistance for LBP with at least one NICE LBP and sciatica clinical guideline (NICE, 2016) recommended component. These self-management components include, exercise, psychological therapy, manual therapy (or a combination of physical, psychological and manual therapy) and return to work programs. Self-management support should be provided throughout the treatment pathway with person-specific advice and information related to LBP and encouragement to perform daily activities. Exercise can be in the form of mind-body, biomechanical, aerobic or a combination that suits the individual's preferences, needs and capabilities. Psychological therapy such as the cognitive behavioural method can be used in combination with exercise and manual therapy. Return to work should be encouraged as part of maintaining normal daily activities (NICE, 2016). To be included in the review, apps could function with or without health professional input.

Comparator - Comparator groups of health professional usual care, non-digital selfmanagement or no intervention were included.

Outcomes – Primary outcomes of interest were app effectiveness on pain (e.g. measured by pain scales such as the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) or the Numerical Pain Rating Scale (NPRS)), QOL (e.g. measured by the Health Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) questionnaires such as AQoI or RAND-36), and physical function (e.g. measured by questionnaires such as the Roland-Morris Low Back Pain and Disability Questionnaire, or scales such as the Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) the Back Pain Functional Scale or the Low Back Outcome Score Scale).

The secondary outcome of interest was adherence (e.g. measured by built-in app measures to evaluate app use and duration), recording of symptoms or exercise performance and adherence questionnaires such as the RAQ-M (the Modified Rehabilitation Adherence Questionnaire) a 25-item scale evaluating adherence barriers and a diary as a non-app outcome measure.

Studies were excluded if they recruited participants with spinal pain due to pregnancy, surgery, fracture, cancer or spinal cord injury. Studies were excluded if the app focus was related only to pharmacological monitoring or if devices other than a smartphone or computer tablet were used for data collection.

Assessment of characteristics of studies

Risk of bias

The Clinical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) checklist for RCTs (Critical Appraisal Skills Programme [CASP], 2018) and the TIDieR checklist (Hoffmann et al., 2014) were used to assess risk of bias and completeness of reporting in included studies. Two reviewers (CD and BL) independently assessed risk of bias, and a third reviewer (LL) resolved disagreements. Final decisions were via consensus. The CASP checklist uses 11 questions (answered with either "yes", "no", "can't tell" or free text responses) to address the broad areas of study validity, results and generalisability (CASP, 2018). The responses to the 11 questions guided the overall risk of bias assessment for each trial. Trials were not excluded based on risk of methodological bias. The TIDieR (Template for Intervention Description and Replication) checklist uses 12 items to guide the evaluation of completeness of reporting and replicability of interventions in published clinical trials (Hoffmann et al., 2014).

Data analysis

Data extraction and synthesis

Using a standardised data extraction template, two reviewers (CD and BL) independently extracted study characteristic data. Both reviewers then compared and collated data extraction. Study characteristics included country, study design, population, source, sample size, participant characteristics, eligibility criteria, intervention, control/comparator, assessment time points, outcome measures, estimate of treatment effects and summary of results. Both within and between group statistical analyses were extracted for all relevant outcomes. Included studies were examined for similarities in participants, interventions and outcomes. In the case of heterogeneity in studies, a narrative synthesis was planned.

Results

Flow of studies through the review

Study selection

The electronic database search yielded 1815 citations. After the removal of 756 duplicates, 1059 citations were screened by title and abstract. After title and abstract screening, a further 1042 studies were excluded, resulting in 17 studies for full-text screening. A further 11 studies were removed (7 ineligible interventions, 1 ineligible study design, 1 ineligible comparators, 1 conference abstract and 1 not available in English) and no further studies were identified from screening reference lists. Six studies were included (Figure 2.1).

Characteristics of studies

Description of included studies

One of the included studies was undertaken in India, one in the USA, one in Africa (Nigeria), two in Germany and one in China. All studies were published between 2015 and 2020. A total of 2100 participants were included, ranging from eight (Yang et al., 2019) to 1245 (Priebe et al., 2020) participants in individual studies. The six included studies were heterogeneous in their interventions and outcomes and although two studies (Chhabra et al., 2018; Irvine et al., 2015) compared app use to usual care, usual care differed in each study. One study explored app use versus physiotherapy in-clinic McKenzie therapy

(Mbada et al., 2017). Two studies (Toelle et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2019) explored app use versus usual physiotherapy care, however, the small number of participants (n=8) in Yang et al. (2019) meant that meta-analysis was not indicated (Higgins et al., 2019).

Figure 2.1.





The characteristics of the included studies are summarised in table 2.1. The duration

of LBP symptoms, eligibility criteria, recruitment, content and delivery of interventions,

intervention time points and outcome measures varied between studies.

Table 2. 1.

Summary of Included Studies

Study	Participants	Interventions	Primary Outcome Measures
Chhabra et al. (2018)	Intervention: n=45, Mean age (years) = 41, Female (%) = not reported Control: n=48, Mean age (years) = 41, Female (%) = not reported \geq 18 years of age with LBP \geq 12 weeks, Pain \geq 5 on NRS consistently, Access to android mobile device with internet access, prescribed regular medication and some physical activity, fluent in written and spoken English	Intervention - Doctor's usual prescription + Snapcare smartphone app for 12 weeks to increase and maintain physical activity and increase engagement and compliance. Control - Usual care - Doctor's usual prescription of medication and exercise.	Pain Intensity: NPRS (0-10) Disability: MODI (0- 100) Baseline and 12 weeks with no further assessment post intervention
	Recruitment: Private hospital outpatient spine department		
Irvine et al. (2015)	Intervention: n=199, Alternative Care: n=199, Control: n=199, Mean age (years) = not reported, Female (%) = 60 (overall) 18-65 years of age, living in the USA, working ≥ part time, retired or a family member of a collaborating company employee,	Intervention - FitBack Program - A mobile-Web based self-management program that provides tailored education, behaviour change and self-care strategies. Participants also had access to 30 videos on exercise and pain management. 8 weekly email reminders were sent to participants to log on to the program.	Primary outcomes not specifically stated. <i>Pain intensity:</i> 10- point pain dial (1- 10), level, frequency and duration. Baseline, post
	experienced LBP in previous 3 months, cleared of medical risks, access to internet that can play videos, a working email address.	Control - Usual care: no specific interventions but received emails to complete assessment questionnaires. Alternative Care: an initial email and 8 reminder emails to	intervention at 8 weeks and then another 8 weeks after the intervention had
	Recruitment: Internet	access links to 6 websites about NLBP	ceased, but access still granted, at 16 weeks.

Study	Participants	Interventions	Primary Outcome Measures
Mbada et al. (2017)	Intervention: n=21, Mean age (years) = 47, Female (%) = 67 Control: n=26, Mean age (years) = 50, Female (%) = 77 20-65 years of age, clinical diagnosis of chronic non-specific LBP, no obvious deformities affecting the trunk or upper and lower extremities. Recruitment: Outpatient physiotherapy department in a university teaching hospital	Intervention - Telerehabilitation- based McKenzie therapy (TBMT) app – personalised and self-guided back care education and McKenzie extension protocol (i.e., Extension Lying Prone, Extension in Prone, and Extension in Standing). Control - Clinic-based McKenzie therapy (CBMT) - McKenzie extension protocol (extension lying Prone, extension in prone, and extension in standing, repeated up to ten times) and a set of back care education instructions (9-item instructional guide on standing, sitting, lifting, and other activities of daily living for home).	Primary outcomes not specifically stated. Pain Intensity - Quadruple Visual Analogue Scale (QVAS). Disability (Participation restriction) - Oswestry Disability Index (ODI). Disability (Activity limitation) - Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire (RMDQ). Health related QOL - SF-12 General Health Status Questionnaire. Baseline, 4 weeks
Priebe et al. (2020)	Intervention: n=933, Mean age (years) = 42, Female (%) = 65 Control: n=312, Mean age (years) = 37, Female (%) = 64 18-65 years of age, acute (up to 6 weeks) or subacute (6– 12 weeks) non-specific LBP, \leq 6 recurrent episodes not longer than 12 weeks, and ended \geq 6 months prior to current episode, email access, intervention group required access to a smartphone or tablet to use the Kaia App, fluent in German and a member of the statutory health insurances AOK Bayern, BARMER or DAK Recruitment: Facebook advertisement and participating	Intervention - STarT Back questionnaire and score at commencement of treatment, high- risk patients' GPs could undertake a teleconsultation and discuss appropriate treatment with a pain specialist at the Rise-uP head office. The Rise-uP supervision platform guided communication and data flow between patients, StatConsult and Kaia. Participants granted access to the Kaia back pain app and advised by their GP to use the app and complete the educational program, physiotherapy and mindfulness as frequently as possible. Control – national guideline standard of care by GP.	and 8 weeks Pain Intensity: NPRS (0-10) Baseline (T0) and 3 months (T1) via questionnaires.
Toelle et al. (2019)	GPsIntervention: n=53, Mean age (years) = 41, Female (%) = 73Control: n=48, Mean age (years) = 43, Female (%) = 6718-65 years of age with non- specific LBP \geq 2 week and \leq 12 months	Intervention - Kaia app - includes 3 modules 1) back pain specific education, 2) physiotherapy/physical exercise and 3) mindfulness and relaxation techniques. Participants encouraged to use the Kaia app on a smartphone 4 x a week for 3 months. All 3 modules included in daily content. Progress is adapted by the app daily.	Pain Intensity: NPRS (0-10) Baseline, 6 weeks and 12 weeks via hardcopy questionnaires

Study	Participants	Interventions	Primary Outcome Measures
	Pain ≥ 4 on NRS in the last 2 weeks and ongoing for the last 6 weeks to 12 months, no experience with the Kaia App, fluent in German.	Control - $6 \ge 20$ minute, individual, face to face physiotherapy sessions once a week (manual therapy and exercise). Encouraged to maintain an active lifestyle and perform physiotherapy exercises at home.	
	Recruitment: Pain Centre Facebook page, website/GPs	Additionally, 6 emails (one weekly), were sent with links to low back pain education and self-management websites.	
Yang et al. (2019)	Intervention: n=5, Mean age (years) = 35, Female (%) = 25	Intervention - Four-week Pain Care app providing a self-management program of individualised therapist prescribed exercises and daily app	Pain Intensity: VAS (0-100) Self-efficacy: PSEQ,
	Control: n=3, Mean age (years) = 50, Female (%) = 75	reminders to exercise and use the pain diary. The App consisted of three components: About and Tools to tailor reminders, New Pain	Disability: RMDQ, Health related quality of life: SF36
	≥ 18 years of age with non- specific LBP ≥ 3 months, Access to android or Apple mobile device	Episode and Personal Report to enable early data retrieval.	Baseline, 2 weeks, post intervention (4 weeks) with no
	to download Apps, ability to perform brief exercises during working hours.	Control - Physiotherapy treatment - physiotherapy prescribed manual therapy, electrophysical therapy and traction.	further assessment post intervention
	Recruitment: University rehabilitation clinic	I = Modified Oswestry Disability Index, \	

Note. NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale, MODI = Modified Oswestry Disability Index, VAS = Visual Analogue Scale, PSEQ = Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire, RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire, SF36 = Short Form Health Survey

Participants

Table 2.2 summarises the participant characteristics in the included studies.

Participants were recruited from a variety of settings. Irvine et al. (2015) did not report the

mean age of the sample, the percentage of female participants was not reported by

Chhabra et al. (2018), and Irvine et al. (2015) did not separate gender for treatment and

control groups and only provided an overall result of female participants.

Intervention

There were five different smartphone apps identified in the included studies. Five studies used apps that were not available commercially (Chhabra et al., 2018; Irvine et al., 2015; Mbada et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019). The Snapcare and Kaia apps were developed by technology companies and provided to the researchers free of charge (Chhabra et al., 2018; Toelle et al., 2019). The telerehabilitation-based McKenzie therapy app (TMBT) was developed by the authors and the trial partly funded by an African Doctoral Dissertation Research Fellowship (ADDRF) re-entry grant (Mbada et al., 2017). The FitBack app was specifically developed for the study and funded by a small business research grant (Irvine et al., 2015). The Pain Care app, a commercially available app not currently available in app stores in the Oceania region, was used in the final study (Yang et al., 2019).

The five included apps had similarities in their function by providing personalised and tailored activity and home exercise programs and reminders to target engagement and compliance. The Snapcare and Kaia apps both updated content based on individual needs (Chhabra et al., 2018; Toelle et al., 2019). The FitBack app used a self-tailored cognitive behavioural approach by targeting self-efficacy and allowing individuals to control the strategies used (Irvine et al., 2015). The TMBT app used phone calls and SMSs to encourage engagement and compliance of the personalised exercises (Mbada et al., 2017), whilst the Pain Care app functioned by reminding individuals to undertake their therapist prescribed home exercise program and self-monitor pain and activity levels (Yang et al., 2019). The FitBack and Kaia apps also provided tailored education behavioural change

techniques such as a cognitive behavioural approach (Irvine et al., 2015) or mindfulness and relaxation techniques (Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019).

The duration of app use differed in the four studies. The apps also differed in some other features and directions for use. In the Snapcare app participants received daily activity goals and a standard written treatment prescription from the GP (Chhabra et al., 2018). Participants using the FitBack app received weekly self-care messages that encouraged self-tracking of pain and activity levels (Irvine et al., 2015). The Kaia app contained over 30 guideline and textbook-based educational units (Toelle et al., 2019). The Pain Care and TMBT apps did not generate an exercise program and exercises were therapist prescribed (Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019).

Comparator

All included studies included some form of management in the comparator group/s. Three studies involved physiotherapy, two included GPs and one was not reported. Five of the four studies included two groups, intervention and comparator (Chhabra et al., 2018; Mbada et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2019), whilst one study included three groups with an additional 'alternative care' group (Irvine et al., 2015).

Outcomes

Five different primary outcomes were specified in the trials, however, two trials did not specify primary outcome/s (Irvine et al., 2015; Mbada et al., 2017). Of those that specified primary outcomes, the number in each trial ranged from one to four. *Pain intensity.* All six included studies measured pain intensity, with three studies using the NPRS, one a 10-point pain dial adapted from the Wong Baker pain scale (Irvine et al., 2015), one the VAS (Yang et al., 2019) and one the QVAS (Mbada et al., 2017). *Function.* Disability was reported as a primary outcome measure relating to function in three trials (Chhabra et al., 2018; Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019). The Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire (RMDQ) was used in two studies (Mbada et al., 2017; Jingyi Yang et al., 2019), the Oswestry Disability Index in one (Mbada et al., 2017) and the Modified Oswestry Disability Index (MODI) in the other (Chhabra et al., 2018).

Pain self-efficacy. Pain self-efficacy was measured in one trial (Priebe et al., 2020) using the Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ).

QOL. Health related QOL was assessed in two trials, one using the SF12 (Mbada et al., 2017) and the other using the SF36 (Yang et al., 2019). Both the SF12 and the SF36 measure eight subscales related to QOL (physical function, role physical, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social function, role emotional and mental health). *Adherence.* All six included studies measured adherence, five using built-in app measures to evaluate app use and duration, and one using phone calls and SMSs to track adherence (Mbada et al., 2017). However, only two trials specifically reported adherence findings (Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019).

Risk of bias

Methodological risk of bias was assessed using the CASP RCT Checklist (table 2.2) (CASP, 2018). None of the trials blinded participants or health care providers, one blinded assessors (Chhabra et al., 2018), one blinded research assistants (Mbada et al., 2017) and one further trial reported single blinding but did not specify who (Yang et al., 2019).

Chhabra et al. (2018) was considered the lowest risk of bias as the other five trials all presented with bias in selection, performance and detection. Three trials (Irvine et al., 2015; Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019) prospectively registered protocols and four stated primary outcomes. Three trials reported intention to treat analyses (Chhabra et al., 2018; Irvine et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2019). Two trials (Chhabra et al., 2018; Toelle et al., 2019) reported receiving trial funding from the technology companies providing the app, but the authors declared either no financial gain or direct tech company involvement in the trial, respectively. One trial (Priebe et al., 2020) reported receiving government funding for the trial and, aside for remuneration for various services rendered for those involved in the trial, no further funder involvement occurred in the trial. Mbada et al. (2017) and Irvine et al. (2015) reported academic funding for the trial and Yang et al. (2019) did not report funding sources.

Table 2. 2.

	Chhabra	Irvine	Mbada	Priebe	Toelle	Yang
	et al.	et al.	et al.	et al.	et al.	et al.
	(2018)	(201	(2017)	(2020)	(2019)	(2019)
		5)				
1. Does the trial address a clearly focused issue?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
2. Was the assignment of patients to treatment	Yes	Can't	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
randomised?		tell				
3. Were all the patients who entered the trial	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes
properly accounted for at its conclusion?						
4. Were patients, health workers and study	No	No	No	No	No	Can't
personnel 'blind' to treatment?						tell
5. Were the groups similar at the start of the trial?	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
6. Aside from the experimental intervention, were	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
the groups treated equally?						
9. Can the results be applied to the local	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
population, or in your context?						
10 .Were all clinically important outcomes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
considered?						
11. Are the benefits worth the harms and costs?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Can't	Yes
					Toll	

Summary of CASP Randomised Controlled Trial Checklist

Note. For simplicity of presentation, Items 7 and 8 in the CASP checklist are not included in the table as they required a text response on treatment effect size and significance and these data are outlined in the manuscript text.

The TIDieR checklist (Hoffmann et al., 2014), presented in supplementary material table S2.2, showed that two trials (Chhabra et al., 2018; Irvine et al., 2015) satisfied all the checklist items and provided all the information within the primary paper. One other trial (Toelle et al., 2019) also provided all the required information within the primary paper but also provided supplementary material for five of the checklist items (4 - What, 5 - Who, 6 - How, 7 - Where, 8 – When and how much). Three trials (Mbada et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2019) all lacked some detail in their reporting of the intervention, ranging from one to four items. One trial (Yang et al., 2019) lacked sufficient detail for two checklist items (4 - Who, 5 – How). One trial (Mbada et al., 2017) lacked sufficient detail for two checklist items (5 – Who, 8 – When and how much) and did not report on two other items (10 – Modifications, 12 – How well: actual), item 10 was not applicable. One trial (Priebe et al., 2020) did not report on one checklist item (10 – Modifications) as it was not applicable.

Table S2. 1.

	Chhabra	Invine at	Mbada	Dricho	Taalla	Vana at
	Chhabra	Irvine et		Priebe	Toelle	Yang et
	et al.	al.	et al.	et al.	et al.	al.
	(2018)	(2015)	(2017)	(2020)	(2019)	(2019)
1. Brief Name	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
2. Why	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
3. What – Materials	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
4. What – Procedures	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
5. Who Provided	Yes	Yes	?	Yes	Yes	?
6. How	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	?
7. Where	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
8. When and How Much	Yes	Yes	?	Yes	Yes	Yes
9. Tailoring	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
10. Modifications	Yes	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes	Yes
11. How Well – Planned	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
12. How well – Actual	Yes	Yes	N/A	Yes	Yes	Yes

Note. ? = if information about the element is not reported/not sufficiently reported N/A = N/A if an item is not applicable for the intervention

Effects of interventions

Table 2.3 summarises the effectiveness of smartphone app interventions in the included studies.

Pain Intensity

Pain intensity was an outcome measure in all six included studies. One study reported pain as a combination of pain intensity, duration and frequency (Irvine et al., 2015) and another reported pain as that at the time of assessment, average pain, pain at its best and at its worst (Mbada et al., 2017). Three of the six included trials reported a significant reduction in pain intensity in the intervention compared with comparator groups (Table 2.3) (Irvine et al., 2015; Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019).

Function

Three included studies reported results on disability outcome measures related to function (Chhabra et al., 2018; Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019). Although Irvine et al. (2015) stated the ODI as a primary outcome in their trial registration, no results were reported for this measure. Chhabra et al. (2018) reported a significant difference between group MODI scores at baseline. After adjusting for this difference, they showed a significant reduction in disability in the intervention compared with comparator groups (Chhabra et al., 2018).

Table 2. 3.

Summary of Effectiveness of Interventions in the Included Studies

Pain Intensity	
Trial	Results
Irvine et al. (2015)	Significant between group difference in favour of
	the intervention compared with usual care
	(p=0.002 at 16-weeks)*
Mbada et al. (2017)	No significant between group difference
	(p>0.05)
Priebe et al. (2020)	Significant between group difference in favour of
	the intervention compared with control (p<0.001
Tealle et al. (2040)	at 3-months)*
Toelle et al. (2019)	Significant between group difference in favour of
V_{abs} at al. (2010)	the intervention (p=0.021 at 12-weeks)*
Yang et al. (2019)	No significant between group difference (p=0.24)
Chhabra et al. (2018)	(p−0.24) No significant between group difference
	(p=0.23)
Disability	(p 0.20)
Trial	Results
Chhabra et al. (2018)	Significant between group difference in favour of
(),	the intervention (p<0.001)*
Mbada et al. (2017)	No significant between group difference
	(p>0.05)
Yang et al. (2019)	No significant between group difference
	(p=0.16)
Pain Self-efficacy	
Trial	Results
Yang et al. (2019)	No significant between group difference
	(p=0.18)
Health Related QOL	
Trial	Results
Mbada et al. (2017)	No significant between group difference
	(p>0.05)
	↑ vitality (p=0.011)*
Yang et al. (2019)	No significant between group differences
	(p>0.05)
	↓ bodily pain (p=0.008)*
Note n=6	↑ mental health (p=0.013)*

Note. n=6

* = Significant between group difference (p \leq 0.05)

Pain self-efficacy

Pain self-efficacy was measured using the Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ)

in one trial (Yang et al., 2019) which found no significant difference between intervention

and comparator groups.

Health Related QOL

Yang et al. (2019) reported that two of the eight subsections (bodily pain and mental health) of the health related QOL measures showed significant within group improvements in post intervention results in the intervention group (Yang et al., 2019). No significant between group differences were reported (Yang et al., 2019). Mbada et al. (2017) reported that the vitality subsection showed significant between group differences at eight weeks.

Adherence

Frequency of use was recommended and recorded in all studies, however, adherence was not reported in the findings for four of the six trials. Toelle et al. (2019) and Priebe et al. (2020) were the only included studies that specifically reported findings on participant adherence. Toelle et al. (2019) reported that the intervention group used the Kaia app an average of 35 (SD=22) of the 90 days in the trial. There was no correlation between app use and change in pain intensity (p>0.05). This trial also measured adherence in the physiotherapy and online education comparator group. Participants attended 90% (mean=5.39 sessions, SD=1.22) of the six sessions, 62% of participants used the online links at six weeks and 41% at 12 weeks. The trial also reported no correlation between completed sessions and outcome measures. Priebe et al. (2020) reported that the intervention group used the Kaia app on 25 days of the 90-day trial. There was no correlation between app use and change in pain intensity (p>0.05). This trial also measured the effect of teleconsultation pain improvement and app use, and found that the effect of teleconsultation was not significant (p>0.05) when adherence was entered as a covariant, and fully mediated by app use. All app interventions aimed to increase adherence by attempting to maintain participant engagement towards home exercising. The Snapcare app collected daily activity data based on patient use (Chhabra et al., 2018). One study allowed unlimited access to the intervention (the Fitback app) but did not mention requirements for frequency of use, however, a weekly reminder was emailed to participants for the duration of the eight week trial (Irvine et al., 2015). One trial used the Pain Care app and sent participants four reminders through the app each day, to perform exercises, for the four week duration of the trial (Yang et al., 2019). One trial encouraged participants to use the Kaia app at least four times a week during the three month duration of the trial (Toelle et al., 2019), whilst the other trial that also used the Kaia app (Priebe et al., 2020) encouraged participants to use the app as frequently as possible. One trial tele-monitored adherence via phone calls and SMSs to participants to encourage app use (Mbada et al., 2017). Although four of the six studies provided participants with a recommended frequency of use (Chhabra et al., 2018; Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2019) none recommended a duration of use per session. Although, all trials recorded use data, only two (Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019) reported the results.

Discussion

Advances in technology have allowed for the capacity to use smartphones apps to deliver, monitor and manage health conditions such as LBP. This technology is increasingly available and an accepted adjunct to formal clinician-lead health management protocols. This systematic review of the literature on smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP reports on the current evidence of effectiveness and participant adherence when using smartphone apps for self-management. Only six RCTs met the inclusion criteria. More than 10 studies were excluded due to ineligible interventions, design, comparator or not in English. It is noteworthy that there were over 40 protocol papers identified in the systematic search and demonstrates that a wave of research in this area is imminent.

After systematically reviewing the literature, we have identified that the evidence for the effectiveness of smartphone apps in the self-management of LBP is limited, with methodological biases in selection, performance, detection and attrition and mixed results. None of the included studies reported blinding of health workers or study personnel, leading to high risk of potential bias. However, double blinding is not always possible in selfmanagement studies such as those included in this systematic review and will always present as an increased risk of bias in performance (Lorig, 2003). Half of the included studies did not account for all the participants at the end of the trial, leading to reduction in the confidence of the results without an intention to treat approach to the statistical analyses. Finally, we cannot be confident that the results from the two included studies which did not treat the intervention and comparator groups equally were due to the intervention alone. Whilst three studies reported significant reduction in pain intensity in the smartphone apps groups compared with control (Irvine et al., 2015; Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019), three further studies reported no difference between groups (Chhabra et al., 2018; Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019). The country of origin may have been a factor due to cultural differences impacting self-management outcomes (Abdulrehman et al., 2016; Durlak et al., 2015). The three studies that reported significant between group differences were undertaken in the USA (Irvine et al., 2015) and Germany (Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019) and the remaining three were undertaken in India (Chhabra et al., 2018), Africa (Mbada et al., 2017) and China (Yang et al., 2019). High income countries

such as Germany and the USA may have more capacity to implement health related infrastructure, compared to middle income countries such as China, India and Nigeria (World Bank Group, 2021) and allow for people to access health services and technology. Self-management has been shown to be culturally embedded (Omodara et al., 2022) and that external social-cultural factors and practices, understanding and interpretation of health management, education status and health beliefs can influence self-management behaviours and adherence to treatment recommendations (Abubakari et al., 2013). This may be as a result of cultural preferences for traditional treatment options provided in the control groups (Pillay et al., 2014), rather than new, technological options such as apps. Non-western social-cultural differences may also result in pain expression differences, as a result of stoicism in those that have historically experienced hardship seeing pain as a sign of weakness, or as a result of age and gender where older females are more likely to report pain (Pillay et al., 2014). The number of participants were also higher in the three studies undertaken in USA and Germany, allowing for increased power and greater certainty in the results. The significant results in one study (Toelle et al., 2019) for pain intensity may have been impacted by changes in the delivery of the control group treatment, from face to face manual therapy to email, at six weeks. This change may account for the significant difference between groups at 12 but not at six weeks. The factors that may have affected the results of the three trials that reported on function (disability) (Chhabra et al., 2018; Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019), include the usual care undertaken in the control group and the duration of the interventions. Unfortunately, the 12-week intervention did not record results at four or eight-weeks to allow for comparison. Interestingly, the control group in the Snapcare app study consisted of GP prescribed medication and a home exercise program (Chhabra et al., 2018), whilst the control groups in the Pain Care app and TBMT studies used a more 'hands on' approach (Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019). The GP

prescribed medication may have decreased pain intensity allowing for improved function and affected the between group findings. Pain self-efficacy was reported in only one study (Yang et al., 2019), and health related QOL was reported in two studies (Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019), all with small numbers of participants and short trial durations (Mbada et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019). None showed a significant difference between intervention and comparator groups and should be interpreted with caution.

Adherence to home exercise programs is a common challenge for people with LBP (Schaller et al., 2017). It is an important component of behaviour change and according to the Transtheoretical Model of behaviour change, it may take at least six months to change behaviour (Prochaska et al., 1992). The six included studies all had intervention lengths of less than six months (Chhabra et al., 2018; Irvine et al., 2015; Mbada et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2019). Adherence to self-management programs has frequently been reported in the literature as an essential component to improve outcomes (Ha Dinh et al., 2016; Machado et al., 2016; Moller et al., 2017). Although, one included study used gamification to provide instant gratification and maintain engagement and adherence (Chhabra et al., 2018) only two studies (Priebe et al., 2020; Toelle et al., 2019) reported on adherence as an outcome. The studies reported no correlation between app use or completed sessions and outcome measures. This is an interesting finding and should be interpreted with caution as the results are of two studies reporting on the Kaia app with relatively short intervention duration (12-weeks). Further research with intervention durations of at least six months (Prochaska et al., 1992) should be undertaken to add clarity to these results.

There was heterogeneity in content, delivery and reported outcomes among the six included studies, making comparison difficult. As a result, meta-analysis was not indicated (Higgins et al., 2019). Overall, 85% of the apps used in the six included trials are not available commercially for general consumers. The five apps used in the studies were either developed for the studies (Irvine et al., 2015), the researcher was involved in the development of the app (Chhabra et al., 2018) or the app was provided by the technology company, for the study, free of charge (Toelle et al., 2019). Only one app was commercially acquired for the study (Yang et al., 2019). Commercially available apps do not undergo the same level of quality control (Cortez et al., 2014; Machado et al., 2016) as apps developed for research. Research apps often differ from those available commercially as they are more likely to have undergone pilot testing to ensure that they align with guideline recommendations (NICE, 2016; Bernstein et al., 2017), incorporate consumer preferences (Machado et al., 2016), and evidence-based self-management features (Lorig & Holman, 2003) that have the capacity to improve outcomes. Further evaluation of commercially available apps is required to guide and instil confidence in consumers and health professionals that consumer accessible apps are reasonable quality and may lead to improved outcomes.

Strengths and limitations

This systematic review had several methodological strengths. The review was conducted according to PRISMA guidelines (Moher et al., 2009), the search strategy was peer reviewed and all included studies were appraised for risk of methodological bias. The focus was on apps for self-management which is the current gold standard for the management of LBP. There are also some limitations which must be acknowledged. The small number of studies and the heterogeneity, of apps, interventions and outcome measures, in the six included studies precluded the use of meta-analyses. To offset this, a detailed narrative comparison of the study outcomes was presented. One of the studies (Irvine et al., 2015) did not specifically outline the process of randomisation, and numerous attempts were made to contact the authors to add clarity to the process of randomisation, but no return communication was received. As it was clearly stated in the primary paper and the protocol, that a randomised controlled trial was undertaken, it was included in the review. In 2008 the Apple App store went live, followed by the Google play store later that year, when apps became available to the wider population. As a result, apps are a relatively new addition to self-management. None of the included eligible apps required direct health professional input. This eliminated the additional self-management guidance that would normally be provided by a health professional and allowed only for the self-management support provided by the app alone. As a result, the findings of this review are generalisable to the way the general population may use smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP (i.e. download the app and apply, rather than seeing a health professional). In addition, apps available for consumer download from an app store differ from those available to health professionals and that require their input.

Implications

This review provides inconclusive evidence for the use of apps for the selfmanagement of LBP. Consumer adherence data can commonly be collected via apps, allowing for potential recording of use, symptoms and exercise type. These data can allow consumers to monitor self-management progress and share data with health professionals. The use of smartphone apps for self-management is a rapidly expanding area of research as was evidenced by over 40 protocols that did not meet our inclusion criteria. This evidence will grow rapidly and an update of this review will be warranted. High quality, longer duration and larger-scale RCTs incorporating consumer and health professional preferences, are necessary for future evaluation of commercially available smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP, as well as systematic assessment of the quality of commercially available smartphone apps for the general population.

Chapter Three – Study 2

Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic assessment.

This chapter answers the aim "to systematically assess the availability, content, and quality of commercially available, self-contained smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP in adults, and to explore associations between quality, in-app user ratings and cost". This chapter describes a systematic app assessment that was completed to determine the availability, content, and quality of commercially available apps for the self-management of LBP, to gain a better understanding of the included features in commercially available apps that may benefit LBP outcomes. As concluded in the systematic review (study 1, chapter 2) smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP provide more effective reduction in pain and disability than usual care or minimal interventions, however, the evidence is inconclusive due to limited and heterogenous research, making it difficult to make comparisons. Additionally, apps available in research settings are often not the same as those available commercially, and in this research, none of the apps were available commercially in this region for general consumers, which made it difficult to transfer this knowledge to practice.

Statement of co-authorship:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the review. Claudia Didyk and Belinda Lange conducted the systematic app search, Claudia Didyk and Belinda Lange conducted the data analysis, and Claudia Didyk completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript. See Appendix 1 for the signed co-authorship approval form. No conflict of interest was reported by the authors and funding for app purchases was provided by the Flinders University Research Student Maintenance (RSM) support.

This manuscript has been published by Taylor & Francis in Disability and Rehabilitation, a quartile one journal, on 06/10/2021. This publication has been cited three times, and has an Altmetric score of 7, being in the top 25% of all outputs scored by Altmetric (19/07/2023). The manuscript has been formatted for consistency with this thesis. The final published version of the manuscript is available via the following reference:

Didyk, C., Lewis, L. K., & Lange, B. (2022). Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic assessment. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 44*(24), 7600–7609. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1979664

Abstract

Purpose: Explore smartphone apps that may be recommended by clinicians for the selfmanagement of low back pain.

Methods: Prospectively registered systematic assessment of self-contained apps for selfmanagement of low back pain on the Google Play and Apple App stores (Oceania), including ≥1 NICE low back pain and sciatica clinical guideline recommended component and functioning without health professional input. Outcomes were quality (Mobile App Rating Scale; MARS), and self-management (Self-Management Support Checklist; SMS-14) and behaviour change potential (App Behaviour Change Scale; ABACUS).

Results: 25 apps were included. The average quality of included apps was acceptable (Mean MARS score of 3.9 out of a maximum possible 5). The self-management support and behaviour change potential of included apps appeared low (mean SMS-14 score was 3.4/14; mean ABACUS score was 5.4/21). The apps showed no significant correlation between app consumer ratings and MARS score. App quality was significantly correlated with app price (p=0.049) but not consumer ratings, however, these findings were based on a small number of studies and the overall model was not significant.

Conclusions: Smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain are of average to good quality, with questionable potential for self-management and behaviour change. Clinicians should consider that few apps were designed to specifically incorporate self-management support and behaviour change potential when recommending apps to clients. Further development in these areas of app design would be of benefit.

Keywords: smartphone apps; low back pain; self-management; behaviour change; systematic assessment

Introduction

Digital health technologies have developed and grown in popularity in the last 20 years to become essential in addressing many public health problems (El Benny et al., 2021). Efficacy for the use of digital health interventions has been shown in chronic disease management, such as chronic pulmonary disease and heart failure, glycemic control in diabetes, BP in hypertensive patients and improving adherence to tuberculosis and HIV treatments (Marcolino et al., 2018). The use of technology to deliver health interventions is rapidly increasing, particularly with the growth of telehealth and digital public health services during the current Covid-19 pandemic (Windisch et al., 2020). Technology such as smartphones, and the apps available through them, have the potential to deliver and facilitate large-scale health interventions and/or messaging (lyengar et al., 2020; Whitelaw et al., 2020). Most people in developed countries have smartphones, with 3.8 billion people estimated to have a device this year (Statista, 2020). With the accessibility of smartphones and apps, simple messaging regarding lifestyle behaviours can be disseminated effectively to the general population (Lee et al., 2018). Examples include app-based interventions to promote healthy diet, physical activity and general lifestyle improvements (Lee et al., 2018). E- and m-health interventions also have immense potential in low- and middle-income countries with poor access to health resources, with digital health technology use enabling access to health provision without infrastructure (Lee et al., 2018). Smartphones are easily accessible and can be a cost-effective option for health monitoring and advice, particularly for those who are time poor, have financial constraints, transport difficulties or live in rural areas with poor access to health care (Stec et al., 2019). Smartphone apps also have the capacity to be an adjunct to face to face management (Wang et al., 2018) particularly for prevalent conditions such as LBP.

Low back pain is the leading cause of disability worldwide and a global public health and economic concern (Vos et al., 2017). The economic burden of LBP is estimated to be in the billions of dollars (AUD) per year (AIHW, 2019c; AOV, 2013), including the financial implications of public health programs, productivity loss, loss of taxation and superannuation revenue (AOV, 2013). The human costs of LBP including pain, disability (AIHW, 2019d), hospitalisations and psychological distress are also significant and impact work participation (Du et al., 2019). There is a need for low cost, easily accessible, reliable, tailored interventions that can address health inequities by enabling the immediate delivery of high level public health services to address the economic and personal costs of LBP (Grady et al., 2018). This is of particular importance to communities lacking access to conventional forms of healthcare to manage LBP for reasons of affordability or inaccessibility (Grady et al., 2018). The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence LBP guidelines recommend self-management and exercise as the gold standard in noninvasive LBP management (NICE, 2016). Self-management is multifaceted and incorporates patient involvement in the decision making and all steps of the treatment pathway (Lorig & Holman, 2003). It involves a person taking responsibility for their wellbeing by undertaking healthy behaviours and managing the daily symptoms and general physical and emotional requirements of their condition (Dwarswaard & van de Bovenkamp, 2015; Machado et al., 2016). Considerable research has been undertaken into LBP and the use of self-management interventions (Du et al., 2017; Elbers et al., 2018). Selfmanagement interventions should provide information on the nature of LBP, encouragement to continue with normal activities and tailored advice to guide selfmanagement through all stages of the condition (NICE, 2016). Recent research has shown

that smartphone apps can improve patient outcomes for people with LBP (Thurnheer et al., 2018) including disability (Shebib et al., 2019) and pain (Cavanagh et al., 2019).

The rapid rate that health and wellbeing apps are developed makes it difficult to monitor and effectively regulate content quality (Kasperbauer & Wright, 2020). Apps for LBP self-management have potential to support individuals with LBP, however, these apps are not regulated and the accuracy of the content and the provision of evidence-based advice is not guaranteed (Kasperbauer & Wright, 2020). Software based medical devices that fit the definition for medical devices are required to be registered and regulated by a government regulatory body such as the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) in Australia (Australian Government Federal Register of Legislation, 2021). While several EU countries have installed national regulation and certification systems in an attempt to control the health app market (Digital health, 2021), the majority of app content is currently not registered or controlled globally. A systematic review of smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of LBP in 2016 found that although most of the eligible apps included guideline recommended interventions, the overall quality of the apps was low (Machado et al., 2016). With the rapid increase in availability of apps for LBP, there is a clear need to update the evidence on LBP self-management apps aligned with current guidelines. The aim of this study was to systematically assess the availability, content, and quality of commercially available, self-contained smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP in adults, and to explore associations between quality, in-app user ratings and cost.

Methods

The systematic assessment protocol was prospectively registered (Open Science Framework: DOI: 10.17605/OSF.IO/D3UQX). Wherever possible, principles from the PRISMA guidelines were followed (Moher et al., 2009).

Search

In November 2020, a systematic search of the Google Play and Apple App stores was undertaken using three terms ('low back pain', 'back pain', 'lumbago'). These terms were used in previous research (Coe-O'Brien et al., 2020; Machado et al., 2016) and recommended by the Cochrane Back and Neck Group (Furlan et al., 2015).

Procedure

Commercially available smartphone apps were systematically identified by name and app description and assessed for eligibility based on predetermined criteria by two independent reviewers (CD and BL). Eligible apps were downloaded on either an Apple or Android device (iPAD Air 3 iOS® 14.4 or Galaxy Tablet Android 10). If multiple versions of the app were available for download (free/paid, lite/pro), then the paid and pro versions were downloaded. A full review and quality assessment of eligible apps was undertaken by two independent reviewers (CD and BL). All the functions of the downloaded apps were used for at least 10 minutes (Stoyanov et al., 2015) and scored independently. Prior to scoring, both reviewers undertook web-based scoring training (Stoyanov, 2016).

Differences of opinions regarding app eligibility and quality were discussed until consensus was reached. Inter-rater reliability was calculated between raters for all instrument scores.

Eligibility criteria

The following inclusion criteria were applied:

Free and paid self-contained apps without the need for external devices or add-ons aimed at self-management of LBP in the Apple App store and Google play store (available in English and in the Oceania region). Apps needed to contain at least one NICE guideline recommended self-management component of active rehabilitation, exercise, psychological therapies and/or return to work facilitation. Apps that included advice and education consistent with the first recommendation in the NICE guidelines ("Provide people with advice and information, tailored to their needs and capabilities, to help them self-manage their low back pain with or without sciatica, at all steps of the treatment pathway. Include: information on the nature of low back pain and sciatica; encouragement to continue with normal activities.") (NICE, 2016) were included if the advice or education pertained to any of the recommended components. Self-management is defined as actively participating in one treatment such as following a treatment plan, maintain activity levels and seeking counselling (Dwarswaard & van de Bovenkamp, 2015).

Self-management advice should encourage active rehabilitation such as group exercise or biomechanical (Pilates, McKenzie exercises, range of motion, strengthening, stretching or motor control exercises), aerobic (increase cardiovascular endurance and fitness such as running or walking), mind-body (Yoga, Tai chi and mindfulness) or combination exercise options (combination of the previous exercise categories). The NICE guideline recommended physical activity interventions have been classified previously (Machado et al., 2016), and we have used the same classifications for this study (Machado et al., 2016). Self-management advice should also encourage psychological therapies using a cognitive behavioural approach (preferably in a group context but taking into consideration a person's specific needs) but only in combination with exercise and/or manual therapy. Return to work and normal activities should also be encouraged.

Apps were excluded if they focused on prevention, diagnostic tests, offered treatments for pregnancy-related LBP or were aimed at identifying risk factors, were not interventional or solely focused on pain monitoring or geared towards advertising specific products or health centres (Machado et al., 2016). Apps were also excluded if they provided only general information such as anatomy or risk factors or did not provide specific information on the nature of LBP and self-management advice or management plan to follow. Apps were also excluded if they did not contain features that allowed consumers to tailor or customise the LBP management options provided within the app to their specific needs (as recommended by the NICE guideline), such as duration, exercise choice, difficulty level, and frequency of use.

Where eligible apps were available on both platforms only one version of the app was downloaded for final analysis (on iOS®). iOS® was chosen due to their rigorous publishing guidelines (Developer Apple App store, 2021).
Outcomes

App quality

The quality of the apps was assessed with the 23-item Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS) (Stoyanov et al., 2015). Each MARS item was scored using a five-point scale (1inadequate, 2-poor, 3-acceptable, 4-good, 5-excellent with an option for not applicable). The MARS is a reliable tool (Stoyanov et al., 2015) with four categories including engagement, functionality, aesthetics and information. An overall app subjective quality scale is also calculated.

App potential for developing self-management

All included apps were addressed for their potential for developing self-management with the Self-management Support Checklist (SMS-14).

The SMS-14 was developed from the Stanford Self-management Support Model (Devan et al., 2019), a 14-item checklist to evaluate app content potential for developing self-management (Devan et al., 2019). The SMS-14 has six core self-management skills categories including: (1) self-efficacy building (with seven subsections: pain education, activity pacing, thought and behavioural management, exercises - biomechanical or aerobic, relaxation, meditation and mindfulness and distraction techniques), (2) self-tailoring, (3) self-monitoring of symptoms, (4) goal setting and planning, (5) problem solving, and (6) partnership between views of patient and clinicians. The checklist also has, two 'functions' categories (social support and cultural relevance). One point (possible score 0-14) was scored for each of the features present in the app.

The behaviour change potential of the included apps was assessed using the reliable (McKay et al., 2019) 21-item App Behaviour Change Scale (ABACUS).

The scale has four broad categories including: knowledge and information, goals and planning, feedback and monitoring, and actions. One point (possible score 0-21) was scored for each of the features present in the app.

Data extraction and synthesis

The app characteristics metadata were extracted, by both reviewers independently, from the relevant store and entered into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet under the headings of App name, developer, version, update date, cost, presence of in-app purchases and platform availability, consumer rating (where available) and type of intervention (Machado et al., 2016). Results from the MARS, SMS-14 and ABACUS tools were inputted.

Descriptive statistics were completed for all variables as appropriate (means, standard deviations [SD], medians, ranges). MARS total score, SMS-14 and ABACUS scores were used to determine the best performing app. Inter-rater reliability was assessed using a two-way random effects intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC_{2,1}) with a 95% confidence interval using Statistical Package for Social Science (IBM SPSS) version 27 for Windows. An ICC value greater than 0.8 was considered good reliability between scorers and greater than 0.9 was considered excellent.

Multivariate regression was undertaken to explore associations between app quality, in-app rating and price. The dependent variable was app quality (mean MARS total score) and the independent variables were price and consumer ratings. This analysis could only be undertaken on those apps with the cost associated. Some apps provided a free to trial of less than one month duration and then required a fee or monthly fee to continue use or access necessary features. The monthly fee was considered the cost to access the app for one month, regardless of the free trial, as it was required to access the app for the remainder of the month. The cost to access the app for one month was calculated to allow for free trial apps to be included in the analysis. Alpha was set at 0.05.

Results

App selection

The systematic search yielded 951 apps (n=203 Apple App store; n=748 Google Play store, Figure 3.1). After the removal of 404 duplicates, 547 apps were screened by name and app description. Five apps had download issues - app developers were messaged either directly or through app reviews. As no response was received from the developers the apps were removed. No apps were excluded due to date of update as it was agreed that if the app was eligible, downloadable and functional then it could be included. Twenty-five apps (13 Android, nine iOS® and three available on both platforms) met the eligibility criteria and were included.

Figure 3.1.

App Selection Flow Diagram



Description of included apps

Twenty-five apps were eligible for inclusion (Table 3.1), three (12%) were available in both the Apple App and Google Play stores, nine (36%) were from the Apple App store and 13 (52%) were from the Google Play store. Seventeen apps were free, six were free trial (from \$0.99 to \$14.99 per month) and two were paid (from \$4.99 (for one week)-\$17.99). Only nine of the eligible apps included consumer ratings. The median consumer rating for the nine apps was 4.4 (out of a maximum possible 5) and the number of ratings ranged from one (Lower Back Yoga – Floor Class) to 1000 (Exercise for Back, Neck and Posture – MoovBuddy). App interventions included either education and advice, or exercise (biomechanical, mind-body or a combination).

Table 3. 1.

Summary of Included Apps

App name (Version)	Developer	Platform	Cost	User rating this version (n)	Users rating this version (n)	Intervention Type
Injurymap - Effective exercise therapy (V1.6.73)	Injurymap ApS	iOS®/And roid	Free trial then \$14.99 per month, \$66.99 for 12 months	2.5	2	Biomechanical
TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio (V1.11.0)	Active Health Tech Ltd	iOS®	Free trial then pay for use \$8.49 monthly, \$66.99 annual	5	6	Biomechanical
The Truth About Low Back Pain (*)	Clinically Relevant Technologies	iOS®	Free	N/A	N/A	Education, advice
Pocket Spine Doc (V1.0.16)	Zebitz Solutions SND.BHD	iOS®/And roid	Free but then \$7.99 for exercises (prevention exercises - for life, personalised exercises for 90 days)	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical
Exercises for Back, Neck and Posture – MoovBuddy (V2.1.13)	MoovBuddy	Android	Free trial then \$14.90 per month, \$89.90 for 12 months and \$56.90 for 6 months	4.2	1K	Biomechanical
SelfBack – Guest (*)	Trade eXpansion	iOS®	Free	N/A	N/A	Education, advice
The Back Pain App (V1.0)	The Foundation PTS	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical

App name (Version)	Developer	Platform	Cost	User rating this version (n)	Users rating this version (n)	Intervention Type
BackTrainerHD	Hanno Welsch	iOS®	\$17.99	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical
(V2.0) Regimen - Back Pain Relief (V1.02)	Oyebimpe Oguntola	iOS®	Free	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical
Lower Back Pain and Sciatica Relief Exercises (V4.2.4)	App4Life dev	Android	Free	4.2	90	Biomechanical
Symmetry Exercise for Lower Back Pain (V1.2)	Right-be Inc	iOS®	Free but app description states that is on sale from \$3.99 down to \$0.99	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical
Lower Back Yoga - Floor Class (V2.5.0)	Centre de Yoga	iOS®	Free to download but requires subscription for more exercises or	5	1	Mind-body
Bella's Lower Back Pain App (V1.3)	PM Health	iOS®/And roid	classes \$2.99 \$4.49 weekly, \$14.49 monthly, \$41.99 yearly	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical
My Back Injury (V1.3)	Regen Health Technology Pty Ltd	iOS®	Free	5	2	Biomechanical
NHS 24 MSK help	NHS 24	iOS®	Free	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical
(V2.1.0) Back Pain Relief in 7 Days - Yoga, Exercise & Diet (V3.6)	Dr. Zio - Yoga Teacher	Android	Free	4.9	573	Mind-body
Back Pain - causes, symptoms, treatments (V1.0.0)	Cursed Apps	Android	Free	4.6	14	Education, advice
Yoga Poses for Lower Back Pain Relief (V2.2)	Gonga dev	Android	Free	4.2	369	Mind-body
Back Pain Relief (V1.0)	Pro Learning	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Education, advice
BACK PAIN EXERCISES (V1.0)	Apps Supportive Apps	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Biomechanical
Lower Back Pain Treatment - Tips and Knowledge (V1.1)	Vission Assist	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Education, advice
BACK PAIN CAUSES &	salim garba usman	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Education, advice

App name (Version)	Developer	Platform	Cost	User rating this version (n)	Users rating this version (n)	Intervention Type
TREATMENT (V1.0)						
Lower Back Pain (V1.0)	TeckGeek	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Combination Exercise
Sciatica Treatment	PassionSoft	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Combination Exercise
(V5.0.0) Home Remedies For Sciatic Nerve Pain (V1.0)	RK Unit	Android	Free	N/A	N/A	Education, advice

ihł N/A - Not Available

Seven apps (28%) provided education on the nature of LBP and management advice (5 Android, 2 iOS®). Thirteen apps (52%) provided biomechanical exercises as the intervention (3 available on both platforms, 6 available on iOS® and 4 on Android). None of the included apps provided solely aerobic exercise interventions. Three (12%) provided mind-body exercise (2 Android, 1 iOS®) and two Android apps (8%) provided a combination of exercise interventions.

App Quality

The mean MARS total score (Table 3.2) for the 25 apps was 3.86. Across the included apps, the engagement category scored the lowest (mean 3.22), and the functionality category the highest (mean 4.67). Most apps performed well, were easy to use and navigate and with intuitive gestural design features. The mean score for aesthetics was 3.93. The mean MARS total score for information was 3.63. In the information category (item 19), only one app (SelfBack) was found to be published in the scientific literature. However, evaluation was undertaken on the guest version of the SelfBack app which is

freely available to consumers. This version does not provide the monitoring and feedback that would be available to users of the RCT version used for research. Nine apps scored a three (acceptable) or above on item 18 for developer credibility. However, only three of the 25 apps scored below a three (acceptable) for the quality of information provided (item 15). The inter-rater reliability was excellent for the MARS total score (ICC 0.95) and ranged from good to excellent for the sub-sections (ICC 0.86 to 1.00).

Associations between in-app rating, price and quality

Nine of the 25 eligible included apps provided both consumer ratings and a cost for download and were therefore included in the multiple regression analysis. In-app consumer rating was not a significant predictor of mean MARS total score (app quality) (p=0.965). The cost to access the app for one month was calculated to allow for free trial apps, allowing for four (44%) paid apps to be included in the analysis. App price ranged from \$2.99 to \$14.99 for one month's access and is a significant predictor of mean MARS total score (p=0.049). There was a significant correlation between app price and MARS score and together accounted for 60% of the variance in MARS score. However, the overall regression model was not significant F(2,6) = 4.584, R² (9) = 0.604, p = 0.062.

Table 3. 2.

App name	MARS Engagement mean score	MARS Functionality mean score	MARS Aesthetics mean score	MARS Information mean score	MARS App quality mean score
TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio	5.0	5.0	4.7	4.8	4.9
Injurymap - Effective exercise therapy	5.0	4.8	5.0	4.3	4.8
The Truth About Low Back Pain	3.4	5.0	5.0	4.3	4.4
Pocket Spine Doc	3.8	4.8	4.7	4.0	4.3
Exercises for Back, Neck and Posture - MoovBuddy	4.0	4.5	4.7	3.7	4.2

The Mobile Application Rating Scale (MARS) Quality Mean^a Scores

SelfBack	2.4	5.0	4.7	4.1	4.1
The Back Pain App	3.0	5.0	4.0	4.2	4.1
BackTrainerHD	3.2	5.0	4.3	3.7	4.1
Regimen - Back Pain Relief	4.0	4.5	4.0	3.7	4.0
Lower Back Pain and Sciatica Relief Exercises	2.8	5.0	4.3	4.0	4.0
Lower Back Yoga - Floor Class	3.6	4.8	4.0	3.7	4.0
Back Pain - causes, symptoms, treatments	2.8	4.8	4.0	3.8	3.8
Bella's Lower Back Pain App	3.2	4.8	3.7	3.7	3.8
BACK PAIN CAUSES & TREATMENT	2.4	5.0	4.0	3.8	3.8
NHS 24 MSK help	3.0	4.5	3.7	4.0	3.8
My Back Injury	3.6	4.0	3.3	3.7	3.7
Lower Back Pain Treatment - Tips and Knowledge	2.6	5.0	3.7	3.3	3.7
Yoga Poses for Lower Back Pain Relief	4.0	4.0	3.7	2.8	3.6
Lower Back Pain	2.4	5.0	3.7	3.4	3.6
Symmetry Exercise for Low Back Pain	3.2	4.3	3.3	3.2	3.5
Back Pain Relief in 7 Days - Yoga, Exercise & Diet	3.6	4.3	2.7	3.3	3.5
BACK PAIN EXERCISES	2.8	4.5	3.0	3.5	3.5
Sciatica Treatment	2.4	4.3	3.7	3.2	3.4
Home Remedies For Sciatic Nerve Pain	2.6	4.3	3.3	2.8	3.3
Back Pain Relief	1.8	5.0	3.3	1.7	3.0
Range all apps	1.8-5.0	4.0-5.0	2.7-5.0	1.7-4.8	3.0-4.9
Mean (SD) all apps	3.2 (0.8)	4.7 (0.3)	3.9 (0.6)	3.6 (0.6)	3.9 (0.5)
Note 2 Maan accurate itema and no					

Note. ^a Mean scores - items are rated on a 5-point scale (1=Inadequate to 5=Excellent).

App potential for developing self-management

The mean SMS-14 total score (Supplementary materials Table S3.1) for all included apps was 3.44 (SD=1.61), with a range of one to eight. Across all included apps, the subsection of "exercises" in the self-efficacy building section was most prevalent, with 20 apps providing information on biomechanical or aerobic exercise self-management. None of the included apps rated in the "social support" and "cultural relevance" sub-sections.

The inter-rater reliability for the total SMS-14 score was excellent (ICC 0.96) and ranged from good to excellent for the subsections (ICC 0.87 to 1.00).

App behaviour change potential

The mean ABACUS total score (Supplementary materials Table 3.2) for all included apps was 5.40 (SD=3.61), with a range of one to 14. Although many apps provided access to social media platforms, this section was scored as a 'no' unless it allowed for sharing of behaviours and social comparison and not simply access to informational updates. The sections on instructions for behaviour (ABACUS item 1.4) and encouragement of practice or rehearsal (4.3) were rated in over 75% of included apps. However, the sections on willingness for behaviour change (2.1), sharing behaviours with others (3.3), ability to export data (3.5) and rewards or incentives (3.6) were not rated in any of the included apps and indicates a need for further work by developers in these areas. Inter-rater reliability was excellent for the total ABACUS score (ICC 1.00) and ranged from good to excellent for the subsections (ICC 0.88 to 1.00).

Table S3. 1.

Self-management Support (SMS-14) Checklist Scores

App name						Cor	e self	-mana	igemei	nt skill	s				
					Self-e	fficacy			•			F	unctio	ns	
	PE ^a	AP ^b	TB℃	Ed	R/B ^e	M/M ^f	Da	ST ^h	SMi	GS ^j	PS ^k	PV	SS ^m	CR ⁿ	Total(14)
TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio	Y	Y	-	Y	-	Y	-	Y	Y	Y	-	Y	-	-	8
NHS 24 MSK help	Y	Y	Y	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	Y	-	-	-	6
SelfBack - Guest	Y	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	6
Injurymap - Effective exercise therapy	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	5
BACK PAIN CAUSES & TREATMENT	Y	-	-	Y	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	4
Back Pain Relief in 7 Days - Yoga, Exercise & Diet	-	-	Y	-	-	Y	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	4
Exercises for Back, Neck and Posture - MoovBuddy	-	Y	-	Y	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	4
Lower Back Pain Treatment - Tips and Knowledge	Y	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	4
Sciatica Treatment	Y	-	-	Y	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	4
The Back Pain App	Y	-	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	4
Yoga Poses for Lower Back Pain Relief	-	-	-	-	Y	Y	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	4
Back Pain - causes, symptoms, treatments	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
BACK PAIN EXERCISES	Y	-	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
Lower Back Pain	Y	-	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
Lower Back Pain and Sciatica Relief Exercises	-	-	-	Y	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
Pocket Spine Doc	Y	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
Regimen - Back Pain Relief	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	3
The Truth About Low Back Pain	Y	-	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
Back Pain Relief	Y	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
Bella's Lower Back Pain App	-	-	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
Lower Back Yoga - Floor Class	-	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
My Back Injury	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
Symmetry Exercise for Lower Back Pain	-	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
BackTrainerHD	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
Home Remedies For Sciatic Nerve Pain	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
Total score per category	14	10	3	20	2	8	1	16	5	3	2	2	0	0	

Note. aPE: pain education; bAP: activity pacing; cTB: thoughts and behavioural management; dE: exercises (biomechanical/aerobic); eR/B: relaxation/breathing; fM/M: meditation/mindfulness; gD: distraction techniques; hST: self-tailoring; iSM: self-monitoring of symptoms; jGS: goal setting and planning; kPS: problem solving; iPV: partnership between views of patient and clinicians; mSS: social support; nCR: cultural relevance

Table S3. 2.

App Behavior Change Scale (ABACUS) Scores

Scale:															Ap	os										
item number and question	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1 3	1 4	1 5	1 6	1 7	1 8	1 9	2 0	2 1	2 2	2 3	2 4	2 5	Total subsectior scores
1. Knowled	dge	an	d iı	nfo	rma	atio	n																			
1.1	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	13
1.2	Y	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	17
1.3	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	Υ	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6
1.4	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Y	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	Υ	Υ	-	20
1.5	Y	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	10
2. Goals ar	nd j	ola	nni	ng																						
2.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0
2.2	-	-	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
2.3	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5
3. Feedbac	:k a	nd	mo	onit	oriı	ng																				
3.1	-	Y	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
3.2	-	Υ	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6
3.3	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0
3.4	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5
3.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0
3.6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0
3.7	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
4. Actions																										
4.1	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	8
4.2	Y	Y	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	Y	Υ	-	Υ	-	Υ	Y	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	10
4.3	-	Y	Υ	Υ	Y	Y	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Y	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	Υ	Υ	-	19
4.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
4.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	-	5
4.6	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
Total (21)	4	1 0	1 4	1 3	6	3	6	3	5	9	8	2	3	4	7	1 1	1	6	3	3	3	2	4	4	1	

Note. Y = Yes and scored as 1

Apps:

The Truth About Low Back Pain; 2.Regimen - Back Pain Relief; 3.TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio;
Injurymap - Effective exercise therapy; 5.Pocket Spine Doc; 6.BackTrainerHD; 7.SelfBack - Guest; 8.Lower Back Pain and Sciatica Relief Exercises; 9.The Back Pain App; 10.Exercises for Back, Neck and Posture - MoovBuddy; 11.Symmetry Exercise for Lower Back Pain; 12.Lower Back Yoga - Floor Class; 13.Bella's Lower Back Pain App; 14.My Back Injury; 15.NHS 24 MSK help; 16.Back Pain Relief in 7 Days - Yoga, Exercise & Diet; 17.Back Pain - causes, symptoms, treatments; 18.Yoga Poses for Lower Back Pain Relief; 19.Back Pain Relief; 20.BACK PAIN EXERCISES; 21.Lower Back Pain Treatment - Tips and Knowledge; 22.BACK PAIN CAUSES & TREATMENT; 23.Lower Back Pain; 24.Sciatica Treatment; 25.Home Remedies For Sciatic Nerve Pain

Highest rating apps

The overall highest rated app for quality, self-management and behaviour change potential was the TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio app with a mean MARS score of 4.87, an SMS-14 score of eight out of 14 and an ABACUS score of 14 out of 21. The TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio app has many features and the capacity for customisation. Although it is not specifically a LBP app, it has the capacity to be customised for LBP by the personal information entered and body area chosen. The app contained detailed information, which can be selected by the user, with external links to full journal articles and also contains personalised information videos. The app has excellent graphics, a chat function and the ability to connect to health professionals online or in the user's area via the app, but this is not necessary for the app to function. Users can track progress, log steps if connected to Apple Health, set reminders, give program tips and set goals. The app also explains why exercises are helpful and links to full text articles for evidence. TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio also provides users with motivational quotes and also sends users motivational emails (Table 3.3).

Table 3. 3.

MARS, SMS-14 and ABACUS Total Scores

App name - Version	MARS App quality mean score	SMS-14	ABACUS
TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio - (V1.11.0)	4.9	8.0	14.0
Injurymap - Effective exercise therapy - (V1.6.73)	4.8	5.0	13.0
The Truth About Low Back Pain	4.4	3.0	4.0
Pocket Spine Doc - (V1.0.16)	4.3	3.0	6.0
Exercises for Back, Neck and Posture - MoovBuddy - (V2.1.13)	4.2	4.0	9.0
SelfBack - Guest	4.1	4.0	6.0
The Back Pain App - (V1.0)	4.1	4.0	5.0
BackTrainerHD - (V2.0)	4.1	1.0	3.0
Regimen - Back Pain Relief - (V1.02)	4.0	3.0	10.0
Lower Back Pain and Sciatica Relief Exercises - (V4.2.4)	4.0	3.0	3.0
Lower Back Yoga - Floor Class - (V2.5.0)	4.0	2.0	2.0
Back Pain - causes, symptoms, treatments - (V1.0.0)	3.8	3.0	1.0
Bella's Lower Back Pain App - (V1.3)	3.8	2.0	3.0
BACK PAIN CAUSES & TREATMENT - (V1.0)	3.8	4.0	2.0
NHS 24 MSK help - (V2.1.0)	3.8	6.0	7.0
My Back Injury - (V1.3)	3.7	2.0	4.0
Lower Back Pain Treatment - Tips and Knowledge - (V1.1)	3.7	4.0	3.0
Yoga Poses for Lower Back Pain Relief - (V2.2)	3.6	4.0	6.0
Lower Back Pain - (V1.0)	3.6	3.0	4.0
Symmetry Exercise for Low Back Pain - (V1.2)	3.5	2.0	8.0
Back Pain Relief in 7 Days - Yoga, Exercise & Diet - (V3.6)	3.5	4.0	11.0
BACK PAIN EXERCISES - (V1.0)	3.5	3.0	3.0
Sciatica Treatment - (V5.0.0)	3.4	4.0	4.0
Home Remedies For Sciatic Nerve Pain - (V1.0)	3.3	1.0	1.0
Back Pain Relief - (V1.0)	3.0	2.0	3.0
Range all apps	3.0-4.9	1.0-8.0	1.0-14.0
Mean (SD) all apps	3.9 (0.5)	3.4 (1.6)	5.4 (3.6)

Discussion

This systematic assessment found that smartphone apps for the self-management of

LBP that function with or without health professional input were numerous, of average to

good quality, with poor engagement ratings and marginal levels of self-management and

behaviour change support. There was variability in the types of apps identified in this systematic assessment. All included apps contained at least one of the NICE guideline for LBP components and this was mostly the provision of biomechanical exercises. There was a similar number of included apps available on Apple and Android and most of the apps were free to download or trial. Many of the apps were not developed by individuals with a clear health related background. At times the language and grammar were of poor-quality, making comprehension of the information provided difficult. Only seven of the apps had been updated in the previous six months. Most of the apps (80%) recommended biomechanical/aerobic exercises. This may have been due to biomechanical and aerobic exercises being the first exercise recommendations in the NICE guidelines (NICE, 2016), have been researched extensively and provide additional health benefits (Shiri et al., 2018).

The apps were of variable quality, ranging from acceptable (MARS score 3) to good (4) (Machado et al., 2016; Stoyanov et al., 2015). The lowest rating MARS domain was engagement, and demonstrates the lack of features in apps aimed at improving engagement with the lowest scores in customisation settings and interactivity. This has also been reported in previous research (Machado et al., 2016; Mauch et al., 2018) and is concerning as it can impact long-term adherence. The highest rating MARS domain was for functionality and confirms that many of the apps functioned well and were easy and logical to learn. However, as was reported in previous research (Machado et al., 2018), it was difficult to score this domain below a three if the app functioned and was not highly nonintuitive. The aesthetics domain required some discussion to reach consensus as there was a level of subjectivity to what one reviewer considered appealing compared to the other despite both reviewers undergoing online scoring training.

There is a clear need for higher quality apps that have been evaluated and are from reliable sources. Only one of the apps, the SelfBack app, had been trialled and evaluated in randomised controlled trials. The credibility of the developer was just acceptable (MARS score 3) (Machado et al., 2016; Stoyanov et al., 2015) for about a third of the apps. App consumer ratings were variable and were not correlated with app quality, which supports findings in previous research (Machado et al., 2016). Therefore, consumer ratings may not be an appropriate indicator of app quality. This assessment also found a correlation between price and app quality as was found by Machado and colleagues (Machado et al., 2016) and shows that higher cost apps are likely to be better quality. It could be hypothesised that apps that cost more may have higher development costs, possibly associated with more time used to research content and develop higher quality internal software architecture. High internal quality enables programmers to more easily fix defects, add new features and allows for a better consumer experience of external app features.

The apps had a variable number of self-management support components. The highest rating app for self-management support only scored just over half (eight) for the SMS-14. The highest rating SMS-14 subsection was "Exercises (biomechanical/aerobic)" in the self-efficacy building section, with most apps (80%) providing information on biomechanical/aerobic exercises. The low self-management support scores demonstrate that apps may not be developed with self-management support in mind. To be included in the review, apps were required to have a LBP self-management aim and include at least one NICE guideline for LBP recommended self-management component. While it is possible that included apps may have performed differently against alternate criteria, the focus of this review was on the self-management of LBP, and the results suggest that there is great potential to improve app content in this area. The lowest rating subsections were

"social support" and "cultural relevance" in the functions section, with scores of zero. Although many apps provided access to social media platforms, the "social support" section was scored as a 'no' unless it provided the support options listed and not simply access to informational updates. However, sharing health information online requires that this information be held securely, similar to that of national electronic health records throughout the world (World Health Organisation [WHO], 2021). This may pose a privacy security dilemma for app developers with potential ransomware attacks as occurred with Garmin in July 2020 (BBC News, 2020). As such joining online app communities would be required to be voluntary, with customised privacy features, the information provided willingly and with the knowledge that it is freely available to other members of that online community, much like the very popular online community for the STRAVA app (STRAVA, 2021). Additionally, although all included apps were able to be used by all English language speakers, the "cultural relevance" section was scored as a 'no' if the app did not specifically offer culturally tailored information for different ethnicities, religions, socioeconomic status, disability or sexual orientation. This may be as a result of included apps being in English. It may also be unreasonable to expect this level of customisation and information from LBP selfmanagement apps. Cultural adaptations may be of little relevance in LBP and as such not routinely included as they perhaps would be for other areas such as sexual health and advice. None of the apps had an app function that allowed for access to an app community for emotional, information and appraisal support or reported culturally tailored information and developers should concentrate on addressing these areas in the future. These results demonstrate that apps are not designed with self-management support options and as such, the area of self-management support in LBP self-management app design would benefit from further development.

The included apps had a variable number of behaviour change potential elements. The app with the highest behaviour change potential (ABACUS score 14) only met just over two thirds of recommended behaviour change criteria. The highest scoring ABACUS subsection (1.4) was instructions to perform the behaviour, with most apps (80%) providing information on how to perform the behaviour. The low behaviour change potential of the apps may reflect a minimal focus on behaviour change during development. There is great scope to improve behaviour change potential for apps for LBP self-management. The willingness for behaviour change (2.1), sharing behaviours with others (3.3), ability to export data (3.5) and rewards or incentives (3.6) all scored zero, demonstrating that none of the apps asked about willingness for behaviour change, had the ability to share behaviours with others to allow for social comparison or to export data from the app, nor did they provide rewards or incentives. These could be areas of future focus for app developers. Apps are not designed with behaviour change potential in LBP self-management app design would benefit from greater priority.

Strengths and limitations

This systematic assessment had numerous methodological strengths. The search strategy was based on comparable reviews and was systematic and assessed a great number of apps. The study protocol was prospectively registered and guided by PRISMA principles for systematic searching (Moher et al., 2009). The comprehensive search was performed in line with current processes and available search format. Both reviewers undertook MARS training prior to data collection, data collection was undertaken in duplicate by two independent reviewers and inter-rater reliability was excellent. The tools used for assessment were also reliable and validated. This presents a high level of confidence in the findings of this systematic assessment. The focus of the assessment was on apps for the self-management of LBP which is the current gold standard for LBP management according to guidelines. The apps included within this systematic assessment are representative of those that consumers may download for immediate use rather than necessitating organised input from a health professional. Apps were not excluded based on date of update allowing for the inclusion of a higher number of apps than previous reviews. The assessment of self-management support and behaviour change capacity offers novel information for consumers and health professionals.

The developer credibility domain, in the MARS rating scale, presented a scoring difficulty and required a great deal of online searching to score. This information was generally not available within the app or in the app description in the app store and was difficult due to a lack of standardised search protocol. Another limitation was the small sample size for the analysis of associations. Only nine apps reported cost and consumer ratings and were therefore included in the multivariate regression analyses to investigate associations between price, consumer ratings and quality. Therefore, these results should be interpreted with caution.

Implications

Future research

Despite most of the apps receiving an acceptable quality rating, the engagement domain consistently rated poorly. Developers should co-design future apps together with health professionals and consumers to improve engagement in the hope of improving adherence and LBP outcomes. Another component of app design that may increase the quality of LBP self-management apps would be to trial them in randomised controlled trials and ensuring that developers are from a credible source. Scientifically evaluating LBP selfmanagement apps for effectiveness in improving LBP outcomes, would provide evidencebased apps and improve the credibility and quality of apps and ratings in the information domain. Currently, information quality and accuracy are not assessed across any tools. Although one app has been used in scientific research, none of the included apps have been tested to determine if they can improve LBP outcomes, self-management and behaviour change. This limits consumer confidence in the product. This would be an area of app development that could be scored and marketed to provide evidence for app quality. It is possible that an accreditation or scientific rating process may improve consumer confidence. There is also need for exploration of cut-off scores or guidelines for selfmanagement support and behaviour change potential to provide meaningful information for consumers. Currently, there are no clear cut-off scores in the literature for the ABACUS or SMS-14 scales to provide an indication of weighting of importance. These tools provide a continuous score and do not provide a numerical rating to reflect self-management or behavioural outcomes or correlation between app scores and outcomes (Devan et al., 2019; McKay et al., 2019).

Implications for clinical practice/consumers

All eligible apps were scored for potential to improve behaviour change and selfmanagement support. Self-management support and behaviour change potential are areas that require greater priority for future LBP self-management app development to improve LBP outcomes. These results show that current LBP self-management apps do not have a high chance of improving self-management or encouraging behaviour change. This review also reported no significant correlation between in app ratings and app quality and as such consumers should be cautious of using in app ratings to guide app choice. Although, app price and quality showed a significant correlation, price should not exclusively be used to guide app choice. The results of this assessment confirm that app quality continues to be poorly regulated and even higher quality apps may not significantly improve selfmanagement and behaviour change which are required components to improve LBP outcomes.

The development of smartphone apps is a rapidly growing industry that is poorly regulated making quality assessment by consumers difficult. Smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP without health professional input are numerous, of average to good quality, with poor engagement scores and with marginal levels of self-management support and behaviour change components. This systematic assessment demonstrated that although apps may have the potential to cost effectively improve LBP self-management outcomes much development is required in the areas of self-management and behaviour change to work together with consumers and health professionals to incorporate increased self-management and behaviour change content and subsequently trial apps to establish effectiveness and engagement.

Chapter Four – Study 3 (Consumers)

Self-efficacy, self-management and use of smartphone apps for low back pain: an observational study

This chapter answers the aim "to explore the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with low-back pain (LBP), including associations between participant characteristics, self-efficacy and self-management" and the secondary aim "to describe the characteristics of people with LBP who use smartphone apps for self-management, including app preferences". This chapter describes the findings of an online consumer survey. The survey was completed to explore consumers' choice of self-management options for low back pain and use of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain. The systematic assessment (study 2, chapter 3) found that commercially available apps are of average to good quality, but few were designed to specifically incorporate self-management support and behaviour change potential. As such, commercially available apps have questionable potential for self-management and behaviour change of the landscape around app use and LBP management an understanding of the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with LBP and their use of apps for LBP management was required.

Statement of co-authorship:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the study. Claudia Didyk completed the initial version of the survey. All authors contributed to create the final version of the survey. Claudia Didyk conducted the data analysis and completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript. See Appendix 1 for the signed co-authorship approval form. No conflict of interest was reported by the authors and funding for participation voucher purchases was provided by the Flinders University Research Student Maintenance (RSM) support. Ethical approval was gained from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) (no. 2818). Prior to undertaking the survey, online informed consent was gained from all participants. The authors are grateful to the survey participants who contributed information about LBP self-management.

This article is under review with Cambridge University Press for publication in Primary Health Care Research & Development, a quartile one journal, Submitted 31st May 2023. The manuscript has been formatted for consistency with this thesis.

Didyk, C., Lange, B. & Lewis, L.K. (2023). Self-efficacy, self-management and use of smartphone apps for low back pain: an observational study. Primary Health Care Research & Development.

Abstract

Aim: The primary aim was to explore the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with low-back pain (LBP), including associations between participant characteristics, self-efficacy and self-management. The secondary aim was to describe the characteristics of people with LBP who use smartphone apps for self-management, including app preferences.

Methods: Prospective cross-sectional online survey of Australian adults with current or previous LBP. Descriptive statistics were completed for all variables and normality was assessed. Associations between participant characteristics, self-efficacy and self-management were explored through logistic and linear regression, and non-parametric tests for skewed variables. Alpha was 0.05.

Results: 136 survey responses were included (55.5±14.5 years, 74% female). Most participants (93%) had LBP at the time of the survey and reported constant or daily (58%) pain of moderate severity. Nearly all participants managed their LBP on their own (91%), with the most frequently used self-management options including exercise (47%), advice from health professionals (38%,) and pharmacological management (37%). Most participants self-managed either moderately (35%) or fairly (32%,) well, with a mean self-management score of 11.9±4.0 out of 20, and a median self-efficacy score of 3.9 (IQR 0.9), well above mid-range. Lower SES and all personality trait scores (conscientiousness, agreeableness, openness, emotional stability and extroversion) were associated with higher self-efficacy (p<0.05). Longer duration and increased recurrence of LBP were associated with lower self-efficacy (p<0.05). Participants with higher self-management were female, with increasing age, higher traits scores in personality domains aside from agreeableness and lower severity of low back pain (p<0.05). Seventeen participants (13%) used apps, 75% found them helpful and 92% at least slightly effective for prevention. Popular

behaviour change app features included monitoring, advice, goal setting, prompts and social support options.

Conclusion: Most adults with LBP self-managed well and had above average selfefficacy. Smartphone app use was limited, with lack of knowledge a perceived barrier.

Keywords: smartphone apps; low back pain; self-management; self-efficacy; personality traits; behaviour change; consumers

Introduction

Low back pain (LBP) is a global health and economic concern and is rated as the number one cause of disability worldwide (Vos et al., 2017). It occurs in all age groups, but most commonly in working age (Vos et al., 2017), in all countries, regardless of income level, and often without a specific nociceptive cause (Maher et al., 2017). Although recovery can be rapid, recurrence is common (Hartvigsen et al., 2018). In Australia, LBP is the most common musculoskeletal condition (AIHW, 2023a), with an estimated four million people experiencing LBP in 2017-18 (ABS, 2019). The burden of LBP is increasing with an ageing population, high inflation, rising healthcare usage post pandemic and increasing global private health costs (WTW, 2022). Innovative low cost, scalable self-management options are required to manage the burden of LBP.

Self-management requires continuous self-regulation (Barlow et al., 2002) and is a key recommendation in current LBP guidelines, together with active rehabilitation and exercise (NICE, 2016; Bernstein et al., 2017). Self-management involves consumer participation in decision making (Lorig & Holman, 2003), and monitoring and management of treatment, physical symptoms and psychosocial requirements of the condition (Barlow et al., 2002). Self-management has been shown to reduce pain intensity and disability in people with LBP (Du et al., 2017). Targeted self-management interventions, personalised to specific groups of people may be the most beneficial, with small to medium effects reported (Banerjee et al., 2022). Modifiable biopsychosocial factors, such as physical activity, disability, catastrophising, kinesiophobia and depression, impact self-management (Banerjee et al., 2022). Additionally, self-management, health behaviour (Courtenay et al., 2002; Peyrot et al., 2018) and a person's openness to change (Baum et al., 2004;

Chapman et al., 2014; Stieger et al., 2020) may be impacted by ethnic differences (Hartvigsen et al., 2018) and personality traits. Disability resulting from LBP varies and is influenced by social norms and local health care (Hartvigsen et al., 2018). Therefore, individual preferences, needs, personality traits, self-efficacy and self-management capacity, require consideration in behaviour change interventions (Stieger et al., 2020).

Smartphones apps have potential to facilitate self-management of LBP (Rintala et al., 2022), providing a cost-effective option to improve access to health management guidance and monitoring (WHO, 2019; Iyengar et al., 2020; Murray et al., 2016; Stec et al., 2019; Whitelaw et al., 2020). The Covid-19 pandemic necessitated increased use of digital technology in health (Accenture, 2020; Merolli et al., 2022; Windisch et al., 2020), as consumers experienced difficulties accessing health care (Stark et al., 2022). Smartphones are ubiquitous in developed countries (Statista, 2020) and have capacity for great reach at low cost as scalable self-management interventions (Bennell et al., 2017). Apps have capacity to improve pain (Bailey et al., 2020; Cavanagh et al., 2019; Thurnheer et al., 2018) and disability outcomes (Shebib et al., 2019) or at least provide similar pain outcomes to physiotherapy for people with LBP (Lara-Palomo et al., 2022; Stark et al., 2022). Despite consumers being willing to use digital health technologies (Merolli et al., 2022) to more actively manage their health (Accenture, 2020), apps continue to be underutilised (Gordon et al., 2020).

International studies have explored self-management of LBP to address current clinical practice and increase self-management (Adam et al., 2020; Banerjee et al., 2022; Chala et al., 2022; Kongsted et al., 2021). In Australia, studies have explored the needs and experiences of people with LBP in primary care (Ahern et al., 2019) and beyond (Chou

et al., 2018). Self-efficacy and self-management of people with LBP have not been explored as primary outcomes in the Australian context, and we currently do not know whether and how people with LBP in Australia are using apps for self-management. There is a clear need to better understand the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with LBP and their use of apps for self-management. This information may guide the development of targeted and scalable interventions to improve self-management of LBP.

The primary aim of this study was to explore the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with LBP, including associations between participant characteristics, self-efficacy and self-management. The secondary aim was to describe the characteristics of people with LBP who use smartphone apps for self-management, including app preferences.

Methods

Design

This study used a prospective cross-sectional online survey (Qualtrics). Ethical approval was gained from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (no. 2818). The survey was disseminated from April to July 2022 through social media (Facebook, Twitter) and relevant support groups accessed through Pain Australia. People were eligible if they resided in Australia, were aged at least 18 years, and had experienced LBP of any duration. Informed consent was gained online prior to undertaking the survey. Based on using two-sided confidence intervals for one proportion (95% confidence interval) a sample size of 139 was proposed (Newcombe, 1998).

Survey instrument

Existing validated instruments relating to self-efficacy, self-management and use of technology or apps for people with LBP were identified through a literature search. Several valid and reliable instruments were integrated into the development of the survey for this study. The draft survey was pilot tested for usability (clarity, time taken to complete, flow of questions) on a small group of adults (n=4).

The final survey consisted of 40 items (36 closed, 4 open) in the following sections:

- Personal information, including age, gender, ethnicity, language, highest level of education and employment status. Postcodes were used to identify socio-economic status (SES) by using the Australian Bureau of Statistics Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA standardised mean of 1000, SEIFA Decile – is divided into 10 equal groups, the lowest scoring 10% of areas = 1, highest 10% of areas =10), which ranks areas in Australia according to relative socio-economic advantage and disadvantage (ABS, 2022c). A high score indicates a relative lack of disadvantage and greater advantage in general.
- Personality traits were assessed with the Ten-Item Personality Inventory (TIPI), a reliable assessment (convergent correlations (mean r=0.77), test-retest reliability (mean r=0.72)) of personality dimensions including: (1) Extraversion, (2) Agreeableness, (3) Conscientiousness, (4) Emotional Stability, and (5) Openness to Experience (Gosling et al., 2003). The TIPI consists of 10 personality trait pairs requiring a rating (7 point scale- disagree strongly (1) to agree strongly (7)) as to what extent the pair of traits apply (Gosling et al., 2003). The higher the score for each trait, the more likely a person's behaviour and thoughts reflect the characteristics of that trait (Gosling et al., 2003). The published norm scores for each personality trait were applied for analyses.

- Self-efficacy was assessed using the New General Self-efficacy scale (NGSE) (Chen et al., 2001), a reliable measure (internal consistency (a=0.86), reliability (a=0.90), test-retest reliability (r=0.67)) which asks respondents to rate their level of agreement with eight self-efficacy related statements (Chen et al., 2001). A higher score indicates greater self-efficacy (5 point scale strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (5)) (Chen et al., 2001).
- Low back pain information included duration, frequency, average pain rating (11-point numeric pain rating scale, NPRS (Jensen et al., 1986)) and management approaches.
- Self-management competence was assessed using the reliable (convergent validity (Pearson r=-0.40 to -0.64) internal consistency (Cronbach α=0.80), test-retest reliability (r=0.71)) 5-item Self-Management Self-Test (SMST) (Wehmeier et al., 2020) consisting of five questions and scored using a five-point scale (Wehmeier et al., 2020). A final self-management score is calculated, with a higher score indicating better self-management (Wehmeier et al., 2020).
- Smartphone app use and preferences were explored. For app users, the quality of the apps they used was explored with items based on the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS) (engagement, functionality, aesthetics and information) (internal consistency (alpha = .90) and interrater reliability intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC = .79)) (Stoyanov et al., 2015). App potential for developing self-management survey items were based on the Self-management Support Checklist (SMS-14) (Devan et al., 2019), in the following categories: (1) self-efficacy building, (2) self-tailoring, (3) self-monitoring of symptoms, (4) goal setting and planning, (5) problem solving, and (6) partnership between views of patient and clinicians. The behaviour change potential of the identified apps was assessed using the App Behaviour Change Scale (ABACUS) (knowledge and information, goals and planning, feedback and

monitoring, and actions) (McKay et al., 2019), whilst the COM-B model for behaviour change (capability (C), opportunity (O), and motivation (M) – the three factors capable of changing behaviour (B)) (Michie et al., 2011) informed the creation of behaviour change survey questions. Finally, participants were asked about the features of apps that they liked or disliked, and whether specific features helped with LBP self-management. In this context effectiveness was selfreported.

Data management and analysis

Survey data were exported into Microsoft Excel. Survey responses that were not located in Australia, were 'bot' responses, or provided only demographic details were excluded. Where participants answered only the first part of a multi-component question, the incomplete question items were treated as missing data. The final dataset was exported into the Statistical Package for Social Science (IBM SPSS) version 28.0.1.1 for Windows for analyses. Normality of continuous variables were checked using histograms and Shapiro-Wilk tests. Descriptive analyses were completed on all variables, with means, standard deviations (SD) and ranges calculated for normally distributed data, medians and inter quartile ranges (IQR) for skewed data. Missing data were omitted, and complete case analysis was used. To explore associations between participant characteristics, selfefficacy and self-management, non-parametric statistics were completed for non-normally distributed variables, and parametric for those that were normally distributed. Logistic (categorical dependant variables) and linear (continuous dependent variables) regression analyses, and non-parametric tests (correlations, Mann-Whitney U, Kruskall-Wallis) were used. Significance was set at 0.05.

Results

A total of 208 survey responses were received, with 73 excluded (53 incomplete or 'bot' responses, 17 international postcodes), leaving 136 responses in the final dataset for analysis.

Participant characteristics

Whole sample

Participants (n=136) were aged 55.5 (\pm 14.5) years (range 18 to 80 years) and 74% were female (Table 4.1). Most participants had English as a first language (95%) and were born in the Oceania region of Australia and New Zealand (72%). Four per cent (n=5) identified as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander. Mean SEIFA disadvantage score was 995.6 (\pm 46.7) (range 906 to 1115) (below the standardised mean of 1000) and the median SEIFA decile score was seven (IQR 4). Most participants had university level education (56%) and 55% were not employed. Most had below norm extroversion (70%, n=95), openness (64%, n=87) and emotional stability (58%, n=79) and above norm conscientiousness scores (51%, n=69).

Most participants had access to an iPhone (65%, n=81) or android phone (44%, n=54) and 51% (n=63) had access to an iPad or other tablet device (24%, n=29). Three participants (2.2%) did not have access to any smartphone or tablet device. Most participants (87%, n=111) rated themselves at least moderately confident using smartphone or tablet devices.

Most participants (93%, n=127) had LBP at the time of the survey and reported constant or daily (58%, n=69) pain with median pain severity of 6 out of 10. Most participants reported pain lasting longer than 12 weeks (67%, n=91) and experienced a recurrence of LBP constantly to daily (58%, n=69) (Table 4.1).

Table 4. 1.

Participant Characteristics for Whole Sample and App Users

	Whole sample (n=136)	App users (n=17)
Gender n (%) (Female)	100 (73.5 %)	13 (76.5 %)
Age (years) mean ± SD (range)	55.5 ± 14.5 (18-80)	55.8 ± 15.7 (19-80)
English 1 st Language n (%)	129 (94.9%)	15 (88.2%)
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander n (%)	5 (3.7%)	3 (17.7%)
Country born n (%)		
Oceania (Australia, New Zealand)	98 (72.1%)	13 (76.5%)
Europe	23 (16.9%)	1 (5.9%)
Asia	7 (5.1 %)	1 (5.9%)
North America	2 (1.5%)	1 (5.9%)
Africa	6 (4.4%)	1 (5.9%)
Country mother born n (%)	· · ·	. ,
Oceania (Australia, New Zealand)	85 (62.5%)	12 (70.6%)
Europe	38 (27.9%)	4 (23.5%)
Asia	8 (5.9%)	1 (5.9%)
North America	1 (0.7%)	-
Africa	4 (2.9%)	-
Country father born n (%)	. ,	
Oceania (Australia, New Zealand)	82 (60.3%)	12 (70.6%)
Europe	41 (30.1%)	3 (17.7%)
Asia	7 (5.1 %)	1 (5.9%)
North America	2 (1.5%)	1 (5.9%)
Africa	4 (2.9%)	-
Highest education n (%)		
High school not completed	16 (11.8%)	2 (11.8%)
High school completed	15 (11.0%)	1 (5.9%)
TAFE or trade school	29 (21.3%)	3 (17.7%)
Bachelor degree	27 (19.9%)	3 (17.7%)
Graduate Certificate or Diploma	29 (21.3%)	3 (17.7%)
Masters or Doctoral degree	20 (14.7%)	5 (29.4%)
Employment status n (%)		
Employed	61 (44.9%)	6 (35.3%)
Unemployed -	75 (55.1%)	11 (64.7%́)
Retired	44 (32.4%)	7 (41.2%)
Looking for work	7 (5.2%)	1 (5.9%)
Student	6 (4.4%)	1 (5.9%)
Not looking for work	5 (3.7%)	-

	Whole sample (n=136)	App users (n=17)
Disability support pension	5 (3.7%)	2 (11.8%)
Carer	3 (2.2%)	-
Home duties	2 (1.5%)	-
Other	3 (2.2%)	-
SEIFA		
Disadvantage Score mean ± SD (range)	995.6 ± 46.7 (906 – 1115)	1015 ± 41.9 (954 – 1092
Decile Score median, IQR (range)	7, 4 (2-10)	8, 4 (4-10)
Personality trait scores median, IQR (range)		
Extroversion (norm=4.4)	4.0, 2 (1-7)	3.0, 1.8 (1-7)
Agreeableness (norm=5.2)	5.0, 2.0 (3-7)	4.5, 1 (2.5-7)
Conscientiousness (norm=5.4)	5.5, 2.0 (1-7)	4.5, 1.3 (3.5-7)
Emotional stability (norm=4.8)	4.5, 3.0 (1-7)	5.0, 2.8 (2-7)
Openness (norm=5.4)	5.0, 2.0 (2-7)	4.5, 2 (3.5-7)
Current LBP n (%)	127 (93.4%)	17 (100 %)
Average LBP Severity Median (IQR)	6 (2)	6 (4)
Duration of LBP n (%)		
< 6 weeks	33 (24.3%)	3 (17.7%)
6-12 weeks	12 (8.8%)	-
>12 weeks	91 (66.9%)	14 (82.4%)
Recurrence of LBP n (%)		
constantly-daily	69 (58.0%)	12 (70.6%)
<daily-monthly< td=""><td>20 (16.8%)</td><td>2 (11.8%)</td></daily-monthly<>	20 (16.8%)	2 (11.8%)
<monthly-yearly activity<="" randomly="" td=""><td>30 (25.2%)</td><td>3 (17.7%)</td></monthly-yearly>	30 (25.2%)	3 (17.7%)
dependent	· · · /	· · · ·

LBP – Low Back Pain

LBP self-management options

Use

The majority of participants reported managing their LBP on their own (n=124) and used exercise (n=123) (Table 4.2). The most frequently used self-management options were exercise (47%, n=59), advice from health professionals (38%, n=48) and pharmacological management (37%, n=47) (Table 4.2). Other self-management options used frequently (25%) included self-treatment such as self-adjustments, medication, and passive treatments (e.g. Traditional Chinese Medicine, psychological/mindfulness therapies). The self-management options used rarely or not at all were return to work

(RTW) programs (91%, n=114), psychological therapies with physical programs (69%,

n=93) and internet information (50%, n=62).

Table 4. 2.

Frequency of Use of Self-management Options for LBP

	Never/Rarely n (%)	Occasionally n (%)	Frequently/Very frequently n (%)
Advice from health professionals (n=126)	27 (21.5)	51 (40.5)	48 (38.1)
Internet information (n=125)	62 (49.6)	47 (37.6)	16 (12.8)
Exercise (n=126)	27 (21.5)	40 (31.7)	59 (46.8)
Manual therapies (n=126)	37 (29.4)	52 (41.3)	37 (29.4)
Psychological therapies with physical programs (n=126)	93 (69.0)	26 (20.6)	13 (10.3)
Return to work programs (n=126)	114 (90.4)	9 (7.1)	3 (2.4)
Pharmacological management (n=132)	48 (38.1)	31 (24.6)	47 (37.3)
Other (n=98)	76 (77.5)	6 (6.1)	16 (16.3)

Note. **Bold** = most frequently used

Effectiveness

Effectiveness was self-reported and treatments perceived as extremely effective (19%, n=11) or very effective (29.3%, n=17) included passive treatments (e.g. massage, acupuncture/Traditional Chinese Medicine), psychological or mindfulness therapies (e.g. meditation), and a range of low impact exercise (e.g. Pilates, yoga, swimming). In terms of perceived effectiveness (Figure 4.1), most participants considered medication (73%, n=88), exercise (61%, n=75), managing on their own (57%, n=70) and physiotherapy (53%, n=54) to be at least moderately effective. Treatment options that were considered not at all effective were no treatment (57%, n=40) or consulting a General Practitioner (40%, n=45), Chiropractor (39%, n=27) or Osteopath (38%, n=21).

Figure 4.1.



Use of Different LBP Self-management Treatment Options and Perceived Effectiveness

Self-efficacy and self-management scores

Most participants self-managed either moderately (35%, n=44) or fairly (32%, n=40) well, with a mean self-management score of 11.9 (±4.0, range 3 to 20) out of a maximum possible score of 20, and a self-efficacy score above mid-range of 2.5 (90%, n=122) (Median = 3.9, IQR 0.9).
Associations between participant characteristics and self-efficacy

Employment status, SES and maternal birth country were significantly associated with self-efficacy (Table 4.3). Lower SES (SEIFA and SEIFA Decile) was associated with higher self-efficacy, both with a small correlation (r=-0.190, p=0.027,and r=-0.195, p=0.023). All personality trait scores (conscientiousness, agreeableness, openness, emotional stability and extroversion) showed a statistically significant positive correlation with self-efficacy, with higher personality trait scores associated with higher self-efficacy. Both LBP duration (H(2)=9.043, p=0.0.11) and recurrence (H(2)=9.724, p=0.008) were inversely associated with self-efficacy, with longer durations and increased recurrence of LBP associated with lower self-efficacy.

Associations between participant characteristics and self-management

Females had higher self-management scores than males ($R^2 = 0.064$, F(1, 124) = 8.486, p=0.004) and increasing age was associated with higher self-management scores ($R^2 = 0.074$, F(1, 124) = 9.846, p=0.002) (Table 3). Higher levels of extroversion, conscientiousness, emotional stability and openness were positively associated with higher self-management scores (Table 4.3). There was an inverse association between LBP severity and self-management ($R^2 = 0.046$, F(1, 125) = 6.077, p=0.029) (Table 4.3). People with higher self-management scores self-rated their ability to self-manage their LBP higher (r=0.529, n=127, p<0.001).

Table 4. 3.

	Self-efficacy (NGSE) (n=136)	Self-management (SMST) (n=127)	
		Standardised Coef. (p-value) [95%CI]	
Gender (n=126)	Z = -1.716, p=0.086ª <i>Average rank:</i> 58.27 Male 71.41 Female	0.253 (p=0.004) [0.745, 3.641]	
Age (n=135) (years)	0.030 (p=0.726) [-0.144, 0.203] ^b	0.271 (p=0.002) [0.027, 0.112]	
English 1st Language (n=127)	Z = -1.898, p=0.058ª <i>Average rank:</i> 67.01 Yes 95.93 No	0.081 (p=0.367) [-0.297, 3.123]	
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander (n=125)	Z = -0.925, p=0.355ª <i>Average rank:</i> 51.80 Yes 68.11 No	0.086 (p=0.340) [-0.518,4.269]	
Birth country (n=127)	Z = -1.155, p=0.248ª <i>Average rank:</i> 67.24 Western 80.46 Eastern	-0.014 (p=0.876) [-2.293, 1.797]	
Maternal birth country (n=127)	Z = -1.937, p=0.053ª <i>Average rank:</i> 66.47 Western 89.46 Eastern	0.044 (p=0.622) [- 1.538, 2.363]	
Paternal birth country (n=127)	Z = -1.826, p=0.068ª <i>Average rank:</i> 66.68 Western 89.23 Eastern	0.023 (p=0.800) [-2.499, 3.234]	
Highest education (n=127)	H(2)=0.72, p=0.699° <i>Mean rank:</i> 70.52 Bachelor / Graduate Certificate/Diploma/ Masters/Doctoral 64.44 TAFE or trade school / High school completed 70.44 High school not completed	-0.115 (p=0.218) [-2.501, 0.640] TAFE of trade school / High school completed -0.083 (p=0.258) [-2.821,0.847] High school not completed	
Employment status (n=127)	Z = -1.950, p=0.051ª <i>Average rank:</i> 75.78 Yes 62.58 No	0.091(p=0.309) [-0.744, 2.064]	
SES			
SEIFA total (n=127) SEIFA Decile	-0.190 (p=0.027) [-0.351, -0.017] [⊾]	0.025 (p=0.771) [-0.014, 0.10]	
(n=127)	-0.195 (p=0.023) [-0.356, -0.022] ^b	0.033 (p=0.723) [-0.259, 0.348]	
Personality traits			
Extroversion score (n=126) Agreeableness	0.208 (p=0.015) [0.036, 0.368] [⊾]	0.220 (p=0.010) [0.129, 1.031]	
(n=127) (1 point)	0.269 (p=0.002) [0.101, 0.423] [♭]	0.051 (p=0.573) [-0.478,0.869]	

Associations Between Demographic Factors and Self-efficacy and Self-management

	Self-efficacy (NGSE) (n=136)	Self-management (SMST) (n=127) Standardised Coef. (p-value) [95%CI]
Conscientiousness (n=127)	0.444 (p<0.001) [0.293, 0.573] ^b	0.404 (p<0.001) [0.709, 1.574]
Emotional Stability (n=127)	0.383 (p<0.001) [0.225, 0.522] ^b	0.462 (p<0.001) [0.779, 1.606]
Openness (n=127)	0.380 (p<0.001) [0.221, 0.519] ^ь	0.314 (p=0.002) [0.535, 1.652]
LBP Characteristics Current LBP		
(n=127)	Z = -0.329, p=0.742ª <i>Average rank:</i> 68.20 Yes 72.67 No	-0.098 (p=0.396) [-6.167, 2.871]
Average LBP Severity (n=127)	-0.053 (p=0.539) [-0.224, 0.121] ^b	-0.215 (p=0.029) [-0.892,-0.055]
Duration of LBP		
(n=127)	H(2)=9.043, p=0.01 ° <i>Mean rank:</i>	-0.123 (p=0.097) [-3.817, 0.269] 6-12 weeks
	85.00 < 6 weeks 75.58 6-12 weeks 61.58 > 12 weeks	-0.054 (p=0.600) [-2.277, 1.186] >12 weeks
Recurrence of LBP		
(n=112)	H(2)=9.724, p=0.008 ° <i>Mean rank:</i> 51.64 Constantly – Daily 71.05 < Daily – Monthly 71.87 < Monthly -Yearly/ Randomly/Activity Dependent	-0.061(p=0.458) [-2.557, 1.356] <daily-monthly 0.043 (p=0.658) [-1.445, 2.207] <monthly -="" activity<br="" randomly="" yearly="">dependent</monthly></daily-monthly

Note. **BOLD =** significant p=0.05

SMST Score Reference categories for Gender – Males, English as a first language – Yes, Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander – Yes, Country Born/ Mother born/Father born – Western, Highest Education – Bachelor or above, Employment status – Yes, Current LBP – Yes, Duration of LBP - <6weeks, Recurrence of LBP – constant/daily

^aDenotes a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test with the results reported as: Z, p value, average rank; ^bDenotes a non-parametric Spearman's rho test with results reported as: r, p value, 95%CI; ^cDenotes a nonparametric Kruskall-Wallis H test with the results reported as: H, p value, Mean rank. NGSE = New General Self-Efficacy Score, SMST = Self-Management Self-Test Score

Use of smartphone apps by people with LBP

App user characteristics

Seventeen of the 136 participants (13%, n=17) reported using apps to manage their

LBP (Table 4.1). The main reasons for not using apps were lack of knowledge (76%, n=73)

and deliberate choice (24%, n=23). All app users had access to a smartphone and 83% (n=14) to a tablet device. Most participants (65%, n=11) were very confident using smartphone/tablets. App users had a higher level of unemployed (65%, n=11), a lower socio-economic disadvantage, with a SEIFA score of 1015.4 (\pm 41.9) (above the standardized mean of 1000) and median SEIFA decile score of 8 (IQR 4) (range 4-10) when compared to the whole sample. Most app users had below norm scores for extroversion (82%, n=14), agreeableness (77%, n=13), openness (65%, n=11) and conscientiousness (59%, n=10) and above norm emotional stability (53%, n=9).

All app users had LBP at the time of survey completion, with 71% (n=12) reporting constant or daily LBP and 82% (n=14) with pain lasting longer than 12 weeks (Table 4.1). Most app users reported self-managing their LBP moderately (35%, n=6) or fairly (35%, n=6) well, with a mean self-management score of 13.06 (±3.93, range 6-20) out of a maximum score of 20 and a self-efficacy score above mid-range of of 2.5 (94%, n=16) (Median=3.8, IQR 1.1).

Self-management and app use

Apps were used whilst experiencing LBP (94%, n=16), for prevention (81%, n=13) and after LBP had resolved (81%, n=13) (Figure 4.2). Seventy-five per cent (n=6) of app users who responded, reported that apps were effective in improving LBP, and at least slightly effective during prevention (92%, n=13), whilst experiencing LBP (80%, n=15) and after it had resolved (77%, n=13). Three participants (30%) reported that they self-managed at least moderately well with LBP apps. Seven participants (70% of app users)

reported that there was no change in how often they sought treatment for LBP when using apps.

Figure 4. 2.



Phase of LBP Self-management App Use Most Effective

Apps used for LBP self-management

Apps used by participants included FlareDown (Logan Merriam), Microsoft OneNote (Microsoft), Youtube (Google), Back pain exercises at home (Vladimir Apps), Lower back pain exercises (Steveloper), Back pain relief yoga at home (Dr Zio), Notes (QR Scanner & QR Code Generator & Radio & Notes) and Insight Timer (Insight Network Inc). The app features most often used were meditation and relaxation (Insight Timer); tracking of symptoms, treatments, and management (FlareDown); exercises (Back pain exercises at home, Lower back pain exercises, Back pain relief yoga at home); and note taking and recording (Notes).

App users reported using their chosen app for months (33%, n=2) to years (67%, n=4). Five participants (63%) used their chosen app daily. The behaviour change features that helped to improve LBP were motivation (67%, n=4), healthy behaviour skills (67%, n=4), self-management prompts (50%, n=3) and example self-management behaviours (50%, n=3). Most participants (83%, n=5) reported that the behaviour change features that did not improve LBP were education, in-app rewards, fear of consequences, restriction of unhealthy behaviours and behavioural support options (67%, n=4).

Participants agreed or strongly agreed that their chosen app provided prompts to encourage self-management (60%, n=3), examples of self-management behaviours (50%, n=2) and motivational language (50%, n=2). Participants agreed that their chosen app provided information to promote self-management (80%, n=4), behavioural support options to reduce barriers to self-management (80%, n=4) and taught skills required to self-manage (50%, n=2). Over 57% (n=4) of the apps did not provide a reward system, consequences for not following self-management advice or behavioural restrictions.

While not all identified apps had all features that were rated, the monitoring feature of apps was reported to be important (80%, n=4). Advice, goal setting, prompts and alarms, and social support features were also rated as important (50%, n=2). Planning for flare-ups was the most used feature (100%, n=5), followed by education and information (75%, n=3), advice (67%, n=2), monitoring of progress and symptoms (60%, n=3), and goal setting and prompts and alarms (both 50%, n=2). The least used features were personalisation (75%, n=3) and social support (67%, n=2).

App features that were liked by all participants using apps with that feature included: interactivity (n=3), graphics (n=5) and quality of information (n=4). Navigation (86%, n=6), gestural design (86%, n=6), layout (83%, n=5), visual appeal (83%, n=6), accuracy of app description (83%, n=5) and interest (80%, n=4) were liked by over 80% of participants using apps with those features. The least liked features were entertainment (75%, n=3) and visual information (67%, n=4). The features that most commonly were not included in the identified apps were interactivity (57%, n=4), and customisation, goals, quality of information, and evidence base (43%, n=3).

Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with LBP, as well as explore the use and preferences for smartphone app use for self-management. Most Australian adults reported daily, moderately severe LBP of at least three months duration. People with LBP had moderate self-efficacy, with lower SES, higher personality traits and lower LBP duration and recurrence associated with higher self-efficacy. In terms of self-management, most people with LBP self-managed moderately well, most commonly on their own, with effective self-management options including medication, exercise and physiotherapy. Females, lower pain severity, and extroversion, conscientiousness, emotional stability, and openness were associated with higher self-management scores. Only a small proportion of people reported using apps to self-manage their LBP, with popular behaviour change features including monitoring, advice, goal setting, prompts and social support options.

Self-efficacy is important for people with LBP (Costa Lda et al., 2011; de Moraes Vieira et al., 2014; Denison et al., 2004; Ferrari et al., 2019; Hampel & Neumann, 2023), impacting recovery and predicting progression to chronicity (de Moraes Vieira et al., 2014; Denison et al., 2004; Hampel & Neumann, 2023). Consistent with previous literature, we found that conscientiousness, extroversion, openness, emotional stability and agreeableness were associated with higher self-efficacy (Ambiel & Noronha, 2016; Brown & Cinamon, 2016; Delgado-Rodrguez et al., 2018; Hayat et al., 2020). It is possible that people with stronger personality traits may have improved coping mechanisms (Burgess et al., 2010) to better manage stress (Galindo-Domínguez & Bezanilla, 2021), resulting in higher self-efficacy and improved self-management. Interestingly, app users had below normal scores in the personality traits associated with higher self-efficacy. This apparent discrepancy may highlight that those with lower personality trait scores may be drawn to external self-management options to assist with self-management rather than relying on their own perceived ability to regulate behaviour. Previous studies have reported conflicting findings in relation to SES and self-efficacy in people with LBP (Whitley et al., 2021). This study found a significant inverse association between SES and self-efficacy, which may partially be explained by self-efficacy mediating possible impacts of low SES (Cerin & Leslie, 2008; Huang et al., 2019). It must also be noted that the average SES level in this study was very close to the standardised average in Australia (ABS, 2022b), with further exploration required of the low and high SES bands and self-efficacy in this population. Improving self-efficacy will likely improve health outcomes (Hampel & Neumann, 2023) and is integral to self-management interventions. Early intervention is particularly important for people with LBP due to relationships between LBP duration, recurrence and lower self-efficacy. Da Silva et al. (2019) found that approximately 40% of people who experienced LBP recurrence within a year, experienced moderate activity limitation and sought healthcare related treatment. Early intervention and self-management

targeted toward maintaining and improving self-efficacy is indicated to decrease the likelihood of progression to chronicity.

Self-management is a key recommendation in LBP guidelines (Meroni et al., 2021) to enhance a person's ability to manage day-to-day and improve quality of life (Lorig & Holman, 2003). People with stronger traits in conscientiousness, openness, extroversion and emotional stability self-manage better and are more likely to undertake health promoting activities (Dietmaier et al., 2022; Hampson et al., 2016; Mendoza-Catalán et al., 2022). Those who are open to new experiences (openness), thoughtful and with good impulse control (conscientiousness), sociable and assertive (extroversion), deal better with stress and are emotionally resilient (emotional stability) (Power & Pluess, 2015), and may be more likely to effectively self-manage. Although not found in this sample, high levels of agreeableness have been shown to improve self-management (Sirois & Hirsch, 2015; Zhang et al., 2019). In this study, people with LBP self-managed moderately well, however, in contrast with previous literature (Banerjee et al., 2022; Kawi, 2014), lower age and higher LBP severity were associated with lower self-management. The contrasting results may be due to the differing methods used for data collection in these studies. As the survey was undertaken online, it may have been biased toward those that were younger (mean age in this sample was 55.5 years (working age)) and comfortable using technology, as it is well documented that older adults can have poorer self-management abilities (Scheffer, Menting & Boeije, 2021; Simpson & Xu, 2020). However, in agreement with Banjeree et al. (Banerjee et al., 2022), pain duration did not predict self-management and it's change.

Despite most people with LBP in this study reporting self-managing their LBP effectively on their own, the number of participants using apps to aid self-management approaches was lower than anticipated. Interestingly, those who used apps to self-manage

their LBP had below norm personality traits aside from emotional stability, which contrasts with the finding that higher personality traits are associated with improved self-management and self-efficacy in the whole sample. Higher levels of some personality traits have been shown in the general population to be associated with increased use of physical activity apps such as Strava or Fitbit (Petersen et al., 2020). Many general physical activity apps emphasise the importance of social support features, such as sharing on social media platforms, to encourage adherence to app use and increase physical activity (Petersen et al., 2020). Interestingly, most of the app users in this study did not place importance on social support features, and few used them if they were available. It is likely that people with LBP have different goals and priorities when accessing apps to the general population.

Low back pain interventions should encourage behaviours that improve health outcomes by encouraging self-management (Araújo-Soares et al., 2019). In this study, selfmanagement and behaviour change features (NICE, 2016; Araújo-Soares et al., 2019; Devan et al., 2019; McKay et al., 2019) were often not provided in the identified apps which aligns with current literature (Didyk et al., 2022a). In this sample, those that used apps had higher mean self-management scores than the whole sample but slightly lower median selfefficacy scores. It is possible that those with higher personality trait scores, self-efficacy and self-management options such as apps. In contrast, those with lower personality trait scores and associated lower self-efficacy, may require apps as an adjunct selfmanagement option to assist with improving self-management.

Apps appear to be used by a small proportion of people with LBP as an adjunct to other management options such as exercise, medication and physiotherapy. App users in this study placed importance on the monitoring of progress and planning for flare-ups in apps, and liked app quality functionality (navigation, gestural design, layout) and aesthetic (layout, graphics, visual appeal) features. App developers should include these features to encourage app use for LBP self-management. There is also a clear need for health professionals such as physiotherapists, to understand the importance of self-efficacy and self-management for people with LBP. We currently do not know how health professionals use apps for clients with LBP, or their understanding of the role of apps in self-management. Assessment of app quality and self-management and behaviour change potential is important to guide appropriate app choice for consumers and health professionals. There is an urgent need for a quick and easy to use tool to evaluate apps, which may increase LBP self-management app recommendation by health professionals and uptake by people with LBP.

Strengths and limitations

This study has numerous methodological strengths. The survey was disseminated nationally, using a variety of paid and free online methods. The tools used in the survey were reliable and valid, allowing for a high level of confidence in the results. Large amounts of data were collected and analysed to explore possible relationships and those that might influence app use. Although the number of app users was small, it aligns with current trends (Accenture, 2020). There were also some limitations. The small sample size of app users meant that it was not possible to explore associations between participant characteristics and app use variables. However, we were able to descriptively explore participant preferences and perceptions of smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP. The findings of this study are generalisable to the Australian context, however, given the similarities in results with other developed countries, it is likely the findings may be applied to similar contexts and regions.

Most Australian adults with LBP have above average self-efficacy and self-manage moderately well. Early intervention is important for people with LBP due to the relationship between duration and recurrence of LBP and lower self-efficacy. Smartphone apps were only used by a small proportion of people with LBP as an adjunct to other management options such as exercise, medication and physiotherapy. App users self-managed moderately well with apps with popular behaviour changes features including monitoring, advice, goal setting, prompts and social support options. Assessment of app quality and self-management and behaviour change potential is an important future direction for research to guide optimal app selection for people with LBP and health professionals. Adoption of informed and appropriate app use by health professionals in primary healthcare, has the potential to improve current LBP management and improve outcomes.

Chapter Five – Study 3 (Health professionals)

Health professionals' use of smartphone apps for clients with low back pain: an observational study

This chapter answers the aim "to explore health professionals' use, barriers, confidence and preferences for technology and smartphone apps to assist clients with self-managing low back pain (LBP)". This chapter describes the findings of an online health professional survey. The survey was completed to explore health professionals' choice of self-management options for low back pain and use of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain. The systematic assessment (study 2, chapter 3) found that commercially available apps are of average to good quality, but few were designed to specifically incorporate self-management support and behaviour change potential. As such, commercially available apps have questionable potential for self-management and behaviour change. This made it difficult to transfer this knowledge to practice to encourage app use. To gain a better understanding of the landscape around app use and LBP management an understanding of the use of apps by first point of contact health professionals for LBP management was required.

Statement of co-authorship:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the study. Claudia Didyk completed the initial version of the survey. All authors contributed to create the final version of the survey. Claudia Didyk conducted the data analysis and completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript. See Appendix 1 for the signed co-authorship approval form. No conflict of interest was reported by the authors and funding for participation voucher purchases was provided by the Flinders University Research Student Maintenance (RSM) support. Ethical approval was gained from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) (no. 2818). Prior to undertaking the survey, online informed consent was gained from all participants. The authors are grateful to the survey participants who contributed information about LBP management.

This article is under review with Cambridge University Press for publication in Primary Health Care Research & Development, a quartile one journal, Submitted 31st May 2023. The manuscript has been formatted for consistency with this thesis.

Didyk, C., Lewis, L.K. & Lange, B. (2023). Health professionals' use of smartphone apps for clients with low back pain: an observational study. Primary Health Care Research & Development.

Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to explore health professionals' use, barriers, confidence and preferences for technology and smartphone apps to assist clients with self-managing low back pain (LBP).

Methods: Prospective observational cross-sectional survey of registered Australian health professionals that managed clients with low back pain.

Results: 52 survey responses were included (mean age 43 ±13.8 years). Most did not personally use healthy lifestyle apps (60%) and did not recommend apps due to a lack of knowledge of app effectiveness (93%). The largest barrier to recommending apps was the potential for apps to be misused as a substitute to health professional diagnosis. Fifteen recommended smartphone apps (mean age 36 ±10.6 years) and were at least moderately confident in choosing/recommending apps (94%) and assessing app quality (80%). Those more likely to recommend apps personally used apps for healthy lifestyle behaviours (OR 5.1 (p=0.009)), were Physiotherapists (OR 0.13 (p=0.035) c/f Chiropractors, in their profession for <10 years (OR 8.6 (p=0.015)) c/f >30 years. Increasing age decreased the odds (OR 0.94 (p=0.013)) of recommending apps.

Conclusions: Health professionals do not recommend LBP self-management apps due to a lack of knowledge of their effectiveness. Those that do recommend apps for LBP self-management are confident with app choice, recommendation and app quality assessment. Physiotherapists with <10 years' experience were most likely to recommend apps.

Keywords: smartphone apps; low back pain; self-management; behaviour change; health professional; barriers

Introduction

Prior to 2020, the use of digital tools in health management and mobile app use was declining globally (Accenture, 2020). The Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent restrictions caused increased reliance on digital health options for consumers and health professionals, due to both the lack of face-to-face options, and an increase in availability of modalities such as telehealth. This shift toward broader acceptance and access to digital health options for consumers and health professionals has shown no sign of slowing down, with digital options now integrated into sustainable models of health care. There are opportunities for increased adoption of a broader scope of digital health options such as smartphone apps that may assist in the management of conditions that are a global burden, such as low back pain (LBP) (Vos et al., 2017).

Low back pain is the leading cause of disability globally and poses a significant economic challenge, with one in every three people requiring rehabilitation during the course of their injury (Cieza et al., 2020; Vos et al., 2017). Digital tools, such as smartphone apps, offer an easily accessible and cost-effective option for scalable health management (Murray et al., 2016). Smartphones are ubiquitous and apps have the potential to address health inequities in low to middle income countries, rural and remote communities (Murray et al., 2016). While smartphone apps can be used as a useful adjunct to face to face management (Wang et al., 2018), recent data shows that uptake for musculoskeletal conditions that make up a large component of visits to health professionals is low (Gordon et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2023). Musculoskeletal conditions make up 18 per cent of visits to general practitioners (GPs) in Australia (AIHW, 2022b). With the current shortage of GPs (Australia Medical Association [AMA], 2022), timely access to medical care can be impeded

by appointment utilisation for musculoskeletal complaints (AMA, 2022). In Australia, back problems account for nearly a quarter of health system expenditure (AIHW, 2022), resulting in unnecessary presentations to hospitals, with people with LBP occupying hospital beds required for medical clients (Coombs et al., 2021) and this trend is similar in other countries (Beyera et al., 2020; Edwards et al., 2017; Melman, 2023). Change in the management of LBP is required, with a need to move to increased self-management and consumer independence in their own care.

The NICE LBP guideline (2016) recommends self-management and exercise as the gold standard for LBP management. The self-management recommendations include advice and information tailored to the person's needs and capabilities; encouragement to continue with normal activities and active rehabilitation such as exercise. The rehabilitation should consider the individual's needs, preferences, and capabilities. Exercise could include biomechanical, mind-body or a combination as well as group exercise in conjunction with psychological therapies using a cognitive behavioural approach. Finally, programs are recommended that facilitate return to work and normal activities. Digital health management tools, such as smartphone apps, may offer an easily accessible, cost-effective, guideline informed (NICE, 2016) LBP self-management solution that may improve self-efficacy and encourage consumer independence in their care.

Recent data shows that over half of consumers from Australia, England, Finland, Norway, Singapore, Spain and the United States, who have used digital health care are willing to receive it from their usual healthcare providers, however, only 11 per cent of health care providers recommend digital tools for health management (Accenture, 2020). This mis-match may be due to data protection concerns, time constraints and medical liability, which are identified barriers of in-clinic use of digital health management tools, such as smartphone apps (Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021). There is a clear need to explore and better understand smartphone LBP self-management app use by first point of contact health professionals for LBP management. This information may be applied to address the barriers to adoption of smartphone LBP self-management app use in clinical practice which could be applicable across different countries and health systems.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore first point of contact health professionals' use, barriers, confidence and preferences for technology and smartphone apps to assist clients with self-managing LBP. The secondary aim was to describe the characteristics of health professionals who use smartphone apps for client management of LBP, including app preferences.

Methods

Design

This prospective observational cross-sectional online survey (Qualtrics, Provo, UT) explored the use, barriers, confidence and preferences for technology and smartphone apps for people with LBP from a health professional perspective. Ethical approval was gained from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) (no. 2818). Prior to undertaking the survey, online informed consent was gained from all participants.

Participants

Participants were health professionals that were considered first point of contact for LBP management (Chinese medicine practitioners, Chiropractors, Exercise physiologists, General practitioners, Occupational therapists, Osteopaths, Physiotherapists, Podiatrists and Psychologists) (AIHW, 2019a; Arthritis Australia, 2016), registered in Australia and either currently or had previously managed clients with LBP of any duration. Health professionals were recruited between April and July 2022 through relevant professional associations (such as the Australian Physiotherapy Association and Royal Australian College of General Practitioners), social media (Facebook, Twitter) and the University webpage. Based on Peduzzi et al. (1996) a sample size of at least 100 was proposed.

Survey instrument

A comprehensive literature review did not identify existing validated surveys or instruments that measured health professionals' use of smartphone apps for client management of LBP. The research team (A.Prof, Prof and PhD candidate) developed a survey, incorporating pre-existing instruments relating to the self-management of LBP, that was reviewed by a statistician.

The final survey consisted of 27 items (24 closed, 3 open-ended) in five sections:

- Personal information was collected including age, gender, highest level of education, current profession and years of experience, work setting and location and access to technology.
- *Smartphone app use and preferences* The survey included a question relating to smartphone app use to help clients self-manage LBP. For those that indicated that they did not use apps, a follow up question regarding *barriers to app* use was

included based on barriers identified in previous literature (Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021). For health professionals who indicated they used apps to assist clients with self-management of their LBP, follow up questionswere included about their *app preferences* (open-ended questions) and in terms of the features that they liked or disliked, relating to *app quality* and the potential of the apps for development of client *self-management and behaviour change*.

- Self-management potential- The items relating to the health professionals' perception
 of the self-management potential features of apps were developed using the Selfmanagement Support Checklist (SMS-14), developed from the well-established
 Stanford Self-management Support Model (Devan et al., 2019). The checklist guided
 the development of survey questions using the six self-management skill categories
 (1) self-efficacy building, (2) self-tailoring, (3) self-monitoring of symptoms, (4) goal
 setting and planning, (5) problem solving, and (6) partnership between views of
 patient and clinicians.
- Behaviour change potential The items relating to the health professionals' perception of the behaviour change potential features of apps were developed using the App Behaviour Change Scale (ABACUS), a reliable tool with high interrater reliability and internal consistency, evaluating four broad categories of behaviour change (knowledge and information, goals and planning, feedback and monitoring, and actions) (McKay et al., 2019). The Capability, Opportunity, and Motivation Behaviour system model (COM-B) (Michie et al., 2011) is considered a key theoretical framework for supporting behaviour change (NICE, 2014) and was also used to guide survey question development. Closed questions incorporated the COM-B relating to education, persuasion, incentivisation, coercion, training, restriction, environmental restructuring, modelling and enablement required in behaviour change interventions (Michie et al., 2011).

 App quality - Health professional perception of the quality of the apps they used was assessed using the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS), a reliable tool with excellent interrater reliability and internal consistency, evaluating four quality categories (engagement, functionality, aesthetics and information) (Stoyanov et al., 2015) to guide question development.

The survey was pilot tested for usability (time taken to complete, flow of questions, clarity) on a group of adults (n=4). The survey was revised based on this feedback.

Data management and analysis

Data were exported into Microsoft Excel. Survey responses which included minimal information, only demographic details or were repeated bot responses were considered invalid and removed. The included survey responses with questions in which respondents answered the first component of a question and then did not answer the next component were treated as missing data. Missing data were omitted, and complete case analysis was used. The final complete data set was exported into the Statistical Package for Social Science (IBM SPSS) version 28.0.1.1 for Windows for analysis. Text responses were collated into similar groups and descriptive analyses were completed on all variables. Associations between health professional characteristics, technology use and recommendation of smartphone apps were explored using logistic regression analyses. Significance was set at 0.05.

Results

A total of 100 participants completed the survey, with 52 complete survey responses included in the final analyses. The survey took approximately 10 minutes to complete.

Participant characteristics and app use

Whole sample

Participants (n=52) had a mean age of 42.8 (\pm 13.8) years (range 21 to 70 years) and 56% were male (Table 5.1). Most participants were Chiropractors (28%, n=14) and Physiotherapists (24%, n=12), had 0-9 years (44%, n=23), or over 30 years (27%, n=14) of experience, worked in a metropolitan area (56%, n=29), community (primary care, private practice) (75%, n=39) setting with a highest education level of Masters or Doctoral degree (48%, n=25). Of the 52 participants, 10 (19%) were aware of the NICE LBP guidelines and one participant correctly outlined all the guideline recommended areas of self-management with the exception of return-to-work facilitation.

Most participants (76%, n=40) had access to an iPhone (67%, n=35) or Android phone (48%, n=25) and 75% (n=39) had access to a tablet device. One participant did not have access to any smartphone or tablet device. Over 39% (n=20) of participants reported personally using apps to promote healthy lifestyle behaviours. Technology for client-related care was used by 60% (n=31) of participants. Thirty-seven per cent (n=19) of participants recommended apps to clients and 31% (n=16) reported that clients requested them to recommend LBP apps.

Health professionals who recommend apps

Of the 19 participants who reported recommending apps to clients, 15 completed follow up survey items relating to apps (Table 4.1). Sixty-four per cent (n=9) recommended apps to clients on a weekly basis, mostly for self-management (100%, n=15), health education (87%, n=13) and health promotion (87%, n=13). Health professionals who reported recommending apps to clients were aged 35.7 years (±9.7, range 21 to 60 years), and predominantly male (74%, n=14). The highest proportion of health professionals using apps for clients were Physiotherapists (37%, n=7), followed by General Practitioners (26%, n=5), had 0-9 years (74%, n=14) of experience, and worked in a metropolitan (58%, n=11) or community (primary care, private practice) (58%, n=11) setting.

Ten health professionals (67%) who used apps for clients also reported personally using apps to promote a healthy lifestyle. Most health professionals who recommended apps reported moderate to high confidence in choosing and recommending apps (93%, n=14) and assessing LBP app quality (79%, n=11).

Barriers and facilitators to health professionals recommending apps

For the health professionals who did not recommend apps for clients with LBP (n=36), the most common reason cited was a lack of knowledge of app effectiveness (93%, n=27), followed by lack of perceived client digital technology literacy (79%, n=23).

For the health professionals who recommended apps and responded to follow up questions (n=13), 77% (n=10) reported barriers to recommending apps including: the

potential for apps to be misused as a substitute to health professional diagnosis, too time consuming, not independently certified, clinically valid or not backed by evidence and the potential for medical liability.

Table 5. 1.

Participant Characteristics of Whole Sample and Health Professionals that Recommend Apps for Low Back Pain

	Whole sample (n=52)	Recommend apps (n=19)
Gender n (%)		
Female	21 (40.4%)	5 (26.3 %)
Male	29 (55.8%)	14 (73.7%)
Other	2 (3.8%)	-
Age (years) mean ± SD (range)	42.8 ± 13.82 (21-70)	35.67 ± 9.71 (21-60)
Highest education n (%)		
High school completed	1 (1.9%)	1 (5.3%)
TAFE or trade school	3 (5.8%)	2 (10.5%)
Bachelor degree	15 (28.8%)	7 (36.8%)
Graduate Certificate or Diploma	8 (15.4%)	4 (21.2%)
Masters or Doctoral degree	25 (48.1%)	5 (26.3%)
Occupation n (%)		
Chiropractors	14 (28.0%)	2 (10.5%)
Physiotherapists	12 (24.0%)	7 (36.8%)
Eastern Medicine – TCM/Acupuncture	8 (16.0%)	3 (15.8%)
General Practitioners	6 (12.0%)	5 (26.3%)
Exercise physiology/Occupational Rehabilitation	4 (8.0%)	2 (10.5%)
Psychologist/Mental health	3 (6.0%)	-
Osteopaths	2 (4.0%)	-
Massage/Myotherapist	1 (2.0%)	-
Did not specify	2 (4.0%)	-
Years in current profession n (%)		
0-9 years	23 (44.2%)	14 (73.7%)
10-19 years	11 (21.2%)	2 (10.5%)
20-29 years	4 (7.7%)	1 (5.3%)
over 30 years	14 (26.9%)	2 (10.5%)
Work setting n (%)		
Community (primary care, private practice)	39 (75%)	11 (57.9%)
Hospital	6 (11.5%)	4 (21.1%)
Combination of hospital and community	7 (13.5%)	4 (21.1%)
also worked in other settings:	6 (11.5%)	
Community (not primary care or private practice)	3 (5.8%)	-
Education	2 (3.8%)	-
Sporting team	1 (1.9%)	-
Work location n (%)		
Metro	29 (55.8%)	11 (57.9%)
Non-metro	15 (28.8%)	6 (31.6%)
Combination Metro/Non-metro	8 (15.4%)	2 (10.5%)

Data protection concerns or not being sure of what value apps would add to improve outcomes were not considered barriers to app recommendation by 46% (n=6) of participants. Nine participants suggested that additional elements such as ease of use of apps, better control and customisation options, more targeted and/or specific content, and additional education in self-management would encourage health professional recommendation of apps for clients with LBP.

Health professionals' preferences for apps for the self-management of LBP

Fifteen health professionals reported recommending a range of apps to clients for their LBP, including: Curable (Curable Inc), Tapping solution (The Tapping Solution, LLC), Keep (Google, LLC), Physitrack (Physitrack PLC), Insight timer (Insight Network Inc), SelfBack (SelfBack), Kaia (Kaia Health) and activity monitors (specific apps not mentioned).

Features included and reported as most liked by participants in the apps they recommended (Figure 5.1) were in the following categories: 'information' (visual information (100%, n=15), quality of information (93 %, n=14) and evidence base (93%, n=13)) and 'functionality' (ease of use (100%, n=15)). Features that were disliked by participants were in the 'functionality' (gestural design (39%, n=5) category as well as the 'engagement' (entertainment (36%, n=4) and customisation (33%, n=5)) categories. The features that were most often not included in their chosen apps were in the categories of 'engagement' (entertainment (25%, n=4)) and 'functionality' (performance (19%, n=3)).

Features considered by health professionals when investigating LBP selfmanagement apps included goal setting (100%, n=15), prompts and alarms (93%, n=14), advice (93%, n=13), education (87%, n=13), monitoring (87%, n=13), planning (88%, n=12), and social support (80%, n=12). The least sought-after feature was personalisation (73%, n=11). For the apps that had these features, health professionals rated the following as very or extremely important for LBP self-management apps: teaching skills required to self-manage (86%, n=12), providing information to promote self-management (71%, n=10), using motivating language to encourage self-management (71%, n=10), providing examples of self-management behaviours to follow (69%, n=9) and prompts to encourage self-management (54%, n=7) (Figure 5.2). A small number of participants considered consequences for not following self-management advice (17%, n=2) and behavioural restrictions (15%, n=2) not at all important.

Figure 5. 1.



Low Back Pain Self-management App Features Liked by Health Professionals

Figure 5. 2.





Associations between health professional characteristics, technology use and recommendation of smartphone apps

Age, current profession, and years of experience were significantly associated with app recommendation. With every year increase in age the odds of recommending apps was 0.94 times less (OR 0.94; p=0.013). Chiropractors were 0.13 times less likely to recommend apps than Physiotherapists (OR 0.13, p=0.035) and those in their profession with less than 10 years of experience were 8.6 (OR 8.6, p=0.015) times more likely to

recommend apps than those with over 30 years of experience.

Table 5. 2.

Associations Between Demographic Factors, Technology Use and App Recommendation

	App Recommendation (n=19)	
	O/R (p value) [95% CI]	
Gender (n=50) (Male)	3.2 (p=0.068) [0.919, 11.145]	
Age (n=50) (years)	0.94 (p=0.013) [0.886, 0.986]	
Highest education (n=51) (TAFE or below)	5.8 (p=0.141) [0.559, 60.475] Bachelor or above	
Current profession (n=51) (Physiotherapist)	3.6 (p=0.305) [0.313, 40.751] GP 0.0 (p=0.999) [0.000, .] Osteopath * 0.13 (p=0.035) [0.020, 0.863] Chiropractors 0.3 (p=0.101) [0.059, 1.285] Other professions	
Years in current profession (n=51) (Over 30 years)	8.6 (p=0.015) [1.526, 47.956] 0-9 years 1.2 (p=0.855) [0.143, 10.480] 10-19 years 1.8 (p=0.662) [0.121, 27.797] 20-29 years	
Work setting (n=51) (Community)	4.9 (p=0.089) [0.782, 30.801] hospital 3.3 (p=0.160) [0.627, 17.092] combined settings	
Work location (n=51) (Metro)	1.2 (p=0.757) [0.335, 4.491] non-metro 0.6 (p=0.501) [0.093, 3.194] combined locations	
Access to Smartphone – Iphone (Yes)	1.8 (p=0.008) [2.140, 151.402]	
Access to smartphone – Android (No)	1.6 (p=0.448) [0.496, 4.898]	
Access to smartphone – Windows (Yes)	4.9 (p=0.012) [1.424, 16.930]	
Access to Tablet – Ipad (Yes)	3.1 (p=0.079) [0.879, 10.829]	
Access to Tablet – Android (Yes)	2.6 (p=0.131) [0.753, 8.995]	
Access to Tablet – Windows (Yes)	3.0 (p=0.066) [0.931, 9.827]	
Access to Other (No)	6.9 (p=0.081) [0.786, 59.814]	
Personally use apps (Yes) Note, BOLD = significant p=0.05	5.1 (p=0.009) [1.506, 17.568]	

Note. **BOLD =** significant p=0.05

* = None in this sample

Access to a smartphone was statistically associated with app recommendation, with health professionals with access to an iPhone being 1.8 times more (OR 1.8, p=0.008) likely to recommend apps and those with a Windows smartphone 4.9 times more likely (OR 4.9, p=0.012). Participants were also 5.1 times more (OR 5.1, p=0.009) likely to recommend apps if they personally used apps to promote their own healthy lifestyle behaviours (Table 5.2).

Discussion

This study aimed to investigate health professionals' use, barriers, confidence and preferences for technology and smartphone apps to assist clients with self-managing LBP. Most Australian health professionals were at least moderately confident in choosing or recommending apps and assessing their quality, almost one third had clients request recommendation of LBP self-management apps, and over a third recommended LBP self-management apps to clients. Most health professionals who recommended apps did so on a weekly basis for LBP self-management, health education and health promotion. Physiotherapists, higher levels of education, decreasing age, less than 10 years' experience and personally using healthy lifestyle apps were associated with greater app recommendation to clients, and a lack of knowledge of app effectiveness and perceived lack of client digital technology literacy were identified barriers to app recommendation.

Previous literature has shown that 11 per cent of health professionals in Australia, England, Finland, Norway, Singapore, Spain and the United States, recommend general digital health options to their clients, and over 50% of clients look to trusted health professionals for guidance in more actively managing their health (Accenture, 2020; Deloitte, 2018). Interestingly, in this study, we found much higher rates of app recommendation by health professionals, over three times higher than published trends (Accenture, 2020). It is possible that the online recruitment method used in this study was biased toward recruiting health professionals comfortable in an online digital environment and potentially more likely to recommend apps to their clients. It is also possible that there has been a large increase in the number of health professionals using and recommending digital options to clients in the last three years, aligned with the global move to telehealth and virtual options in developed countries during the Covid-19 pandemic (University of Queensland [UQ], 2022; Thomas et al., 2020; Webster, 2020). In this study, Physiotherapists with less than 10 years' experience were more likely to recommend apps. Incorporating technology into client care may be easier for those newer to the workforce, due to greater technology literacy and an increased likelihood that these professionals were exposed to these technologies during their health professional training (Martin et al., 2022). We also found that approximately one third of clients requested LBP self-management apps to be recommended by their health professional, suggesting that clients may take the lead from their health professional regarding possible digital options for their LBP selfmanagement.

Clients trust health professional guidance in managing their health (Accenture, 2020; Deloitte, 2018) and guideline-based recommendations are considered best practice to improve outcomes for people with LBP (Foster et al., 2018). Not adhering to these recommendations could result in poorer outcomes and greater personal and health system costs. Despite the high prevalence of LBP and the high levels of health care usage and presentation to health care providers, less than two per cent of health professionals in this study were able to correctly identify most of the NICE (2016) LBP guideline selfmanagement recommendations. This lack of knowledge could be due to health professionals considering guidelines to be restrictive on professional autonomy, clinical reasoning and patient empowerment (Slade et al., 2016). Although evidence-based practice is part of the physiotherapist education framework (World Physiotherapy [WP], 2021), it is also possible that health professionals are not exposed to these guidelines throughout their entry-level training, or ongoing professional development (Derghazarian & Simmonds, 2011; Synnott et al., 2015). This lack of knowledge of best practice guidelines is concerning and warrants further investigation. Of further concern is that some health professionals reported using management options, such as electrotherapies, that are not currently recommended for LBP (NICE, 2016; Zadro et al., 2019). Return to work facilitation was the least identified recommendation, which is surprising as LBP presents mostly in working age and is a leading cause for early retirement in Australia (Schofield et al., 2012). International guideline-based self-management recommendations, particularly in the facilitation of return to work, could improve patient outcomes, allow people to remain at work, and reduce the chance of decreased wealth in later life due to early work cessation. The lack of knowledge of guidelines and use of guideline-based recommendation should be addressed in continuing education for health professionals involved in the management of people with LBP (Hush & Alison, 2011).

Behaviour change techniques can encourage people with LBP to adopt health behaviours to self-manage their condition (Mansell et al., 2016) and LBP self-management interventions may improve health outcomes by including features that encourage behaviour change (Araújo-Soares et al., 2019). In contradiction to current literature (Didyk et al., 2022a), this study found that the apps recommended by health professionals included many features to promote behaviour change. However, most of the recommended apps were not specific for LBP self-management and did not address the required behaviour change and self-management support criteria for LBP self-management interventions (Didyk et al., 2022a; Michie et al., 2011). Health professionals placed importance on example self-management behaviours and skills, behavioural restrictions and sought goal setting and prompts and alarms as self-management features. Health professionals also liked features relating to app quality functionality (ease of use), information (visual information, quality of information, evidence base, goals and credibility), aesthetics (layout, graphics) and engagement (interest, target group). Functionality and aesthetic features have been previously found to rate highly, and although highly liked by health professionals, the information and engagement features were rated the lowest quality in a previous systematic app assessment (Didyk et al., 2022a). This could be due to health professionals recommending different apps to those formally assessed in previous research. Simple app assessment methods or tools for health professionals to assess app quality may assist with future recommendation of apps for clients (Gordon et al., 2020).

Recommendation of smartphone apps needs to be part of workflows nested into current health care delivery models (Accenture, 2020). Barriers to implementation of app use into clinical practice, such as lack of time, exist and sustainable adoption of smartphone app use for the self-management of LBP will need to address the health professional time constraints. One of the largest barriers for health professionals recommending apps was the potential for apps to be misused as a substitute to health professional diagnosis. To minimise this, oversight should be provided by trusted health professionals (Bernhardsson et al., 2019). Whilst many commercially available apps in the app stores are not independently certified, clinically valid or backed by evidence, some guidance from health care providers could ensure better app choices aligned with client needs. Further education on the value of recommending apps to suitable clients to improve outcomes, may assist with greater app recommendation (Gordon et al., 2020). Health professional app recommendation would also need to be client specific and take into consideration levels of digital technology literacy (Kloek et al., 2020). Potential for medical liability could be avoided by recommending important features that should be present in apps to assist in selfmanagement and behaviour change. Educating health professionals about app features for self-management and behaviour change potential (Gordon et al., 2020), could increase health professional confidence in app effectiveness and increase use. This could assist both health professionals and consumers to determine suitable LBP self-management apps, reduce liability and increase confidence. There is a clear need for an app evaluation tool (Gordon et al., 2020) that is quick and easy to use, which may increase LBP selfmanagement app use by people with LBP and recommendation by health professionals.

Strengths and limitations

This study has numerous methodological strengths. Dissemination occurred nationally, using free and paid and online methods. Reliable and validated tools were used in the survey for a high level of confidence in survey results. Data were collected from over 50 health professionals, representing different first point of contact disciplines and of relevance to a range of primary care health professionals. Although the number of health professionals who recommended apps was small, it was over three times higher than expected. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate health professionals' recommendation of smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP. Future research should explore entry-level training and professional development opportunities for health professionals in digital health, smartphone apps and selfmanagement of LBP. There is also scope for the development of a user-friendly app quality rating tool to guide health professional decision making when recommending apps in clinical practice.

Few health professionals were able to correctly identify LBP guideline selfmanagement recommendations. Greater knowledge and use of guideline-based recommendations to facilitate LBP self-management, particularly in return-to-work facilitation, is required. LBP self-management apps are cost effective, scalable and accessible and can be used as an adjunct to current modes of LBP management but are underutilised. Apps that were recommended were not specific for LBP self-management. Reasons for not recommending apps included lack of knowledge of app effectiveness and assumptions about digital literacy level of clients. However, those that did recommend apps were confident in choosing and recommending apps and assessing LBP app quality and placed importance on self-management features. Clients sought advice from health professionals about apps, highlighting the need for an easy-to-use app assessment method that can assist health professionals and guide consumers in choosing high quality LBP specific apps from those currently available. This could reduce barriers to recommendation, encourage uptake and reduce the personal and economic burden of LBP. Promoting digital health tools, such as apps, for self-care may improve self-management and self-efficacy.

Chapter Six – Study 4

Co-design of the Low Back Pain Self-Management App Review Tool (LBP-SMART) for consumers to assess the quality, behaviour change and self-management potential of LBP smartphone apps

This chapter answers the aim "to co-design and pilot test a tool for consumers to assess the quality, behaviour change and self-management potential of LBP selfmanagement apps". This chapter describes the four co-design workshops conducted to codesign a tool for use by consumers to assess LBP self-management apps. The co-design process involved both consumer and health professional input, as well as input from the research team. The consumer and health professional surveys (study 3 (consumers) (health professionals), chapters 4 and 5), few health professionals and consumers used apps due to lack of knowledge. All consumer app users had LBP and most found that app use helped improve their LBP. The small percentage of both consumer and health professional app users outlines the underutilisation of this self-management tool. The app assessment tool was developed to allow for quick and easy evaluation of currently available LBP self-management apps by consumers and health professionals to increase adoption of app use.

Statement of co-authorship:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the study. Claudia Didyk managed the study, conducting recruitment, undertaking the workshops and pilot study as well as data collection. Claudia Didyk conducted the data analysis and consulted with co-authors on the categories arising from the qualitative data analysis. Claudia Didyk completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript. See Appendix 1 for the signed co-authorship approval form. No conflict of interest was reported by the authors and funding for participation voucher purchases was provided by the Flinders University Research Student Maintenance (RSM) support. Ethical approval was gained from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) (no. 5568). Prior to undertaking the workshops or pilot testing, online informed consent was gained from all participants. The authors are grateful to the workshop and pilot study participants who contributed to the design of the LBP self-management app assessment tool.

This article is under review with Mary Ann Liebert, Inc Publishers for publication in Games for Health, a quartile one journal, Submitted 26th July 2023. The manuscript has been formatted for consistency with this thesis.

Didyk, C., Lewis, L.K. & Lange, B. (2023). Co-design of the Low Back Pain Self-Management App Review Tool (LBP-SMART) for consumers to assess the quality, behaviour change and self-management potential of LBP smartphone apps. *Games for Health*.
Abstract

Introduction: Low back pain poses global health management and economic challenges. Self-management of LBP is critical, and smartphone apps have great potential to facilitate LBP self-management. This study aimed to co-design a LBP Self-Management App Review Tool (LBP-SMART) for consumers to assess the quality, behaviour change and selfmanagement potential of LBP self-management apps.

Methods: A two-phase prospective cross-sectional design was used. First, a consumerlevel assessment tool for LBP self-management smartphone apps was co-designed and developed. Consumers and health professionals were invited to participate in four online codesign workshops, underpinned by the Co-KT framework, a five-step knowledge translation framework aimed at co-creating, refining, implementing and evaluating the impact of new knowledge. The second phase pilot tested the tool (LBP-SMART).

Results: Four stakeholders (consumers n=2, health professionals n=2) with the guidance of researchers (n=3) participated in the workshops. The LBP-SMART was developed, consisting of seven categories: 1) Safety; 2) Download process; 3) Look, function and feel; 4) Customisation; 5) Goals and self-monitoring; 6) Enabling sharing and 7) Additional features. Five additional participants pilot tested the LBP-SMART, with all reporting via telephone interview, that the tool was easy to use and understand, and the order and sequencing was appropriate. The LBP-SMART has content validity based on evidence and stakeholder views.

Conclusion: The LBP-SMART guides consumers to choose apps with appropriate quality, and self-management and behaviour change potential features that may improve their LBP outcomes. The tool also may provide a guide for health professionals working with people with LBP.

Keywords: app assessment; low back pain; self-management; behaviour change; consumers; co-design.

Introduction

Low back pain is the leading worldwide cause of disability, posing global health management and economic challenges (Vos et al., 2017). In developed countries, LBP is the largest contributor to the burden of disease (Arora et al., 2016). Current management models are unsustainable in already stretched health systems (AIHW, 2022b; AMA, 2022; Coombs et al., 2021). New accessible and cost-effective modes of LBP management, such as smartphone apps, could address these challenges.

Guideline-based recommendations for LBP self-management can be delivered via digital platforms/apps (Didyk et al., 2022a; Moller et al., 2017). Limited homogeneous highquality research exists (Didyk et al., 2022b), however, LBP self-management apps have shown improvements in health-related outcomes (Thurnheer et al., 2018) such as pain (Cavanagh et al., 2019) and disability (Shebib et al., 2019). Commercially available apps for LBP self-management are of average to good quality, with few apps designed to specifically incorporate features for LBP self-management support and behaviour change (Didyk et al., 2022a).

Self-management and behaviour change may increase adherence to health behaviours to manage LBP (Soderlund & von Heideken Wagert, 2021). Adherence to physical activity and exercise leads to positive pain management outcomes (Soderlund & von Heideken Wagert, 2021). Poor quality app content may adversely impact outcomes (AOV, 2013) and confidence in provision of evidence-based recommendations (Cortez et al., 2014). Knowledge of app quality, prior to download, would allow for greater consumer and health professional (Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021) confidence in self-management and behaviour change outcomes. This may improve health professional recommendation of apps and consumer uptake and adoption (Accenture, 2020).

Regulatory changes (NICE, 2022; WHO, 2018) may improve app quality at the development stage, however, impact to clinical practice will be slower. The Australian Government and Australian Digital Health Agency (ADHA, 2022) have created an assessment framework for mHealth apps, due to be implemented late 2023. The framework provides app developers with guidance on requirements for developing mHealth apps. This voluntary paid four-stage app assessment will result in scores uploaded to a library providing endorsement and star ratings for consumers and health professionals to search and compare apps to aid with choosing credible mHealth apps and encourage use in clinical practice (ADHA, 2022). The rapidly growing field of apps and voluntary nature of assessment does not allow for the timely, informed use of apps. App will continue to be underutilised in healthcare until a more efficient and intuitive app assessment process is in place (Gordon et al., 2020).

Current app assessment tools are designed to be used by researchers or experts, require training to use, (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Stoyanov et al., 2016; Stoyanov et al., 2015) and do not combine all the required components to establish app quality and potential to improve behaviour change and self-management (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Didyk et al., 2022a). The need for multiple tools is time consuming and impractical for consumers and may lead to over reliance on other less accurate subjective measures such as app 'star' ratings (Didyk et al., 2022a). A consumer-level assessment tool (Wicks & Chiauzzi, 2015) could provide quick and easy assessment of app quality and potential to improve self-management and behaviour change. Such a tool would provide rapid

recommendation process and a checklist of required features (Lewis, 2013). This may also minimise liability concerns of health professionals in recommending specific apps (Sarradon-Eck et al., 2021). The development of such a tool should consider the views and opinions of all stakeholders in a co-design process, enabling meaningful consultation and engagement (Slattery et al., 2020) and increasing relevance to end users (Ioannidis, 2016). This process may improve confidence in app quality, potentially increase the recommendation and use of apps, and may result in decreased personal and economic burden.

This study aimed to co-design and pilot test a tool for consumers to assess the quality, behaviour change and self-management potential of LBP self-management apps.

Methods

Design

A two-phase prospective cross-sectional design was used. The first phase involved the co-design and development of a consumer-level assessment tool for LBP selfmanagement apps. The second phase pilot tested the tool. Ethical approval was gained from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (no. 5568). Informed consent was gained from all participants.

Phase 1: Development and co-design of the tool

Participants

Consumers and health professionals were invited to participate in the co-design process. Consumers were recruited through social media (Facebook, LinkedIn), online advertising (Flinders University) and national consumer recruitment groups (South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute Health Translation SA Group and the Consumer and Community Involvement Program WA Health Translation Network). Consumers were eligible if they had lived experience of LBP or as a carer of a person with LBP, and/or used LBP self-management apps, lived in Australia, were aged over 18 years, and had internet access.

Health professionals were recruited through social media, online advertising and musculoskeletal national groups and large multidisciplinary clinics. Health professionals were eligible if they were first point of contact practitioners (Chinese Medicine practitioners, Chiropractors, Exercise Physiologists, General Practitioners, Occupational Therapists, Osteopaths, Physiotherapists, Podiatrists and Psychologists) (AIHW, 2019e; Arthritis Australia, 2016) who had experience in treating people with LBP, lived in Australia, aged over 18 years, and had internet access.

Procedure

Four online co-design workshops were undertaken, underpinned by the first three steps of the Co-KT (Co-creating Knowledge Translation) framework (Kitson et al., 2013) (Figure 1). The co-KT framework is a five step (initial contact and framing the issue; refining and testing knowledge; interpreting, contextualising and adapting knowledge to the local context; implementing and evaluating; embedding and translating of new knowledge into practice) knowledge framework aimed at co-creating, refining, implementing and evaluating the impact of new knowledge (Kitson et al. 2013). This framework was chosen as it aligned with the goals and structure of process undertaken for this study. Consumer and health professional workshops were facilitated online, once per week for four weeks (approx. 1.5 hours each). Separate workshops were undertaken for health professionals and consumers to minimise concern about the perceived power imbalance with health professionals as 'experts' in LBP (Busetto et al., 2020; Femdal & Solbjør, 2018).

Workshop 1: Initial contact and framing the issue

Consistent with Step 1 of the Co-KT framework (Kitson et al., 2013), The code of conduct and expected behaviour for the workshops, the goal of the study and timeframes were outlined. Participants downloaded and used an example target app, TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio (Didyk et al., 2022a), prior to the first workshop. This app is a highly rated example LBP self-management app (Didyk et al., 2022a). Discussion was undertaken in an open and semi-structured format to collect opinions free from bias. Responses were collated under 12 features that incorporated app quality (MARS) (Stoyanov et al., 2015), behaviour change (ABACUS) (McKay et al., 2019) and self-management (SMS-14) (Devan et al., 2019) (Table 1). Outcomes from this workshop formed the outline for the first version of the tool.

Workshops 2 and 3: Knowledge refining and testing

Knowledge refining and testing occurred in workshops 2 and 3, consistent with step two of the Co-KT framework (Kitson et al., 2013). Summaries of previous workshop/s were provided to participants for subsequent workshop/s. Knowledge from the research team, incorporating domains of three tools (MARS, SMS-14, ABACUS) previously used for app assessment (Didyk et al., 2022a), was integrated into workshops 2 and 3. The results of the collated responses were discussed, together with evidence from the literature. Participants were encouraged to interpret, contextualise and adapt their knowledge base (Co-KT Step 3) (Kitson et al., 2013) in the final workshop. At the end of the fourth workshop, a version of the LBP Self-management App Review Tool (LBP-SMART) was finalised.

Figure 6.1.

App Assessment Tool Development Process and Co-design Groups (Based on the Co-KT Framework)



Data analysis

Workshops were audio recorded and transcribed. Participant responses from the structured workshop questions, which aligned with 12 features that incorporated app quality (MARS), behaviour change (ABACUS) and self-management (SMS-14), were collated using inductive coding. The collated responses formed the outline for the first version of the tool and were emailed to participants to inform subsequent workshops. At the completion of each workshop, the information from both consumer and health professional groups was collated to feed back into subsequent workshops, allowing sharing of ideas between groups.

Phase 2: Pilot testing

The co-designed LBP-SMART for consumers to assess app quality and potential for behaviour change and self-management for LBP was pilot tested for usability, clarity and sequencing using specific questions on usability, clarity and sequencing that were asked in semi-structured interviews and self-reported by the participants. Pilot study reporting is based on the consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ-32) (Tong et al. 2007). One member of the research team (Female, PhD Candidate/physiotherapist) was guided and educated by the research team on interview techniques and conducted the telephone interviews which were audio recorded. No previous relationship was established with the participants. The purpose of the study and reasons for the study were presented in the information and consent form. No methodological framework was stated but useability of the tool was the outlined requirement. A convenience sample was used and participants were recruited through social media (Facebook, LinkedIn), online advertising (Flinders University). Data was collected online and via telephone at a convenient time for the participants. Presence of non-participants was not monitored, and demographic data was collected in an online survey. The questions and prompts were guided by the author but not

pilot tested, and no repeat interviews were carried out. Handwritten notes were also taken at the time of the interview as a safeguard for the audio recording but were not required. Transcripts were not provided to participants for review. The interview questions were designed to be answered simply or with either a 'yes' or 'no'. No coding was required, and participants did not provide feedback on the results. Microsoft Excell was used to collate the data. Quotations were not provided, but data and findings were consistent, and themes were not required.

Participants

Participants were eligible to participate in the pilot testing if they had not been involved in Phase 1, lived in Australia, were aged ≥18 years and had internet access. Participants were recruited through social media and online advertising.

Procedure

Participants completed an online demographic survey (LBP experience, access to, and confidence with technology and LBP app use) and downloaded the TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio app on their smartphone or tablet device for the evaluation. Participants assessed the app using the LBP-SMART and shared their thoughts on the app and tool (usability, clarity, sequencing) via individual telephone interviews.

Data analysis

Participant demographics, evaluation and interview responses were collated in Microsoft Excel and analysed descriptively. Feedback on the app assessment tool was incorporated into the tool as appropriate.

Results

Phase 1: Development and co-design of the tool

Participant characteristics

Two consumers and two health professionals consented to participate in Phase 1. Consumer participants (aged 26 and 69 years) had experienced LBP (n=1) and had experience as a carer for someone with LBP (n=1). Health professional participants were physiotherapists with experience (9 years, 22 years) in private, public and education settings.

Consumer participants reported using apps for social media, communication, planning, exercise, mindfulness, wellbeing, spirituality, reading, online banking and booking social activities. Health professional participants used apps for planning, communication, tracking and monitoring, entertainment, and exercise.

Workshop 1:

Participant experiences using the TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio (V1.14.0) app and other apps were collated under the 12 features (from MARS, ABACUS, SMS-14) they

considered important to include in a LBP self-management app. The responses were

collated to develop a preliminary outline of required features for an app assessment tool

(Table 1).

Table 6. 1.

Workshop 1 Findings

Domain	Description	Workshop 1 findings
Engagement	Fun, interesting, customisable, interactive (e.g., sends alerts, messages, reminders, feedback, enables sharing), well-targeted to audience.	 Consumer and Health professional participants liked engagement features such as customisation of notifications and reminders, but disliked pop-ups and signup requirements, as well as overly challenging apps or difficult language. Both consumers and health professionals mentioned data concerns and health professionals disliked regular notification and content heavy apps.
Functionality	App functioning, easy to learn, navigation, flow logic, and gestural design of app.	 Functionality was important to both health professional and consumer participants, particularly ease of use and download speed.
		• Consumers disliked functionality features that were time consuming or added to the mental load of using the app, whilst health professionals disliked features that were not intuitive or apps with too many functions.
Aesthetics	Graphic design, overall visual appeal, colour scheme, and stylistic consistency.	• Consumer participants liked aesthetics features that were appealing to look at, fit the screen, both health professionals and consumers liked apps that were not crowded but health professionals also preferred a mixture of text and visual aesthetic features.
		• Consumers reported disliking aesthetic features that contained overpowering graphics or unappealing app logos, whilst health professionals disliked features that were time consuming and not necessary to the main requirements of the app.
Information	Contains high quality information (e.g. text, feedback, measures, references) from a credible source.	• Evidence based information that aligned with what had been provided by trusted health professionals and that was presented in a variety of ways was liked by consumer participants and health professionals also liked information that was evidence based and consolidated.

Domain	Description	Workshop 1 findings
		• Both consumer and health professional participants disliked information that was overly basic, and consumers also disliked a large amount of text whilst health professionals disliked a low threshold to remove exercises based on pain.
Self-efficacy building	Provision of information on self-management or active coping strategies to improve the ability to control one's behavior— Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) approaches.	 Self-efficacy features were not commented on by consumer or health professional participants in the first workshop.
Self-tailoring	Provision of structured information and self- management support based on the individual symptoms/needs.	 The ability to self-tailor pain thresholds for exercise and physical activity recommendation linking to triage questions was liked by health professionals . Health professionals did not mention any features that they disliked in workshop 1.
		• Consumers did not comment on self-tailoring in workshop 1.
Self- monitoring of symptoms	Capacity to help people to monitor their symptoms (e.g., mood, thoughts, and pain intensity).	• Consumer participants liked self-monitoring of symptoms features that allowed for pain monitoring that was quick and easy to use but that presents the inputted data in greater detail and shows progression to towards set goals, whilst health professionals were not keen on pain monitoring and preferred less focus on pain.
		 However, health professionals liked features that allowed for red flags to be triggered based on medications entered.
		 Neither consumers nor health professionals mentioned any features that they disliked in workshop 1.
Goal setting and planning	Capacity to identify and log meaningful goals (e.g., physical, emotional, social) and track goals.	 Goal setting and planning that included instructions and guidance on goal setting, allowed for goal achievement and provided rewards, was liked by consumers and health professionals.
		 Consumers disliked a lack of rewards for achieving the set goal.
Problem solving	A systematic approach to be aware of and developing a plan for dealing with stressful or challenging situations.	 Problem solving features were not commented on by consumer or health professional participants.
Partnership between views of patient and clinicians	Opportunity to interact with health care provider and involve people with persistent pain in decision making.	 Partnership with clinicians was liked by both consumers and health professionals.

Domain	Description	Workshop 1 findings	
		 Consumers liked features that allowed for low technological sharing of recorded monitoring, that stored or sent electronically, such as screenshots both consumers and health professionals liked fea that allowed for initial consultation either via the ap although a trusted health professionals was prefer 	and itures op
		 Health professionals also liked diagnostic triage or features within the app to trigger the need to be re- by, or connect to, a health professional. 	
		 Neither consumers nor health professionals mention any features that they disliked. 	oned
Social support	Access to a community of persons living with persistent pain.	 Social support options were not considered a nece requirement for consumers or health professionals 	
		 Consumers liked social support options that were or rather than opt out, and with strict privacy features disliked sharing health-based information with an a based community and competition in health care. 	and
Cultural relevance	Reporting of culturally tailored information applicable for diverse ethnic groups.	 Consumers and health professionals both liked cul relevance features that showed relatable body type apps that had the capacity to change language, whe lack of cultural diversity was disliked by consumers 	es, and hilst a

Workshop 2

Workshop two allowed for consolidating and repositioning of categories and the included features, and language modification or simplification. The 12 categories were consolidated into 10 that were identified by participants as requirements in a LBP app assessment tool, including: partnership with health professionals; safety; download process; look, feel, and function; customisation; goals; information; self-monitoring of symptoms; enabling sharing and self-tailoring. Neither consumer or health professional participants had any additions to the summary of the first workshop. Scaling of the categories was briefly discussed. At the completion of the second workshop, eight categories for the app assessment tool had been developed (Table 2).

Table 6. 2.

Workshop 2 Findings

Domain	Description	Workshop 2 findings
Introductory Statement	Initial statement outlining recommendations at the beginning of the tool rather than an app requirement	The 'Partnership with health professionals' evolved into recommendations at the beginning of the tool rather than a requirement of the app. As a result of discussions, an initial question 'Is the app right for you?' was added to the tool. This point directs users to question if app use if appropriate for them and seek oversight from a trusted health professional if they are unsure.
		 It is recommended that, prior to using an app, you seek advic and oversight from a trusted health professional on: If the app suits your needs and initial setup Managing possible risks to your health e.g., situations to avoid/aggravating factors Guidance and planning for changes to your symptom Consequences of participation/using the app Recommendations and suggestions to achieve your goals Particularly if you have other conditions that may affect your ability to exercise or use the app.
Safety	Questions that help to tailor the app to the individual's health needs. Privacy – comply with information security and data protection standards	 Safety was discussed. Health professional participants shared concerns about patient safety, with privacy considered to be important by both consumers and health professionals. Consumer participants reported the importance of having trusted health professional guidance or oversight.
Download process	Quick and easy to download	-
Look, feel and function	Look nice, functions well, easy to use, layout	-
Customisation	Exercises and activities, scheduling of notifications, connection and ability to sync, spam, advertising and emails, look of app – relatable representation	 Customisation of features such as exercises, flare-ups an notifications was reported as important by both consumer and health professionals. Self-tailoring was incorporated into the customisation, information self-monitoring of symptoms categories
Goals	Option to set goals and pause goals, option to track goals and progress, option for in app chat function	 The ability to set and pause goals was also considered an important feature by both consumers and health professionals.
Information	Options for amount and type of information, week by week plan of how activities can change over time	 High quality information presented in various formats was valued by both consumers and health professionals. The self-tailoring category was incorporated into the safet and information categories.

Domain	Description	Workshop 2 findings
Self- monitoring of symptoms	Pain scale, feedback and guidance when red flags are triggered	 Although self-monitoring of pain symptoms was considered important by consumers, health professionals were concerned about the potential for pain to be a main focus.
Enabling sharing	Ability to interact with a community	 Both consumers and health professionals agreed that an option to share with a community was appropriate with the ability to decide how much data was shared.

Workshop 3

The third workshop incorporated discussion around the initial stages of creating a scale with differing levels for each category. At the completion of the third workshop the tool had been refined, wording had been simplified and reduced to minimise user fatigue and a scale had been developed (Table 3).

Table 6. 3.

Workshop	31	Find	lings
----------	----	------	-------

Domain	Description	Workshop 3 findings
Introductory statement	Initial statement outlining recommendations at the beginning of the tool rather than an app requirement	Consumers suggested that the suitability and set-up of the app should be in the same section, whilst both consumers and health professionals discussed the wording of the recommendations.
Safety	 Questions that help to tailor the app to the individual's health needs Feedback and guidance when specific symptoms that require medical follow- up are triggered Safety warning Privacy 	 The wording and layout of the safety category was discussed by both consumers and health professionals to better refine the category. Consumers and health professionals had differing opinions on the Privacy category. Consumers valued an opt in approach rather than opt out, whilst health professionals decided that the privacy category should be driven by consumers not health professionals.
Download process	Quick and easy to download	• The download section was considered appropriate by both consumers and health professionals.
Look, feel and function	 Looks nice Functions well, easy to use Layout Spam, advertising 	 This category was considered acceptable, but greater refinement, detail and scale ideas were added.

Domain	Description	Workshop 3 findings
Customisation	 Exercises and activities Tailoring of notifications and emails Look of app – representation of people in the app 	• This category was considered acceptable, but greater refinement, detail and scale ideas were added.
	 Optional extras: Option for feedback Yes/No Option to opt out – Yes/No Connection and ability to sync to other devices or programs 	
Goals and self- monitoring of symptoms	 Option to set goals Option to pause goals Option to track progress and symptoms Feedback and guidance when specific symptoms that require medical follow- up are triggered 	 The goals and self-monitoring of symptoms categories were combined. Greater refinement, detail and scale ideas were added.
	Scale – may be binary Yes/No on features	
Information	• Options for amount and type of information	 This category was considered acceptable, but greater refinement, detail and scale ideas were added.
Enabling sharing	• Ability to interact with others via the app	 This category was considered acceptable, but greater refinement, detail and scale ideas were added.

Workshop 4

Minor changes were made to the tool, concentrating on simplifying wording.

Participants collectively agreed to remove 'initial setup' from the recommendation section,

left the remaining categories the same and the level of detail in the tool was collectively

considered appropriate. The 'optional extras' category was changed to 'additional features'

and scaled as either 'yes' or 'no'. Scale options were refined to simplify wording and scale

differentiation, and consumers considered symbols to be quicker and easier to understand

than text options. A 'thumb up, neutral, down' system replaced the scale options of 'very good, acceptable, not good'. Overall, participants reported they enjoyed the co-design experience, felt that they contributed and were happy with the final product.

An initial version of the LBP Self-Management App Review Tool (LBP-SMART) was developed (Table 4). The tool consisted of 31 items, assessed self-management, behaviour change, quality and additional features, and used a simple 'thumb up, neutral, down' system for rating each item.

Table 6. 4.

LBP Self-Management App Review Tool (LBP-SMART)



It is recommended that, prior to using an app, you seek advice and oversight from a trusted health professional on:

- If the app suits your needs
- Managing possible risks to your health eg. situations to avoid/aggravating factors
- Guidance and planning for changes to your symptoms
- Benefits and cautions of using the app
- Recommendations and suggestions to achieve your goals

Particularly if you have other conditions that may affect your ability to exercise or use the app.

Safety				
1. Questions that help to tailor t	he app to the individual's health r	needs		
1.1. Thorough, relevant personalised health analysis questions	Somewhat personalised - Some standard non-specific health questions	Not personalised at all - limited, general or irrelevant health questions		
	-	?		
1.2. Information collected is used to customise effective and safe exercise prescription	Exercises somewhat customised	Exercises not customised		
.4	-	?		

1.3. Information is continually used	General progressions - some data	General exercises without tailoring
to update the exercises according	used but not tailored to the person	the person
to the person's needs		
	-	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
2. Feedback and swidenes when a		lical fallow up are triggered
	pecific symptoms that require med	
Lists specific symptoms that	Outlines general symptoms and	No specific symptoms or guidance
require further health professional	provides limited guidance for	provided
follow-up	follow-up	
	-	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
2. Osfaturare in a		(
3. Safety warning	O a second a state of the second seco	
Specific safety warning and	General safety warning before	No safety warning
checklist to clear that you are safe	exercising	
to exercise		
		-
.4		
4. Additional features:	Yes	NO
A registered medical device		
		(
5. Privacy		
Range of control and	Limited control and customisation	No customisation
customisation of your own data	of your own data	
	-	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
C. Additional factures: Comply	Yes	Ne
6. Additional features: Comply	Yes	No
with information security and data		
protection standards		
Privacy policy		
Download process		
7. Download process	Oleve to deverte ad and/ an with	Clow to download and/or major
Quick and easy to download	Slow to download and/ or with	Slow to download and/or major
without issues	minor issues	issues
		—
.4		
Look function and fact		•
Look, function and feel		
8. Looks nice	Computed appeding a computed	Not opposing and readows
Appealing- modern, colourful and	Somewhat appealing - somewhat	Not appealing - not modern,
professional. App logo is related,	modern, somewhat professional	professional or colourful, logo is
colourful and easy to identify	looking, app logo is related to	hard to identify
	content	
	-	—
.4		
Q Eunotiono well escute was	•	[] []] []] []]] []] []]] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] []] [] []] [
9. Functions well, easy to use	l imited avidence	No guidonas
Guidance on app gestures for use	Limited guidance	No guidance
when required, know where you		
need to go next		
	-	
. 4		
	-	•

10. Layout	A four footures but not all	Not many factures
Range of layout features eg.	A few features but not all	Not many features
essential content on initial screen,		
easy to navigate menus, not		
overcrowded, fit the layout of		
screen		
<u> </u>	-	_
11. Spam, advertising Ability to be turned off	Limited ability to be turned off	No ability to be turned off
Ability to be turned off	Limited ability to be turned on	No ability to be turned on
.4	-	# •
Customisation		
12. Exercises and activities		
12.1. Range of appropriate	Limited range of exercise and/or	Fixed set of exercises and/ or
exercises and ability to pick and	options to adapt	limited options to adapt
choose		
· É	🚽	7
12.2. Range of activities and	Limited range of activities and/ or	No activities and/ or limited
ability to pick and choose eg.	limited options to adapt	options to adapt
emotional wellness, mindfulness,		
relaxation, breathing		
relaxation, breathing		
L		
		7
12.3. Ability to modify the	Limited ability to modify the	No ability to modify the activities/
activities/ exercises according to	activities/ exercises	exercises
the individual's needs eg. type,		
amount and frequency		
· ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
12.4. Range of formats available -	limited range of formats available	Only one format available
video, written, verbal, pictorial		,
	-	
		
13. Tailoring of notifications and e		
Ability to customise the type and	Able to have notifications but can't	No option to turn off notifications
amount of information provided	customise	or customise
_ _	🔚	# 1
		7
14. Look of app - representation o		Nie entique to constant to the total
Range of options to customise	Limited options to customise the	No options to customise the look
avatar and or images eg. age,	look	
gender, level of fitness, body		
shape, clothing, culture, language		
	_	
)		
1		
15. Additional features:	Yes	No
15. Additional features: Option for feedback	Yes	No
	Yes	No

16. Additional features:	Yes	No		
Option for feedback				
Option to opt out	.	••• •		
Additional features:		•		
17. Connection and ability to sync	to other devices or programs			
Range of options for connections and syncing	Limited options	No options		
.	-	7		
Goals and self-monitoring	_			
18. Option to set goals				
Set goals with guidance	Set goals but no guidance	No option to set goals		
	-	? !		
19. Option to pause goals				
Without resetting to baseline	Option to pause goals but resets to baseline	No option to pause goals		
1	-	7		
20. Option to track progress and s	symptoms			
20.1. Progress reports - with	Progress reports - no or complex	No progress reports		
simple visual representation of	and difficult to understand visual			
progress eg. graph, interactive, targets, rewards or gamification	Representation			
1 6				
20.2. Tracking of different measures eg. pain, exercise tolerance, wellbeing, function, sleep, stress, readiness for change	One or more outcomes measured but not tracked over time	Not measured		
1	-	? !		
20.3. Tracking with scale and text description	Tracking with scale only	No scale		
1	-	7		
21. Options for amount and type of	of information Topics			
	-			
 Pain education – mild pain and e Medication use 	exercise Activity pacing			
 Problem solving – dealing with c 	hanges to your symptoms			
 Thought and behavioural management 				
Wellbeing				
Distraction techniques				
Types				
• blog, video, written				

Levels		
 basics evidence summary links to research 		
Self-tailoring of relevant, general information supported by research with different topics, types and levels	Limited generic information supported by research – not specific or tailored	No information or information not supported by research
	-	?
Enabling sharing		
22. Additional features: Option	Yes	No
for in app data sharing		
Option to switch off	li 🖉	- -
23. Additional features: Option	Yes	No
for progress sharing with app		
community		
Option to switch off		7
24. Additional features: Option to	Yes	No
connect to social support group		
(blog)		
 Option to switch off personal data sharing 		7
Features:		•
Self-management – Items 2,3,18, 20	.2. 20.3. 21. 24	
Behaviour change – Items 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 12-15, 17, 19, 20, 23		
Quality – Items 5, 7-11		
Additional features – Items 4, 6, 16, 22		

Phase 2 – Pilot study

Thirteen people consented to participate in the pilot study. Of these, seven completed the app assessment using the tool, and five underwent the interview process. Interviews took less than 10 minutes on average and saturation was reached with the five interviews. The results in this section are therefore reported as a percentage of the total number who completed each individual item or completed the section of the app assessment.

Participant characteristics

Participants (n=7) were aged 33.7 (\pm 16.2) years (18 to 60 years), 86% were female and most had university level education (86%). Most had access to an android phone (86%, n=6) and most (71%, n=5) rated themselves very confident using smartphone/tablet devices and had used smartphone/tablet apps (100%, n=7). All participants had experienced LBP (100%, n=7), 14% (n=1) had used apps to self-manage LBP and reported self-managing their LBP moderately well. The main reasons for not using apps were lack of knowledge (100%, n=6).

Usability, clarity and sequencing of the LBP-SMART

All participants (100%, n=5) reported that the app assessment tool was easy to use, had no difficulties understanding any areas of the tool, felt the order and sequencing was appropriate, and no areas required modification. Most (60%, n=3) reported that the wording was clear and easy to understand, and all (100%, n=5) agreed on the meaning of the thumb icons.

TrackActive Me: Virtual Physio app assessment using the LBP-SMART

All participants (100%, n=5) reported the app was 'good' and rated it at least 7/10 overall. The quality features were rated most highly by participants. Behaviour change features were rated the second highest, followed by self-management and additional features. All participants (100%, n=7) reported a thumbs up for the download process and layout category. The lowest rated quality feature was the 'looks nice' category (look, function and feel) where 71% (n=5) of participants felt the app was appealing, modern,

colourful and professional. The lowest rated behaviour change feature was the safety category with 43% (n=3) of participants reporting the questions asked within the app helped tailor to the individual's health needs and that the information collected was used to customise effective and safe exercises prescription. All participants (100%, n=7) reported that the app had the behaviour change feature of customisation of exercises and activities, with a range of activities and the ability to pick and choose. Most (86%, n=6) reported that the self-management feature of goals and self-monitoring, with the option to track progress and symptoms with progress reports such as simple visual representation, were available through the app. The lowest rated self-management feature where only 50% (n=3) reported that the additional feature of enabling sharing, that allowed connection to a social support group but with the option to switch off personal data sharing, was available. All participants (100%, n=6) reported additional features of privacy policy and complies with information security and data protection standards. However, 71% (n=5) of participants reported that the option for feedback with the option to opt-out was available.

As a result of the pilot testing no further modifications were made to the LBP-SMART content, however, suggestions were made regarding the formatting for clarity.

Discussion

Self-management is a key component of LBP management, allowing people to take control of their condition. Smartphone apps have great potential to assist with the selfmanagement of LBP. However, this potential can only be realised if apps are accessed and used. Choosing an appropriate app with the required quality, self-management and behaviour change features, can be challenging (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Didyk et al., 2022a; Nouri et al., 2018; Stoyanov et al., 2016; Wicks & Chiauzzi, 2015). To date, efforts to regulate the quality of available apps have focused on developers, researchers and regulators (ADHA, 2022; Stoyanov et al., 2015). Although some consumer level app assessment tools exist (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Levine et al., 2020; Stoyanov et al., 2016), there is currently no single tool available for consumers that assesses quality, self-management and behaviour change potential (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021). Recent systematic reviews reported most available rating tools assess app usability, intended for developer use, or quality, intended for health professional use, and few provided guidance on assessing self-management or behaviour change potential (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Nouri et al., 2018). The need for consumer and health professional app assessment education has been highlighted (Lewis, 2013; Wicks & Chiauzzi, 2015) and the creation of a tool (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Lewis, 2013; Nouri et al., 2018) based on frameworks and classifications of app evaluation and consumer experience has been suggested as a solution (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Nouri et al., 2021; Nouri et al., 2018).

Many research tools exist for app quality assessment for a range of conditions (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Baumel et al. 2017; Nouri et al., 2018), as well as separate assessment tools for app behaviour change (McKay et al., 2019; McMillan et al., 2016) and self-management potential (Devan et al., 2019). However, to the best of our knowledge, the LBP-SMART is the first co-designed consumer-level app assessment tool that does not require specific training to use such as the research-level MARS (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Stoyanov et al., 2016). Although reliable (Didyk et al., 2022a; Stoyanov et al., 2015), the MARS has a training package (Stoyanov, 2016) and is time consuming, complex (Didyk et al., 2022a) and not easy for consumers to use. The codesigned LBP-SMART assesses app quality, self-management and behaviour change potential and is divided into seven main categories: 1) Safety; 2) Download process; 3) Look, function and feel; 4) Customisation; 5) Goals and self-monitoring; 6) Enabling sharing and 7) Additional features. The findings from the pilot study suggest the LBP-SMART is clear, well organised and easy to use and understand. The tool fills the need identified for consumer and health professional app assessment education (Lewis, 2013; Wicks & Chiauzzi, 2015) with a consumer-level tool based on frameworks and classifications of app evaluation and consumer experience (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Lewis, 2013; Nouri et al., 2018).

The benefits of using a co-design process to develop the tool is the ability to guide the inclusion of each category for assessment based on what the consumers and health professionals considered important. Additionally, it was based in knowledge of the literature, supplied by the contribution of the research team and previous work completed in this area (Devan et al., 2019; Didyk et al., 2022a; McKay et al., 2019; Stoyanov et al., 2015).

Future research is required to complete the final two steps of the Co-KT framework (step 4) implementation and evaluation and embedding in context, translating to other contexts (step 5), to determine the most appropriate method of dissemination, and the usability of the tool in this and other communities. This is of particular interest in primary care, with first point of contact health professionals for LBP management, where uptake could impact clinical care. The use of the COnsensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement Instruments (COSMIN) guidelines could potentially be used in the future for content validity.

Strengths and limitations

This study had numerous methodological strengths. A robust co-design process was used and based on the Co-KT theoretical framework (Kitson et al., 2013). Previous literature and the research team's preliminary work (Didyk et al., 2022a, 2022b) were used to guide the workshops, allowing for a high level of confidence in the results. Recruitment was undertaken nationally, and the included workshop participants enabled coverage of both consumer and heath professional views. Co-design stakeholders completed all workshops, and an appropriate number of participants was recruited for initial pilot testing. The LBP-SMART has content validity based on evidence and confirmed with co-design participant views that represented key stakeholders. However, it is unable to be evaluated against a 'gold-standard' tool. Reliability needs to be explored in future work. There were also some limitations. Despite extensive recruitment efforts for Phase 1, the number of participants involved was small. This was mitigated by the highly engaged participants and the use of the online pilot study participants to provide more demographically diverse additional feedback and experience. The initial version of the LBP-SMART did not allow users to de-select a response in the pilot testing, resulting in multiple responses for some categories. The tool was designed for LBP apps and may not be transferrable to other conditions, communities or countries. However, it is likely that all sections are generalisable to pain related apps. Aside from section 1.2 and 12.1, that are exercise specific, it is likely that all other sections are transferable to many health apps, however, this requires further exploration.

This study co-designed and pilot tested LBP-SMART, a tool for consumers to assess app quality, behaviour change and self-management potential. The tool has great potential to improve app uptake by consumers and confidence of health professionals in recommending apps. Further work is required to implement and evaluate the tool for people with LBP, and, if successful, translate the findings broadly at a population-level.

Chapter Seven – Discussion

This program of research was conducted across four studies. The first study (study 1, chapter 2) aimed to report on the current evidence of effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP. A systematic review of the literature found that the evidence for the effectiveness of smartphone apps in the self-management of LBP is limited, with methodological biases in selection, performance, detection and attrition and mixed results and provides inconclusive evidence for the use of apps for the selfmanagement of LBP. The second study (study 2, chapter 3) aimed to systematically assess the availability, content, and quality of commercially available, self-contained smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP in adults, and explore the associations between quality, in-app user ratings and cost. A systematic assessment found that smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP, that function with or without health professional input were numerous, of average to good quality, with poor engagement ratings and marginal levels of self-management and behaviour change support. The third study (study 3 (consumers), chapter 4) aimed to investigate the self-efficacy and self-management practises of people with LBP, as well as explore the use and preferences for smartphone app use for selfmanagement. An on online consumer survey found that overall, most Australian adults with LBP have above average self-efficacy and self-manage moderately well. Early intervention is important due to the relationship between duration and recurrence of LBP and lower selfefficacy. Smartphone apps were only used by a small proportion of people with LBP as an adjunct to other management options, with lack of knowledge as a perceived barrier. All consumer app users had LBP and most found that app use helped improve their LBP. The third study (study 3 (health professionals), chapter 5) aimed to investigate health

professionals' use, barriers, confidence and preferences for technology and smartphone apps to assist clients with self-managing LBP. An online health professional survey found that health professionals have limited knowledge of LBP guidelines, do not recommend LBP self-management apps due to a lack of knowledge of their effectiveness and those that do recommend apps are confident with app choice, recommendation and app quality assessment. The final study in this program of research (study 4, chapter 6) aimed to codesign and pilot test a tool to assess the quality of low back pain self-management apps and behaviour change and self-management potential, with a group of health professionals and consumers. A co-designed app assessment tool was developed that allows for quick and easy evaluation of currently available LBP self-management apps by consumers and health professionals to increase adoption of app use.

The overall aim of this program of research was to evaluate the use of commercially available LBP self-management smartphone apps, by consumers and health professionals, to better guide implementation and adoption of app use into LBP management. This discussion will step back from the program of research and consider the bigger picture. It will reflect on what is currently known, what was found through this research, what is still not known and what the next steps might be. The areas of self-management and the codesigned app assessment tool, apps for LBP self-management, the evidence underpinning apps, and finally, health professional and consumer education, will be discussed to explain the current landscape around LBP management and app use. Finally, recommendations for researchers, app developers, government, education providers, consumers and health professionals are presented.

Self-management

Self-management is considered best practice to improve outcomes for people with LBP (Foster et al., 2018) and the overarching non-invasive recommendation in LBP clinical guidelines (NICE, 2016; Bernstein et al., 2017; Meroni et al., 2021). Self-management has been shown to reduce pain intensity and disability in people with LBP (Du et al., 2017) and aims to develop a person's ability to manage day-to-day and improve quality of life (Lorig & Holman, 2003). Many studies have explored interventions for people with LBP that incorporate principles of self-management, exercise and active rehabilitation (Baena-Beato et al., 2014; Du et al., 2017; Elbers et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2015; Monro et al., 2015; Moon et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2014). Self-management interventions should provide encouragement to continue with normal activities, information on the nature of LBP and tailored advice to guide self-management (NICE, 2016). Self-management recommendations may differ for each person with LBP and are dependent on the person's capabilities and preferences (NICE, 2016).

Consumer self-management differs for everyone. Self-management is impacted by biopsychosocial factors (Banerjee et al., 2022) and individual self-management and selfefficacy capacity, preferences, needs and personality traits, also require consideration in behaviour change interventions (Stieger et al., 2020). This program of research found that most Australian adults with LBP self-managed moderately well and had above average selfefficacy (Study 3, chapter 4). Those with higher self-management were female, with increasing age, lower severity of LBP and higher traits in personality domains aside from agreeableness. Conscientiousness, emotional stability and openness personality traits, play a role in self-management and self-efficacy. Although apps may not be appropriate for everyone experiencing LBP, recent data shows that over half of consumers are willing to receive digital health care from their usual healthcare providers (Accenture, 2020). Despite this, smartphone apps were only used by a small number of people with LBP, as an adjunct to other management options such as exercise, medication and physiotherapy. Those with lower personality trait scores had associated lower self-efficacy, consistent with previous studies (Ambiel & Noronha, 2016; Brown & Cinamon, 2016; Delgado-Rodríguez et al., 2018; Hayat et al., 2020), and apps may provide an adjunct to assist with improving self-management. However, in line with previous research, those with higher personality trait scores, self-efficacy and self-management, self-managed well (Burgess et al., 2010) perhaps without the need for adjunct self-management options such as apps. This research highlighted the importance of assessing the individual personality traits of people with LBP, to identify those who may benefit most from LBP self-management apps.

Health professional recommendation for use of self-management options in LBP is imperative to improving outcomes (Foster et al., 2018). International studies have explored self-management of LBP to address current clinical practice and increase self-management (Adam et al., 2020; Banerjee et al., 2022; Chala et al., 2022; Kongsted et al., 2021). Apps offer a novel self-management option that may address the personal and economic burden of LBP, increase accessibility to health management guidance and decrease health inequality. Health professionals are in a position of power and their opinions and recommendations are valued by consumers (Accenture, 2020; Deloitte, 2018). Surprisingly, very few health professionals were able to correctly identify LBP guideline self-management recommendations, however, this is consistent with previous research (Slade et al., 2016). This lack of knowledge of current guidelines presents a challenge for health professionals to effectively manage people with LBP. This is of particular importance in return-to-work

facilitation as LBP is a leading cause of early retirement in Australia and impacts retirement wealth levels (Schofield et al., 2012). Although health professionals may choose not to follow LBP self-management clinical guideline recommendations, they should be aware of them.

Interventions for self-management

The most beneficial self-management interventions are targeted and personalised to specific groups of people (Banerjee et al., 2022). Demonstrating this, the World Health Organisation (2022) encouraged the research development of self-management toolkits for health and well-being and launched a guideline for self-care interventions (WHO, 2022). One of the greatest Australian success public health self-care campaigns was undertaken to prevent skin cancer (Public Health Association Australia [PHAA], 2018). The 'slip, slop, slap' campaign was successful in targeting consumer education, from schools to workplaces, with a variety of educational resources, including sun awareness packs, to decrease sun exposure and seek medical checks (PHAA, 2018). The consumer education campaign successfully reduced melanoma incidence rates in Australia (AIHW, 2022c). Due to the prevalence of LBP, a tool kit specific for LBP supplied in primary care, could provide self-management advice. The tool kit could include evidence-based information and guidance on the nature of LBP, when to seek health professional assistance, pain education, and options for self-management, such as activity maintenance and LBP selfmanagement apps. Such a toolkit could be a valuable population based public health selfmanagement education option. This may require changes in health policy but could provide large scale LBP self-management education to both health professionals and consumers. The toolkit could provide an efficient, low burden, evidence based clinical care process for

LBP management. Although LBP toolkits are available to educate primary care providers (NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation [NSWACI], 2016; Royal Australian College of General Practitioners [RACGP], 2013), mainly GPs, practice nurse and physiotherapists, they are not designed to be supplied to consumers for consumer education. Although the toolkits encourage provision of patient education which may include electronic education packs, what is included in the education packs is at the discretion of each primary care practice (NSWACI, 2016). Placing the onus on individual primary care practices to sift through the dearth of available information and choose consumer appropriate education materials may result in the provision of non-comprehensive consumer education and an increased workload for practices. People experiencing LBP would be provided with the toolkit if they presented to their primary care health professional for LBP management. This type of largescale public health option could effectively educate the population on LBP self-management and encourage implementation of low cost, scalable self-management options such as apps. Although guidance and LBP management education exists for primary care providers (RACGP, 2013) to the best of our knowledge, no such guidance and education toolkit for people with LBP currently exists in Australia. Future work is needed to co-design, test and implement such a toolkit.

Apps

This program of research demonstrated that both health professionals and consumers lacked knowledge about apps for the self-management of LBP, and this was a barrier for recommendation by health professionals (Study 3, chapters 4-5). The apps used by health professionals and consumers differed, were not condition-specific apps for LBP self-management and did not align with those assessed in this program of research as they

did not meet the inclusion criteria (Studies 1-2, chapters 2-3). Considering health professional lack of knowledge of clinical guidelines, it is understandable that consumers and health professionals may not have chosen apps based on the clinical guideline recommendations that made up the inclusion criteria for the systematic review and assessment (Studies 1-2, chapters 2-3). This program of research has provided a greater understanding on consumer and health professional behaviour around app choice and use. Consumers and health professionals both valued behaviour change app features that included monitoring, advice, goal setting, prompts and social support options (Studies 3-4, chapters 4-6). However, consumer app choice seemed based around specific personal requirements from the apps, such as exercise, information or tracking. In contrast, health professionals chose non-specific apps with a broader reach that could be tailored to the consumers' specific management requirements, such as exercise and education. The reasons why health professionals and consumers do not choose condition-specific apps remains unclear and requires further investigation. It is possible that factors such as the cost or the capacity to be tailored across a range of conditions influence these decisions.

Inconsistent with previous literature recommendations, consumers in this research chose apps to self-manage LBP that were not condition specific (Elbers et al., 2018) (Study 3, chapter 4). Despite this lack of app specificity for LBP, and in contrast to previous literature (Elbers et al., 2018), users self-managed moderately well with apps, and found them to be at least moderately effective in all phases of LBP management but extremely effective whilst experiencing LBP. Consumers also reported that their chosen apps contained multiple self-management and behaviour change features. These results suggest that generalised apps with appropriate self-management and behaviour change features may be sufficient for consumers to perceive app effectiveness for LBP self-management.

Health professionals lacked knowledge of LBP self-management apps (Study 3, chapter 5). It is probable that the lack of knowledge around apps for the self-management of LBP impeded recommendation by health professionals. However, a higher number of Australian health professionals recommended apps compared to current trends (Accenture, 2020). Physiotherapists with less than 10 years experience, who personally used healthy lifestyle apps were most likely to recommend apps. Perhaps those newer to the workforce may have greater technology literacy (Keep et al., 2021) and a combination of technology literacy and clinical practical skills and knowledge to incorporate technology more easily into client care (Konttila et al., 2019). Aligned with generational trends, it is also likely that the younger generation are more comfortable with using (Keep et al., 2021) and recommending technology in the workplace (Byambasuren et al., 2020). Those who recommended apps did so for health education, health promotion and LBP self-management and were confident in choosing/recommending apps and assessing app quality. Guideline-based recommendations for LBP self-management can be delivered via digital platforms such as apps (Didyk et al., 2022a, 2022b; Moller et al., 2017). LBP self-management apps have shown improvements in health-related outcomes (Thurnheer et al., 2018) such as pain (Cavanagh et al., 2019) and disability (Shebib et al., 2019). However, limited homogeneous high-quality research exists (Didyk et al., 2022b).

Evidence for app use

Health professionals required evidence of effectiveness to recommend apps to their clients with LBP (Study 3, chapter 5). This program of research demonstrated that evidence regarding app effectiveness is limited and challenging to find. In Study 1, we found only a

small number of studies including apps which met our inclusion criteria (Study 1, chapter 2). In addition, the majority of these apps were developed and used specifically for the research studies, rather than being publicly available, making the evidence difficult to translate into everyday clinical practice and management of LBP in the general population. While we concluded that there is limited evidence for app use for the self-management of LBP, this is mainly due to the lack of research, and heterogeneity of studies, rather than a lack of app effectiveness. There is also a clear need for studies to investigate the effectiveness of commercially available apps for the self-management of LBP. When we explored commercially available apps for the self-management of LBP, we found that none of the identified commercially available apps had been tested (aside from the Selfback app, where consumers could still only access the guest version) (Study 2, chapter 3). This lack of rigorous testing may result in poor health professional confidence in recommending such apps to consumers. There may also be a perceived lack of control from health professionals in recommending commercially available apps, with developers able to make updates and changes to apps without health professionals' knowledge.

There is a clear need for rigorous RCTs exploring the effectiveness of commercially available apps for the self-management of LBP. However, it is acknowledged that the time and cost associated with undertaking RCTs for each available app, or even specific apps, makes this level of evidence challenging to obtain (Patrick et al., 2016; Murray et al., 2016). This is also particularly challenging given the fast rate that apps are added, updated or removed from app stores (IQVIA Institute for Human Data Science (IQVIA), 2021; Larsen et al., 2016; Patrick et al., 2016). Perhaps alternative testing methods may be more appropriate, such as collecting outcome data from app use in real-time, as part of the care model, which would contribute to knowledge of app effectiveness. Unfortunately, this places the burden on already overburdened health professionals. Alternatively, opportunities to influence app development could result in apps that contain guideline based selfmanagement and behaviour change features that can improve self-management. Conversely, this also raises the question of whether evidence is required for specific apps. Evidence based clinical guidelines also recommend self-management for LBP and perhaps this level of evidence may be enough evidence for their use and potential to improve outcomes. Apps have shown capacity to improve pain (Bailey et al., 2020; Cavanagh et al., 2019; Thurnheer et al., 2018) and disability outcomes (Shebib et al., 2019) or at least provide similar pain outcomes compared to physiotherapy, for people with LBP (Lara-Palomo et al., 2022; Stark et al., 2022). Perhaps evidence of effectiveness of the healthy lifestyle behaviour that the app promotes, such as exercise for LBP, is sufficient to promote app use. Additionally, if health professionals are confident that consumer use of these apps is low risk, then the potential benefits of use far outweigh the risks to recommendation.

The role of education for self-management

This program of research has demonstrated that health professionals lack knowledge of evidence based self-management options for LBP and may use options that are low quality or not recommended (Study 3, chapter 5). Additionally, both health professionals and consumers lacked knowledge of apps for the self-management of LBP which limits the uptake of a self-management option that is easy to access, cost effective and scalable (Study 3, chapters 4-5).

Consumer education regarding self-management options for LBP is required to improve outcomes (ACSQHC, 2022b; Foster et al., 2018). As consumers look to trusted
health professionals for guidance (Accenture, 2020) it is important to educate health professionals on options for LBP self-management (ACSQHC, 2022b) such as apps so that they can best guide consumers. Additionally, providing consumers with evidence-based guidance for LBP self-management may improve LBP outcomes (ACSQHC, 2022b). Sixteen percent of Australians experience LBP and consumer education may assist in reducing the fear associated with LBP, fear avoidance behaviour, pain, disability and progression to chronicity that can result from incorrect beliefs and conflicting advice (Bunzli et al., 2017). Health professionals are also required to follow codes of conduct that require the use of evidence-based practice (Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency [AHPRA], 2023). There may be potential insurance implications where verification of evidence-based care, consistent with clinical guidelines may be required to be provided to health insurers.

Health professionals may consider guidelines to be restrictive on clinical reasoning, professional autonomy and patient empowerment (Slade et al., 2016). However, guideline-based recommendations are considered best practice to improve outcomes for people with LBP (Foster et al., 2018) and should be embedded into clinical practice. The lack of knowledge around LBP self-management guideline recommendations is concerning considering the prevalence and impact of LBP globally. The reasons why health professionals are unaware of LBP clinical guideline self-management recommendations are not clear (Slade et al., 2016). The limited implementation of guidelines is generic across health care (Foster et al., 2018; Qumseya et al., 2021), and guideline-based LBP management is also complicated by the range of attitudes and beliefs of the many different primary care health professionals that manage LBP (Slade et al., 2016).

It is possible that primary care health professionals are not exposed to guidelines throughout their entry-level training, or ongoing professional development (Derghazarian & Simmonds, 2011; Qumseya et al., 2021; Synnott et al., 2015) and this should be addressed in entry-level and continuing education for health professionals involved in the management of people with LBP (Hush & Alison, 2011). Changes in accreditation for health professions may be required to ensure entry level programs of study are providing the required knowledge and skills that align with guidelines and that accredited continuing education programs of study are also meeting these competencies. Additionally, education around apps could be provided at entry-level training level, or as part of continuing education for those that have graduated. Exposing health professionals to technologies such as apps could encourage use and make incorporating them into client care easier.

How can consumers choose and assess apps for LBP selfmanagement?

Apps have been shown to improve pain (Bailey et al., 2020; Cavanagh et al., 2019; Thurnheer et al., 2018) and disability outcomes for people with LBP (Shebib et al., 2019). The Australian government has implemented an app assessment framework (ADHA, 2022), placing the onus on app developers to nominate their apps for assessment and cover the costs for this service. The process can be lengthy and costly and may impact the number of apps that are assessed. These factors may limit the transferability to practice and usefulness for consumers and health professionals.

Many research tools exist for app quality assessment (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Lewis, 2013), as well as some separate tools for app behaviour change (McKay et al., 2019; McMillan et al., 2016) and self-management potential assessment (Devan et al., 2019). The MARS is a widely used reliable app quality assessment tool (Azad-Khaneghah et al., 2021; Didyk et al., 2022a; Stoyanov et al., 2016; Stoyanov et al., 2015). However, the MARS is a research level tool that has a training package (Stoyanov, 2016), is time consuming, complex (Didyk et al., 2022a) and is not easy for consumers to access or use. Although apps currently available in the app stores have not been tested, some apps contain self-management and behaviour change features that may improve LBP outcomes (Study 2, chapter 3). Interestingly, consumers and health professionals have different criteria and place importance on different features when choosing apps (Studies 3-4, chapters 4-6). The app assessment tool (Study 5, chapter 6) that was co-designed and created as part of this program of research collated consumer and health professional views (Study 5, chapter 6), to educate and guide both consumers and health professionals in appropriate app choices for LBP self-management. The tool contains quality, selfmanagement and behaviour change feature categories to assist health professionals to provide guidance to consumers on appropriate app choice that may improve LBP outcomes. The pilot testing confirmed ease of use and showed the tools capacity to highlight similar app features as app assessment tools designed for researchers (Didyk et al., 2022a).

Improving LBP self-management knowledge and self-management behaviours is crucial to improving outcomes for people with LBP. The tool offers both consumers and health professionals a quick and easy option to address barriers to apps use, fill the gaps in LBP self-management knowledge, and encourages app use and recommendation. To effectively disseminate the app assessment tool to people with LBP, it could be added to a LBP toolkit to guide app choice as an additional self-management option for those that might benefit from the use of apps to manage LBP. Although the tool was designed specifically for LBP apps, the categories of quality, self-management and behaviour change content are not specific to LBP and there are implications and possible uses for other conditions requiring self-management and behaviour change. However, further research would be required to explore generalisability of the tool to other populations and conditions. Additionally, although the app assessment tool has a simple rating system, further research would be required to create a measurable scale. It is also possible the tool could be converted to an app itself, or made available online, to widen reach and increase ease of use.

Strengths and limitations

This program of research had many strengths. A range of research methodologies and study designs were used, including primary and secondary study designs. The studies included a systematic review, systematic assessment, consumer and primary health professional observational studies and a co-design study which engaged key stakeholders to deliver an app assessment tool for consumers. There were also some limitations. In the final co-design study (Study 4, chapter 6), the views of some health professional disciplines were not well represented due to the low number of participants. The focus on LBP was a strength of this program of research as the data collected were specific to LBP as was the app assessment tool. While this limits the generalisability of the results, recommendations and use of the app assessment tool to other conditions, this focus also provides valuable evidence for people with LBP, a large proportion of the population and a predominant health problem globally. It is acknowledged that the data obtained in Studies 3 and 4 was from Australia, meaning that these results may not be transferrable to other countries, especially less developed countries with significantly different health care systems. Further research is required in different countries and contexts.

Future directions and recommendations

This program of research considered and collected perspectives from key stakeholders, including consumers, health professionals and researchers. There are many directions for future research and recommendations arising from this body of work across these stakeholder groups (Figure 7.1).

Figure 7.1.

Recommendations

Researchers

- 1. Explore entry-level training and professional development opportunities for health professionals in digital health, smartphone apps and self-management of LBP, focusing on guideline-based recommendations.
- 2. Explore benefits of using condition specific versus generic apps to justify the use of one over the other.
- 3. Develop a database of assessed apps, however, research is required to better understand how to maintain the database and verify app assessments.
- 4. Explore, co-design, test and implement LBP toolkits, for both health professional and consumer use to assist people with LBP to improve self-management.
- 5. Explore dissemination and scale or rating options for the app assessment tool to enable wider use and to better rate and test effectiveness of consumer levels apps.
- 6. Develop and test a digital version of the app assessment tool, to enable greater scalability and reach in further research and implementation studies.

Education providers

- **1.** Ensure that primary health care professionals are exposed to guidelines in their entry-level training. Changes in accreditation and current standards in education programs and the addition of competency assessments may be required.
- 2. Guidelines should be addressed in continuing education for health professionals involved in the management of people with LBP.
- **3.** Provide digital technology education, including apps, during entry-level training, or as part of continuing education, for those already in the workforce, to encourage use.

App developers

- 1. Work with researchers to develop apps that contain evidence-based features that may assist in improving LBP outcomes.
- **2.** Explore the generalisability of these app features with other conditions.

Government

- **1.** Consider incentivising app developers to nominate their apps for assessment, especially health apps which have potential to positively impact the health and wellbeing of Australians.
- 2. Consider a cost waiver for health apps which meet guideline recommendations.

Consumers

- **1.** Use app assessment tools to assess quality, self-management and behaviour change features of an app to ensure the app has the required features to improve outcomes.
- **2.** Use LBP self-management apps in conjunction with other LBP management options such as exercise, medication and physiotherapy.

Health professionals

- **1.** Follow LBP guidelines as they offer evidence based self-management recommendations that can improve LBP outcomes.
- 2. Consider the role of individual personality traits (conscientiousness, emotional stability and openness) of people with LBP in self-management and self-efficacy.
- 3. Offer early self-management guidance as those with lower severity of LBP had higher self-management.
- 4. Offer consumers digital health options as consumers are keen to use them and look to health professionals for guidance.
- 5. Consider the suitability of app recommendation for the person and incorporate personal preferences.
- 6. Recommend LBP self-management apps in all phases of LBP self-management but particularly when experiencing LBP as apps can assist people with LBP to self-manage in all phases of LBP.
- 7. Use an app assessment tool to guide consumer app choice and assist app recommendation by ensuring the inclusion of self-management and behaviour change features.
- 8. Use apps as an adjunct to exercise, medication and physiotherapy rather than a stand-alone management option.

Conclusion

This program of research aimed to evaluate the use of commercially available LBP self-management smartphone apps, by consumers and health professionals to better guide implementation and adoption of app use into LBP management. This research has shown that commercially available LBP self-management smartphone apps can assist with LBP self-management. This program of research has significantly contributed to the body of evidence about the use of smartphone apps for the self-management of LBP, by contributing novel data from key stakeholder perspectives, and culminating in a co-designed consumer-focused app assessment tool. This app assessment tool may help to address the personal and economic burden of LBP using a cost-effective, easily accessible, scalable self-management option and guiding implementation and adoption of app use into LBP management.

References

- ABC News. (2020). Thousands of Australians ditch private health insurance as out-ofpocket hospital costs rise - By political reporter Stephanie Dalzell Posted Tuesday 18 February 2020 at 3:15pm, updated Tuesday 18 February 2020 at 4:22pm. <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2020-02-18/australians-dropping-private-health-out-of-pocket-costs-rise/11975338</u>
- Abdulrehman, M., Woith, W., Jenkins, S., Kossman, S., & Hunter, G. (2016). Exploring Cultural Influences of Self-Management of Diabetes in Coastal Kenya: An Ethnography. *Global qualitative nursing research*, *3*, 2333393616641825-2333393616641825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393616641825</u>
- Abubakari, A., Jones, M., Lauder, W., Kirk, A., Anderson, J., Devendra, D., & Naderali, E. (2013). Ethnic differences and socio-demographic predictors of illness perceptions, self-management, and metabolic control of type 2 diabetes. *International journal of* general medicine, 6(default), 617-628. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJGM.S46649</u>
- Accenture. (2020). Accenture 2020 Consumer Research on Digital Health. <u>https://www.accenture.com/content/dam/accenture/final/a-com-migration/pdf/pdf-130/accenture-2020-digital-health-consumer-survey-us.pdf#zoom=40</u>
- Adam, W., Lisa, R., Jonathan, H., Nadine, E., Lucy, Y., Elaine, H., Beth, S., David, T., Gareth, G., Frances, W., Lorraine, D., Alannah, M., Stephanie, H., Sarah, B., Stephanie, B., Simon, W., Gemma, M., Linda, L., & Paul, L. (2020). Supporting self-management of low back pain with an internet intervention in primary care: a protocol for a randomised controlled trial of clinical and cost-effectiveness (SupportBack 2). *BMJ Open*, *10*(8), e040543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-040543</u>
- Ahern, M., Dean, C., Dear, B., Willcock, S., & Hush, J. (2019). The experiences and needs of people seeking primary care for low-back pain in Australia. *Pain reports*, *4*(4), e756-e756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.000000000000756</u>
- Ambiel, R., & Noronha, A. (2016). Professional choice self-efficacy: predicting traits and personality profiles in high school students. *Psicologia, reflexão e crítica*, 29(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41155-016-0021-0</u>
- Araújo-Soares, V., Hankonen, N., Presseau, J., Rodrigues, A., & Sniehotta, F. (2019). Developing Behavior Change Interventions for Self-Management in Chronic Illness: An Integrative Overview. *Eur Psychol*, 24(1), 7-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-</u> <u>9040/a000330</u>
- Arora, M., Bhutta, Z., Casey, D., Charlson, F., Coggeshall, M., Gething, P., Kutz, M., Mensah, G., Naghavi, M., Nsoesie, E., Rankin, Z., Reinig, N., Troeger, C., Truelsen, T., Abu-Raddad, L., Adsuar, J., Agardh, E., Al-Aly, Z., Alam, K., . . . Lopez, A. (2016). Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 315 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE), 1990–2015: a systematic

analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet (British edition)*, *388*(10053), 1603-1658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31460-X</u>

- Arthritis and Osteoporosis Victoria (AOV). (2013). *A problem worth solving*. <u>https://www.msk.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/APWS.pdf</u>
- Arthritis Australia (AA). (2016). Health Care Professionals Professionals treating low back pain. <u>https://mybackpain.org.au/health-care-professionals/professionals-treating-low-back-pain</u>
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). (2019). *National Health Survey, First Results 2017– 18*, cat. no. 4364.0.55.001. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs._.nsf/mf/4364.0.55.001</u>
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). (2022a). Health Conditions Prevalence ey findings on selected long-term health conditions and prevalence in Australia 2020-21. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditions-and-risks/health-</u> <u>conditions-prevalence/latest-release#chronic-conditions</u>
- Australian Bureau of Statitics (ABS). (2022b). SEIFA Using and interpreting SEIFA. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/websitedbs/censushome.nsf/home/seifahelpansuis?opendoc</u> <u>ument&navpos=260</u>
- Australian Bureau of Statitics (ABS). (2022c). *Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas*. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/websitedbs/censushome.nsf/home/seifa</u>
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality Health Care (ACSQHC). (2022a). A novel approach to break the cycle of low back pain. <u>https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/about-us/latest-news/media-releases/novel-approach-break-cycle-low-back-pain# edn2</u>
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC). (2022b). Low back pain clinical care standards. https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/sites/default/files/2022-08/low back pain clinical care standard.pdf
- Australian Digital Health Agency (ADHA). (2022). Assessment framework for mHealth apps. <u>https://www.digitalhealth.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/adha-mhealth-assessment-framework-dec.pdf</u>
- Australian Government Federal Register of Legislation. (2021). *Therapeutic Goods Act* 1989. <u>https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/C2021C00207/Html/Volume_2</u>.
- Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA). (2023). Shared Code of conduct principles. <u>https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Resources/Code-of-</u> <u>conduct/Resources-to-help-health-practitioners/Shared-Code-of-conduct-</u> <u>principles.aspx</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2016). Impacts of chronic back problems. Bulletin 137. Cat. no. AUS 204.

https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/9018da61-cdf0-4e3a-bd98-2508f515290d/19839.pdf.aspx?inline=true

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2019a). *Back problems. Cat. no. PHE* 231. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/0d9f8959-2a1c-4c99-8c7e-0c8a878f4d6c/Back%20problems.pdf.aspx?inline=true</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2019c). Back problems. Cat. no. PHE 231. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/chronic-musculoskeletal-conditions/back-%20problems/contents/what-are-back-problems</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2019e). *Back problems. Cat. no. PHE* 231. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/chronic-musculoskeletal-conditions/back-</u> <u>problems/contents/treatment-and-management-of-back-problems</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2019b). *Musculoskeletal conditions and comorbidity in Australia. Arthritis series no. 25. Cat. no. PHE 241.* <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/e719c18d-d76d-46d2-b70a-a0b3c489afb4/aihw-phe-241.pdf.aspx?inline=true</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2019d). Australian Burden of Disease Study 2015: Interactive data on disease burden. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/abds-2015-interactive-datadisease-burden</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2022a). *Australian Burden of Disease Study 2022*. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/australian-burden-of-disease-</u> study-2022/contents/summary
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2022c). Cancer data in Australia Risk of melanoma of the skin by age and over time. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/cancer/cancer-data-in-australia/contents/cancerdata-commentaries/risk-of-melanoma-of-the-skin-by-age-and-over-time</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2022b). *Chronic musculoskeletal conditions*. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/bone-and-joint-health</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2023a). *Chronic musculoskeletal conditions*.

https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/chronic-musculoskeletalconditions/musculoskeletal-conditions/contents/back-pain-and-problems

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2023b). *Disease expenditure in Australia. Cat. no. HWE* 76.

https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/chronic-musculoskeletal-

conditions/musculoskeletal-conditions/contents/back-pain-and-problems#impact-ofback-problems Australian Medical Association (AMA). (2022). *The general practitioner workforce: why the neglect must end*. <u>https://www.ama.com.au/sites/default/files/2022-11/AMA-Research-and-Reform-General-practitioner-workforce-why-the-neglect-must-end-final.pdf</u>

Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA). (2022). Statistics – Quarterly private health insurance statistics September 2022. <u>https://www.apra.gov.au/sites/default/files/2022-</u> <u>11/Quarterly%20private%20health%20insurance%20statistics%20Highlights%20Sep</u> tember%202022.pdf

- Azad-Khaneghah, P., Neubauer, N., Miguel Cruz, A., & Liu, L. (2021). Mobile health app usability and quality rating scales: a systematic review. *Disability and rehabilitation: Assistive technology*, *16*(7), 712-721. https://doi.org/10.1080/17483107.2019.1701103
- Baena-Beato, P., Artero, E., Arroyo-Morales, M., Robles-Fuentes, A., Gatto-Cardia, M., & Delgado-Fernández, M. (2014). Aquatic therapy improves pain, disability, quality of life, body composition and fitness in sedentary adults with chronic low back pain. A controlled clinical trial. *Clinical rehabilitation*, 28(4), 350-360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215513504943</u>
- Bailey, J., Agarwal, V., Zheng, P., Smuck, M., Fredericson, M., Kennedy, D., & Krauss, J. (2020). Digital Care for Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: 10,000 Participant Longitudinal Cohort Study. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 22(5), e18250e18250. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/18250</u>
- Banerjee, A., Hendrick, P., & Blake, H. (2022). Predictors of self-management in patients with chronic low back pain: a longitudinal study. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, 23(1), 1071. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-022-05933-2</u>
- Barlow, J., Wright, C., Sheasby, J., Turner, A., & Hainsworth, J. (2002). Self-management approaches for people with chronic conditions: a review. *Patient education and counseling*, *48*(2), 177-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(02)00032-0</u>
- Battersby, M., Von Korff, M., Schaefer, J., Davis, C., Ludman, E., Greene, S., Parkerton, M., & Wagner, E. (2010). Twelve evidence-based principles for implementing selfmanagement support in primary care. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf*, *36*(12), 561-570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1553-7250(10)36084-3</u>
- Baum, A., Johnston, M., & Sutton, S. (2004). *The SAGE handbook of health psychology*. SAGE. <u>https://www.phpc.cam.ac.uk/pcu/wp-content/files/2012/01/Ch-04.pdf</u>
- Baumel, A., Faber, K., Mathur, N., Kane, J., & Muench, F. (2017). Enlight: A comprehensive quality and therapeutic potential evaluation tool for mobile and web-based eHealth interventions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(3), e82–e82. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7270</u>
- BBC News. (2020). Garmin begins recovery from ransomware attack. https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-53553576
- Bennell, K., Nelligan, R., Dobson, F., Rini, C., Keefe, F., Kasza, J., French, S., Bryant, C., Dalwood, A., Abbott, J., & Hinman, R. (2017). Effectiveness of an Internet-Delivered Exercise and Pain-Coping Skills Training Intervention for Persons With Chronic Knee

Pain: A Randomized Trial. *Annals of internal medicine*, *166*(7), 453-462. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M16-1714</u>

- Bernhardsson, S., Samsson, K., Johansson, K., Öberg, B., & Larsson, M. (2019). A preference for dialogue: exploring the influence of patient preferences on clinical decision making and treatment in primary care physiotherapy. *European journal of physiotherapy*, 21(2), 107-114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21679169.2018.1496474</u>
- Bernstein, I., Malik, Q., Carville, S., & Ward, S. (2017). Low back pain and sciatica: summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ (Online)*, *356*(8089), i6748-i6748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i6748</u>
- Beyera, G., O'Brien, J., & Campbell, S. (2020). Hospital admission and associated factors among individuals presenting to healthcare facilities for low back pain in Ethiopia. *International journal of rheumatic diseases*, 23(6), 763-771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13832</u>
- Britt, H., Miller, G., Bayram, C., Henderson, J., Valenti, L., Harrison, C., Pan, Y., Charles, J., Pollack, A., Chambers, T., Gordon, J., & Wong, C. (2016). A decade of Australian general practice activity 2006–07 to 2015–16. Sydney University Press.
- Brown, D., & Cinamon, R. (2016). Personality traits' effects on self-efficacy and outcome expectations for high school major choice. *International journal for educational and vocational guidance*, *16*(3), 343-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10775-015-9316-4</u>
- Buchbinder, R., Jolley, D., & Wyatt, M. (2001). Population based intervention to change back pain beliefs and disability: three part evaluation. *BMJ*, *322*(7301), 1516-1520. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.322.7301.1516
- Buchbinder, R., van Tulder, M., Öberg, B., Costa, L., Woolf, A., Schoene, M., Croft, P., Buchbinder, R., Hartvigsen, J., Cherkin, D., Foster, N., Maher, C., Underwood, M., van Tulder, M., Anema, J., Chou, R., Cohen, S., Menezes Costa, L., Croft, P., . . . Woolf, A. (2018). Low back pain: a call for action. *The Lancet (British edition)*, 391(10137), 2384-2388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30488-4</u>
- Bunzli, S., Smith, A., Schütze, R., Lin, I., & O'Sullivan, P. (2017). Making Sense of Low Back Pain and Pain-Related Fear. *The journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(9), 628-636. <u>https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2017.7434</u>
- Burgess, L., Irvine, F., & Wallymahmed, A. (2010). Personality, stress and coping in intensive care nurses: a descriptive exploratory study. *Nurs Crit Care*, *15*(3), 129-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-5153.2009.00384.x</u>
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, *2*(1), 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z</u>
- Byambasuren, O., Beller, E., Hoffmann, T., & Glasziou, P. (2020). Barriers to and Facilitators of the Prescription of mHealth Apps in Australian General Practice:

Qualitative Study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, *8*(7), e17447. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/17447</u>

- Cavanagh, R., Bhargava, A., Gleason, A., Micheel, L., Ciulla, R., & Hoyt, T. (2019). Use of Health Technologies for Low Back Pain in the Military Health System. *Journal of technology in behavioral science*, *4*(4), 360-371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-019-00107-9</u>
- Cerin, E., & Leslie, E. (2008). How socio-economic status contributes to participation in leisure-time physical activity. *Social science & medicine (1982)*, *66*(12), 2596-2609. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.02.012</u>
- Chala, M., Miller, J., Ghahari, S., Wondie, Y., Abebe, A., & Donnelly, C. (2022). Health care providers' understanding of self-management support for people with chronic low back pain in Ethiopia: an interpretive description. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22(1), 194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-07610-5</u>
- Chhabra, H., Sharma, S., & Verma, S. (2018). Smartphone app in self-management of chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. *European spine journal*, *27*(11), 2862-2874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-018-5788-5</u>
- Chapman, B., Hampson, S., & Clarkin, J. (2014). Personality-Informed Interventions for Healthy Aging: Conclusions From a National Institute on Aging Work Group : Conscientiousness and Healthy Aging. *Developmental psychology*, *50*(5), 1426-1441.
- Chen, G., Gully, S., & Eden, D. (2001). Validation of a New General Self-Efficacy Scale. *Organizational research methods*, *4*(1), 62-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/109442810141004</u>
- Chen, S., Chen, M., Wu, X., Lin, S., Tao, C., Cao, H., Shao, Z., & Xiao, G. (2022). Global, regional and national burden of low back pain 1990–2019: A systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease study 2019. *Journal of orthopaedic translation*, 32, 49-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jot.2021.07.005</u>
- Chou, L., Ranger, T., Peiris, W., Cicuttini, F., Urquhart, D., Sullivan, K., Seneviwickrama, K., Briggs, A., & Wluka, A. (2018). Patients' perceived needs of health care providers for low back pain management: a systematic scoping review. *The spine journal*, *18*(4), 691-711. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2018.01.006</u>
- Cieza, A., Causey, K., Kamenov, K., Hanson, S., Chatterji, S., & Vos, T. (2020). Global estimates of the need for rehabilitation based on the Global Burden of Disease study 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet (British edition)*, 396(10267), 2006-2017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32340-0</u>
- Coe-O'Brien, R., Joseph, L., Kuisma, R., Paungmali, A., Sitilertpisan, P., & Pirunsan, U. (2020). Outcome measures used in the smartphone applications for the management of low back pain: a systematic scoping review. *Health information science and systems*, 8(1), 5-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13755-019-0097-x</u>

- Coombs, D., Machado, G., Richards, B., Wilson, R., Chan, J., Storey, H., & Maher, C. (2021). Healthcare costs due to low back pain in the emergency department and inpatient setting in Sydney, Australia. *The Lancet regional health. Western Pacific*, 7, 100089-100089. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanwpc.2020.100089</u>
- Cortez, N., Cohen, I., & Kesselheim, A. (2014). FDA Regulation of Mobile Health Technologies. *The New England journal of medicine*, *371*(4), 372-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMhle1403384</u>
- Costa Lda, C., Maher, C., McAuley, J., Hancock, M., & Smeets, R. (2011). Self-efficacy is more important than fear of movement in mediating the relationship between pain and disability in chronic low back pain. *Eur J Pain*, *15*(2), 213-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2010.06.014</u>
- Coudeyre, E., Tubach, F., Rannou, F., Baron, G., Coriat, F., Brin, S., Revel, M., & Poiraudeau, S. (2007). Fear-avoidance Beliefs About Back Pain in Patients With Acute LBP. *The Clinical journal of pain*, *23*(8), 720-725. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e31814da407</u>
- Courtenay, W., McCreary, D., & Merighi, J. (2002). Gender and Ethnic Differences in Health Beliefs and Behaviors. *Journal of health psychology*, 7(3), 219-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105302007003216</u>
- Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP). (2018). CASP Systematic Review Checklist. https://casp-uk.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CASP-Systematic-Review-Checklist 2018.pdf
- Cucciniello, M., Petracca, F., Ciani, O., & Tarricone, R. (2021). Development features and study characteristics of mobile health apps in the management of chronic conditions: a systematic review of randomised trials. *NPJ digital medicine*, *4*(1), 144-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-021-00517-1</u>
- da Silva, T., Mills, K., Brown, B., Herbert, R., Maher, C., & Hancock, M. (2017). Risk of Recurrence of Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, *47*(5), 305-313. <u>https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2017.7415</u>
- da Silva, T., Mills, K., Brown, B., Pocovi, N., de Campos, T., Maher, C., & Hancock, M. (2019). Recurrence of low back pain is common: a prospective inception cohort study. *Journal of physiotherapy*, 65(3), 159-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2019.04.010</u>
- Datareportal. (2022). Digital 2022: Time Spent Using Connected Tech Continues to Rise. <u>https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2022-time-spent-with-connected-tech</u>
- de Moraes Vieira, É., de Góes Salvetti, M., Damiani, L., & de Mattos Pimenta, C. (2014). Self-Efficacy and Fear Avoidance Beliefs in Chronic Low Back Pain Patients: Coexistence and Associated Factors. *Pain Management Nursing*, *15*(3), 593-602. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2013.04.004</u>
- Delgado-Rodríguez, N., Hernández-Fernaud, E., Rosales, C., Díaz-Vilela, L., Isla-Díaz, R., & Díaz-Cabrera, D. (2018). Contextual Performance in Academic Settings: The Role of Personality, Self-efficacy, and Impression Management. *Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones*, 34(2), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2018a8</u>

Deloitte. (2018). Consumers are on board with virtual health options: Can the health care system deliver? <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/4631_Virtual-consumer-survey.pdf</u>

Denison, E., Åsenlöf, P., & Lindberg, P. (2004). Self-efficacy, fear avoidance, and pain intensity as predictors of disability in subacute and chronic musculoskeletal pain patients in primary health care. *PAIN*, *111*(3). <u>https://journals.lww.com/pain/Fulltext/2004/10000/Self_efficacy,_fear_avoidance,_an_d_pain_intensity.5.aspx</u>

- Derghazarian, T., & Simmonds, M. (2011). Management of Low Back Pain by Physical Therapists in Quebec: How Are We Doing? *Physiotherapy Canada*, *63*(4), 464-473. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/ptc.2010-04P</u>
- Devan, H., Farmery, D., Peebles, L., & Grainger, R. (2019). Evaluation of Self-Management Support Functions in Apps for People With Persistent Pain: Systematic Review. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 7(2), e13080-e13080. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/13080</u>
- Developer Apple App store. (2021). App Store Review Guidelines. <u>https://developer.apple.com/app-store/review/guidelines/</u>
- Didyk, C., Lewis, L., & Lange, B. (2022a). Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic assessment. *Disability and rehabilitation*, *44*(24), 7600-7609. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1979664</u>
- Didyk, C., Lewis, L., & Lange, B. (2022b). Effectiveness of smartphone apps for the selfmanagement of low back pain in adults: a systematic review. *Disability and rehabilitation*, 44(25), 7781-7790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.2005161</u>
- Dietmaier, J., von dem Knesebeck, O., Heesen, C., & Kofahl, C. (2022). Personality and its association with self-management in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple sclerosis and related disorders*, *61*, 103752-103752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2022.103752</u>
- Digital health. (2021). Safety stamp for health apps to bring more trust to new solutions. https://www.digitalhealth.net/2018/06/safety-stamp-health-apps/
- Dionne, C., Dunn, K., Croft, P., Nachemson, A., Buchbinder, R., Walker, B., Wyatt, M., Cassidy, J., Rossignol, M., Leboeuf-Yde, C., Hartvigsen, J., Leino-Arjas, P., Latza, U., Reis, S., del Real, M., Kovacs, F., Oberg, B., Ceaschi, C., Bouter, L., . . . Korff, M. (2008). A consensus approach toward the standardization of back pain definitions for use in prevalence studies. *Spine (Philadelphia, Pa. 1976)*, *33*(1), 95-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31815e7f94</u>
- Downie, F., McRitchie, C., Monteith, W., & Turner, H. (2019). Physiotherapist as an alternative to a GP for musculoskeletal conditions: a 2-year service evaluation of UK primary care data. *British journal of general practice*, 69(682), e314-e320. <u>https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp19X702245</u>

- Du, S., Hu, Y., Bai, Y., Hu, L., Dong, J., Jin, S., & Zhang, H. (2019). Emotional Distress Correlates Among Patients With Chronic Nonspecific Low Back Pain: A Hierarchical Linear Regression Analysis. *Pain practice*, *19*(5), 510-521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/papr.12772</u>
- Du, S., Liu, W., Cai, S., Hu, Y., & Dong, J. (2020). The efficacy of e-health in the selfmanagement of chronic low back pain: A meta analysis. *International journal of nursing studies*, *106*, 103507-103507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.103507</u>
- Du, S., Hu, L., Dong, J., Xu, G., Chen, X., Jin, S., Zhang, H., & Yin, H. (2017). Selfmanagement program for chronic low back pain: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Patient education and counseling*, *100*(1), 37-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.029</u>
- Durlak, J., Domitrovich, C., Weissberg, R., Gullotta, T., Comer, J., Darling-Hammond, L., Goleman, D., Shriver, T., & Buffett, J. (2015). *Handbook of social and emotional learning: Research and practice*. The Guilford Press
- Dwarswaard, J., & van de Bovenkamp, H. (2015). Self-management support: A qualitative study of ethical dilemmas experienced by nurses. *Patient education and counseling*, 98(9), 1131-1136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2015.05.017</u>
- Edwards, J., Hayden, J., Asbridge, M., Gregoire, B., & Magee, K. (2017). Prevalence of low back pain in emergency settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, *18*(1), 143-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-017-1511-</u> <u>7</u>
- El Benny, M., Kabakian-Khasholian, T., El-Jardali, F., & Bardus, M. (2021). Application of the eHealth Literacy Model in Digital Health Interventions: Scoping Review. *Journal of medical Internet research*, *23*(6), e23473-e23473. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/23473</u>
- Elbers, S., Wittink, H., Pool, J., & Smeets, R. (2018). The effectiveness of generic selfmanagement interventions for patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain on physical function, self-efficacy, pain intensity and physical activity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European journal of pain*, 22(9), 1577-1596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1253</u>
- Femdal, I., & Solbjør, M. (2018). Equality and differences: group interaction in mixed focus groups of users and professionals discussing power. *Society, Health & Vulnerability*, 9(1), 1447193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20021518.2018.1447193</u>
- Ferrari, S., Vanti, C., Pellizzer, M., Dozza, L., Monticone, M., & Pillastrini, P. (2019). Is there a relationship between self-efficacy, disability, pain and sociodemographic characteristics in chronic low back pain? A multicenter retrospective analysis. *Archives of Physiotherapy*, 9(1), 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40945-019-0061-8</u>
- Finucane, L., Downie, A., Mercer, C., Greenhalgh, S., Boissonnault, W., Pool-Goudzwaard, A., Beneciuk, J., Leech, R., & Selfe, J. (2020). International framework for red flags

for potential serious spinal pathologies. *The journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, *50*(7), 350-372. <u>https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.9971</u>

- Foster, N., Anema, J., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S., Gross, D., Ferreira, P., Fritz, J., Koes, B., Peul, W., Turner, J., Maher, C., Buchbinder, R., Hartvigsen, J., Cherkin, D., Foster, N., Maher, C., Underwood, M., van Tulder, M., . . . Woolf, A. (2018).
 Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *The Lancet (British edition)*, *391*(10137), 2368-2383. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6
- Furlan, A., Malmivaara, A., Chou, R., Maher, C., Deyo, R., Schoene, M., Bronfort, G., & van Tulder, M. (2015). 2015 Updated Method Guideline for Systematic Reviews in the Cochrane Back and Neck Group. *Spine (Philadelphia, Pa. 1976)*, 40(21), 1660-1673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0000000000001061</u>
- Galindo-Domínguez, H., & Bezanilla, M. (2021). The Importance of Personality and Selfefficacy for Stress Management in Higher Education. *International journal of educational psychology*, *10*(3), 247-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.17583/ijep.7870</u>
- Gordon, W., Landman, A., Zhang, H., & Bates, D. (2020). Beyond validation: getting health apps into clinical practice. *NPJ digital medicine*, *3*(1), 14-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-019-0212-z</u>
- Gosling, S., Rentfrow, P., & Swann, W. (2003). A very brief measure of the Big-Five personality domains. *Journal of research in personality*, *37*(6), 504-528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-6566(03)00046-1</u>
- Grady, A., Yoong, S., Sutherland, R., Lee, H., Nathan, N., & Wolfenden, L. (2018). Improving the public health impact of eHealth and mHealth interventions. *Australian and New ealand journal of public health*, *42*(2), 118-119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12771</u>
- Grand View Research (GVR). (2023). *Global mHealth Apps Market Size & Trends Report,* 2030. <u>https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/mhealth-app-market</u>
- Gupta, L., Najm, A., Kabir, K., & De Cock, D. (2023). Digital health in musculoskeletal care: where are we heading? *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, *24*(1), 192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-023-06309-w</u>
- Guzmán, J., Esmail, R., Karjalainen, K., Malmivaara, A., Irvin, E., & Bombardier, C. (2001). Multidisciplinary rehabilitation for chronic low back pain: systematic review. *BMJ*, *322*(7301), 1511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.322.7301.1511</u>
- Ha Dinh, T., Bonner, A., Clark, R., Ramsbotham, J., & Hines, S. (2016). The effectiveness of the teach-back method on adherence and self-management in health education for people with chronic disease: a systematic review. *JBI database of systematic reviews and implementation reports*, *14*(1), 210-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.11124/jbisrir-2016-2296</u>

- Hampel, P., & Neumann, A. (2023). Is the relationship between depressive symptoms and work-related factors mediated by pain self-efficacy in non-specific chronic low back pain? Schmerz. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00482-023-00701-0</u>
- Hampson, S., Edmonds, G., Barckley, M., Goldberg, L., Dubanoski, J., & Hillier, T. (2016). A Big Five approach to self-regulation: personality traits and health trajectories in the Hawaii longitudinal study of personality and health. *Psychology, health & medicine*, 21(2), 152-162. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2015.1061676
- Hartvigsen, J., Hancock, M., Kongsted, A., Louw, Q., Ferreira, M., Genevay, S., Hoy, D., Karppinen, J., Pransky, G., Sieper, J., Smeets, R., Underwood, M., Buchbinder, R., Hartvigsen, J., Cherkin, D., Foster, N., Maher, C., Underwood, M., van Tulder, M., Woolf, A. (2018). What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. *The Lancet (British edition)*, *391*(10137), 2356-2367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30480-X</u>
- Hayat, A., Kohoulat, N., Amini, M., & Faghihi, S. (2020). The predictive role of personality traits on academic performance of medical students: The mediating role of selfefficacy. *Medical journal of the Islamic Republic of Iran*, 34, 77. <u>https://doi.org/10.47176/mjiri.34.77</u>
- Hewitt, S., Sephton, R., & Yeowell, G. (2020). The Effectiveness of Digital Health Interventions in the Management of Musculoskeletal Conditions: Systematic Literature Review. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 22(6), e15617-e15617. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/15617</u>
- Higgins, J., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M., & Welch, V. (2019). *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions* (Second edition. ed.). The Cochrane Collaboration.
- Hoffmann, T., Glasziou, P., Boutron, I., Milne, R., Perera, R., Moher, D., Altman, D., Barbour, V., Macdonald, H., Johnston, M., Lamb, S., Dixon-Woods, M., McCulloch, P., Wyatt, J., Chan, A., & Michie, S. (2014). Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, *348*(mar07 3), g1687-g1687. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g1687</u>
- Hoy, D., March, L., Brooks, P., Blyth, F., Woolf, A., Bain, C., Williams, G., Smith, E., Vos, T., Barendregt, J., Murray, C., Burstein, R., & Buchbinder, R. (2014). The global burden of low back pain: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, *73*(6), 968-974. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204428</u>
- Huang, L., Liang, Y., Hou, J., Thai, J., Huang, Y., Li, J., Zeng, Y., & Zhao, X. (2019). General Self-Efficacy Mediates the Effect of Family Socioeconomic Status on Critical Thinking in Chinese Medical Students. *Frontiers in psychology*, 9, 2578-2578. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02578</u>

- Hush, J., & Alison, J. (2011). Evidence-based practice: lost in translation? *J Physiother*, *57*(3), 143-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1836-9553(11)70034-0</u>
- Ioannidis, J. (2016). Why Most Clinical Research Is Not Useful. *PLoS medicine*, *13*(6), e1002049-e1002049. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002049</u>
- IQVIA Institute for Human Data Science (IQVIA). (2021). *Digital Health Trends 2021*. <u>https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports/digital-health-trends-2021</u>
- Irvine, A., Russell, H., Manocchia, M., Mino, D., Cox Glassen, T., Morgan, R., Gau, J., Birney, A., & Ary, D. (2015). Mobile-Web app to self-manage low back pain: randomized controlled trial. *Journal of medical Internet research*, *17*(1), e1-e1. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3130</u>
- Iyengar, K., Upadhyaya, G., Vaishya, R., & Jain, V. (2020). COVID-19 and applications of smartphone technology in the current pandemic. *Diabetes & metabolic syndrome clinical research & reviews*, *14*(5), 733-737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.05.033</u>
- Jensen, M., Karoly, P., & Braver, S. (1986). The measurement of clinical pain intensity: a comparison of six methods. *Pain (Amsterdam)*, *27*(1), 117-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(86)90228-9</u>
- Kahere, M., & Ginindza, T. (2020). Mapping evidence on the prevalence, incidence, risk factors and cost associated with chronic low back pain among adults in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic scoping review protocol. *Systematic reviews*, 9(1), 57-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-020-01321-w</u>
- Kasperbauer, T., & Wright, D. (2020). Expanded FDA regulation of health and wellness apps. *Bioethics*, *34*(3), 235-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bioe.12674</u>
- Kawi, J. (2014). Predictors of self-management for chronic low back pain. *Applied Nursing Research*, 27(4), 206-212. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2014.02.003</u>
- Keep, M., Janssen, A., McGregor, D., Brunner, M., Baysari, M., Quinn, D., & Shaw, T. (2021). Mapping eHealth Education: Review of eHealth Content in Health and Medical Degrees at a Metropolitan Tertiary Institute in Australia. *JMIR Med Educ*, 7(3), e16440. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/16440</u>
- Keogh, A., Tully, M., Matthews, J., & Hurley, D. (2015). A review of behaviour change theories and techniques used in group based self-management programmes for chronic low back pain and arthritis. *Manual Therapy*, 20(6), 727-735. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2015.03.014</u>
- Kim, T., Kim, E., & Cho, H. (2015). The effects of the CORE programme on pain at rest, movement-induced and secondary pain, active range of motion, and proprioception in female office workers with chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical rehabilitation*, 29(7), 653-662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215514552075</u>

- Kitson, A., Powell, K., Hoon, E., Newbury, J., Wilson, A., & Beilby, J. (2013). Knowledge translation within a population health study: how do you do it? *Implementation science : IS*, 8(1), 54-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-54</u>
- Kloek, C., Janssen, J., & Veenhof, C. (2020). Development of a Checklist to Assist Physiotherapists in Determination of Patients' Suitability for a Blended Treatment. *Telemedicine journal and e-health*, 26(8), 151-1065. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2019.0143
- Kongsted, A., Ris, I., Kjaer, P., & Hartvigsen, J. (2021). Self-management at the core of back pain care: 10 key points for clinicians. *Revista brasileira de fisioterapia (São Carlos (São Paulo, Brazil))*, 25(4), 396-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjpt.2021.05.002</u>
- Konttila, J., Siira, H., Kyngäs, H., Lahtinen, M., Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kaakinen, P., Oikarinen, A., Yamakawa, M., Fukui, S., Utsumi, M., Higami, Y., Higuchi, A., & Mikkonen, K. (2019). Healthcare professionals' competence in digitalisation: A systematic review. *Journal of clinical nursing*, *28*(5-6), 745-761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14710</u>
- Lara-Palomo, I., Gil-Martínez, E., Ramírez-García, J., Capel-Alcaraz, A., García-López, H., Castro-Sánchez, A., & Antequera-Soler, E. (2022). Efficacy of e-Health Interventions in Patients with Chronic Low-Back Pain: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. *Telemedicine journal and e-health*, 28(12), 1734-1752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2021.0599</u>
- Larsen, M., Nicholas, J., & Christensen, H. (2016). Quantifying App Store Dynamics: Longitudinal Tracking of Mental Health Apps. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, *4*(3), e96. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.6020</u>
- Lee, M., Lee, H., Kim, Y., Kim, J., Cho, M., Jang, J., & Jang, H. (2018). Mobile App-Based Health Promotion Programs: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(12), 2838. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15122838</u>
- Levine, D., Co, Z., Newmark, L., Groisser, A., Holmgren, A., Haas, J., & Bates, D. (2020). Design and testing of a mobile health application rating tool. *NPJ digital medicine*, 3(1), 74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-020-0268-9</u>
- Lewis, T. (2013). A Systematic Self-Certification Model for Mobile Medical Apps. *J Med Internet Res*, *15*(4), e89. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2446</u>
- Lorig, K. (2003). Self-Management Education: More than a Nice Extra. *Medical care*, *41*(6), 699-701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.MLR.0000072811.54551.38</u>
- Lorig, K., & Holman, H. (2003). Self-management education: history, definition, outcomes, and mechanisms. *Annals of behavioral medicine*, 26(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324796ABM2601_01</u>

- Machado, G., Pinheiro, M., Lee, H., Ahmed, O., Hendrick, P., Williams, C., & Kamper, S. (2016). Smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain: A systematic review. *Best practice & research. Clinical rheumatology*, *30*(6), 1098-1109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2017.04.002</u>
- Maher, C., & Ferreira, G. (2022). Time to reconsider what Global Burden of Disease studies really tell us about low back pain. *Ann Rheum Dis*, *81*(3), 306-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2021-221173</u>
- Maher, C., Underwood, M., & Buchbinder, R. (2017). Non-specific low back pain. *The Lancet (British edition)*, 389(10070), 736-747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30970-9</u>
- Mansell, G., Hall, A., & Toomey, E. (2016). Behaviour change and self-management interventions in persistent low back pain. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*, 30(6), 994-1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2017.07.004</u>
- Marcolino, M., Oliveira, J., D'Agostino, M., Ribeiro, A., Alkmim, M., & Novillo-Ortiz, D. (2018). The Impact of mHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 6(1), e23-e23. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.8873</u>
- Martin, R., Mandrusiak, A., Lang, R., Forbes, R., & Russell, T. (2022). A telehealth curriculum: A pre-post study of physiotherapy students' perceived knowledge, selfefficacy and intentions for future use. *Focus on health professional education*, 23(3), 56-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.11157/fohpe.v23i3.595</u>
- Mauch, C., Wycherley, T., Laws, R., Johnson, B., Bell, L., & Golley, R. (2018). Mobile Apps to Support Healthy Family Food Provision: Systematic Assessment of Popular, Commercially Available Apps. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 6(12), e11867-e11867. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/11867</u>
- Mbada, C., Olaoye, M., Ayanniyi, O., Johnson, O., Odole, A., & Dada, O. (2017). Comparative Efficacy of Clinic-Based and Telerehabilitation Application of Mckenzie Therapy in Low-Back Pain. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 98(10), e46-e47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2017.08.143</u>
- McKay, F., Slykerman, S., & Dunn, M. (2019). The App Behavior Change Scale: Creation of a Scale to Assess the Potential of Apps to Promote Behavior Change. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 7(1), e11130-e11130. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/11130</u>
- McMillan, B., Hickey, E., Patel, M., & Mitchell, C. (2016). Quality assessment of a sample of mobile app-based health behavior change interventions using a tool based on the National Institute of Health and Care Excellence behavior change guidance. *Patient education and counseling*, 99(3), 429-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2015.10.023</u>
- Melman, A., Lord, H, Coombs, D, Zadro, J, Maher, C, Machado, G (2023). Global prevalence of hospital admissions for low back pain: a systematic review with metaanalysis. *BMJ Open*, *13*(4), e069517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2022-069517</u>

- Mendoza-Catalán, G., Rodríguez-Santamaría, Y., Domínguez-Chávez, C., Juárez-Medina, L., Villa-Rueda, A., González-Ramírez, J., & Gutiérrez-Valverde, J. (2022).
 Personality Traits and Self-Care Behaviors in Adults with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes, metabolic syndrome and obesity*, *15*, 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S340277</u>
- Merolli, M., Gray, K., Choo, D., Lawford, B., & Hinman, R. (2022). Use, and acceptability, of digital health technologies in musculoskeletal physical therapy: A survey of physical therapists and patients. *Musculoskeletal care*, 20(3), 641-659. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.1627</u>
- Meroni, R., Piscitelli, D., Ravasio, C., Vanti, C., Bertozzi, L., De Vito, G., Perin, C., Guccione, A., Cerri, C., & Pillastrini, P. (2021). Evidence for managing chronic low back pain in primary care: a review of recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines. *Disability and rehabilitation*, 43(7), 1029-1043. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2019.1645888</u>
- Mesner, S., Foster, N., & French, S. (2016). Implementation interventions to improve the management of non-specific low back pain: A systematic review. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 17(1), 258–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/12891-016-1110-z</u>
- Michie, S., van Stralen, M., & West, R. (2011). The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implementation science : IS*, 6(1), 42-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-6-42</u>
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. *Physical therapy*, *89*(9), 873-880. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/89.9.873</u>
- Moller, A., Merchant, G., Conroy, D., West, R., Hekler, E., Kugler, K., & Michie, S. (2017). Applying and advancing behavior change theories and techniques in the context of a digital health revolution: proposals for more effectively realizing untapped potential. *Journal of behavioral medicine*, 40(1), 85-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-016-9818-7</u>
- Monro, R., Bhardwaj, A., Gupta, R., Telles, S., Allen, B., & Little, P. (2015). Disc extrusions and bulges in nonspecific low back pain and sciatica: Exploratory randomised controlled trial comparing yoga therapy and normal medical treatment. *Journal of back and musculoskeletal rehabilitation*, 28(2), 383-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/BMR-140531</u>
- Moon, T., Kim, J., Gwon, H., Hwan, B., Kim, G., Smith, N., Han, G., Lee, H., & Cho, B. (2015). Effects of exercise therapy on muscular strength in firefighters with back pain. *Journal of physical therapy science*, 27(3), 581-583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1589/jpts.27.581</u>
- Murray, E., Hekler, E., Andersson, G., Collins, L., Doherty, A., Hollis, C., Rivera, D., West, R., & Wyatt, J. (2016). Evaluating Digital Health Interventions: Key Questions and Approaches. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *51*(5), 843-851. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.008</u>

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). (2014). Behaviour change:

individual approaches - Public health guideline [PH49]. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph49/chapter/recommendations#capability-opportunity-and-motivation</u>

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). (2016). *Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management.* <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59/chapter/Recommendations</u>
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). (2022). Evidence standards for health and care excellence. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/our-programmes/evidence-standards-framework-for-digital-health-technologies</u>
- Newcombe, R. (1998). Two-sided confidence intervals for the single proportion: comparison of seven methods. *Statistics in Medicine, 17*(8), 857–872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0258(19980430)17:8<857::AID-SIM777>3.0.CO;2-E</u>
- Nicholl, B., Sandal, L., Stochkendahl, M., McCallum, M., Suresh, N., Vasseljen, O., Hartvigsen, J., Mork, P., Kjaer, P., Søgaard, K., & Mair, F. (2017). Digital Support interventions for the self-management of low back pain: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *19*(5), e179–e179. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/JMIR.7290</u>
- Nouri, R., Kalhori, S., Ghazisaeedi, M., Marchand, G., & Yasini, M. (2018). Criteria for assessing the quality of mHealth apps: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, *25*(8), 1089-1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocy050</u>
- NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation (NSWACI). (2016). *Management of people with acute low back pain: model of care.* <u>https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/336688/acute-low-back-pain-moc.pdf</u>
- Oliveira, V., Ferreira, P., Maher, C., Pinto, R., Refshauge, K., & Ferreira, M. (2012). Effectiveness of self-management of low back pain: Systematic review with metaanalysis. *Arthritis Care & Research*, *64*(11), 1739-1748. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.21737</u>
- Omodara, D., Gibson, L., & Bowpitt, G. (2022). Exploring the impact of cultural beliefs in the self-management of type 2 diabetes among Black sub-Saharan Africans in the UK a qualitative study informed by the PEN-3 cultural model. *Ethnicity & health*, 27(6), 1358-1376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2021.1881764</u>
- Patrick, K., Hekler, E., Estrin, D., Mohr, D., Riper, H., Crane, D., Godino, J., & Riley, W. (2016). The Pace of Technologic Change: Implications for Digital Health Behavior Intervention Research. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *51*(5), 816–824. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.05.001</u>
- Peduzzi, P., Concato, J., Kemper, E., Holford, T., & Feinstein, A. (1996). A simulation study of the number of events per variable in logistic regression analysis. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *49*(12), 1373–1379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-4356(96)00236-3</u>
- Petersen, J., Kemps, E., Lewis, L., & Prichard, I. (2020). Psychological mechanisms underlying the relationship between commercial physical activity app use and physical activity engagement. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *51*, 101719. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2020.101719</u>

- Petracca, F., Ciani, O., Cucciniello, M., & Tarricone, R. (2020). Harnessing Digital Health Technologies During and After the COVID-19 Pandemic: Context Matters. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 22(12), e21815-e21815. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/21815</u>
- Peyrot, M., Egede, L., Funnell, M., Hsu, W., Ruggiero, L., & Stuckey, H. (2018). US Ethnic Group Differences in Family Member Support for People With Diabetes in the 2nd Diabetes Attitudes, Wishes and Needs (DAWN2) Study. *The Diabetes educator*, 44(3), 249-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721718770767</u>
- Pillay, T., Zyl, H., & Blackbeard, D. (2014). Chronic Pain Perception and Cultural Experience. *Procedia, social and behavioral sciences, 113*, 151-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.022</u>
- Power, R., & Pluess, M. (2015). Heritability estimates of the Big Five personality traits based on common genetic variants. *Translational Psychiatry*, *5*(7), e604-e604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2015.96</u>
- Priebe, J., Haas, K., Sanchez, L., Schoefmann, K., Utpadel-Fischler, D., Stockert, P., Thoma, R., Schiessl, C., Kerkemeyer, L., Amelung, V., Jedamzik, S., Reichmann, J., Marschall, U., & Toelle, T. (2020). Digital Treatment of Back Pain versus Standard of Care: The Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial, Rise-uP. *Journal of pain research*, 13, 1823-1838. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S260761
- Prochaska, J., DiClemente, C., & Norcross, J. (1992). In Search of How People Change: Applications to Addictive Behaviors. *The American psychologist*, *47*(9), 1102-1114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.47.9.1102</u>
- Public Health Association Australia (PHAA). (2018). Top 10 public health successes over the last 20 years. <u>https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/3241</u>
- Qumseya, B., Goddard, A., Qumseya, A., Estores, D., Draganov, P., & Forsmark, C.

(2021). Barriers to Clinical Practice Guideline Implementation Among Physicians: A Physician Survey. *Int J Gen Med*, *14*, 7591-7598. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/ijgm.S333501</u>

- Rintala, A., Rantalainen, R., Kaksonen, A., Luomajoki, H., & Kauranen, K. (2022). mHealth Apps for Low Back Pain Self-management: Scoping Review. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, *10*(8), e39682-e39682. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/39682</u>
- Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP). (2013). *Handbook of Non-Drug Interventions (HANDI)*. <u>https://www.racgp.org.au/clinical-resources/clinical-guidelines/handi</u>
- Sarradon-Eck, A., Bouchez, T., Auroy, L., Schuers, M., & Darmon, D. (2021). Attitudes of General Practitioners Toward Prescription of Mobile Health Apps: Qualitative Study. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 9(3), e21795-e21795. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/21795</u>
- Schaller, A., Petrowski, K., Pfoertner, T., & Froboese, I. (2017). Effectiveness of a theorybased multicomponent intervention (Movement Coaching) on the promotion of total and domain-specific physical activity: a randomised controlled trial in low back pain patients. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, *18*(1), 431-431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-017-1788-6</u>
- Scheffer, M., Menting, J. & Boeije, H. (2021). Self-management of social well-being in a cross-sectional study among community-dwelling older adults: The added value of digital participation. *BMC Geriatr* 21, 539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/</u> <u>s12877-021-02482-6</u>

- Schofield, D., Callander, E., Shrestha, R., Percival, R., Kelly, S., Passey, M., & Med, B. (2012). Labor Force Participation and the Influence of Having Back Problems on Income Poverty in Australia. *Spine (Philadelphia, Pa. 1976)*, 37(13), 1156-1163. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31824481ee
- Schulman-Green, D., Jaser, S., Park, C., & Whittemore, R. (2016). A metasynthesis of factors affecting self-management of chronic illness. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 72(7), 1469-1489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12902</u>
- Shebib, R., Bailey, J., Smittenaar, P., Perez, D., Mecklenburg, G., & Hunter, S. (2019). Randomized controlled trial of a 12-week digital care program in improving low back pain. NPJ digital medicine, 2(1), 1-1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-018-0076-7</u>
- Shiri, R., Coggon, D., & Falah-Hassani, K. (2018). Exercise for the Prevention of Low Back Pain: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Trials. *American journal of epidemiology*, 187(5), 1093-1101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx337</u>
- Simpson, V., & Xu, D. (2020). Difficulties with health self-management by older adults: The role of well-being. *Geriatric Nursing (New York), 41*(6), 984–991. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2020.07.010</u>
- Sirois, F., & Hirsch, J. (2015). Big Five traits, affect balance and health behaviors: A selfregulation resource perspective. *Personality and individual differences*, 87, 59-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.07.031</u>
- Slade, S., Kent, P., Patel, S., Bucknall, T., & Buchbinder, R. (2016). Barriers to Primary Care Clinician Adherence to Clinical Guidelines for the Management of Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review and Metasynthesis of Qualitative Studies. *Clin J Pain*, 32(9), 800-816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ajp.00000000000324</u>
- Slattery, P., Saeri, A., & Bragge, P. (2020). Research co-design in health: a rapid overview of reviews. *Health research policy and systems*, *18*(1), 17-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-0528-9</u>
- Soderlund, A., & von Heideken Wagert, P. (2021). Adherence to and the Maintenance of Self-Management Behaviour in Older People with Musculoskeletal Pain-A Scoping Review and Theoretical Models. *Journal of clinical medicine*, *10*(2), 303. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10020303</u>
- Stark, C., Cunningham, J., Turner, P., Johnson, M., & Bäcker, H. (2022). App-Based Rehabilitation in Back Pain, a Systematic Review. *Journal of personalized medicine*, *12*(10), 1558. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm12101558</u>
- Statista. (2020). *Number of smartphone users worldwide from 2016 to 2021 (in billions)*. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/330695/number-of-smartphone-users-worldwide/</u>
- Statista. (2021). *Mobile app downloads worldwide 2017-2025, by segment.* <u>https://www.statista.com/forecasts/1262892/mobile-app-revenue-worldwide-by-segment</u>
- Statista. (2023a). *Mobile app usage Statistics & Facts*. <u>https://www.statista.com/topics/1002/mobile-app-usage</u>
- Statista. (2023b). Number of smartphone subscriptions worldwide from 2016 to 2021, with forecasts from 2022 to 2027. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/330695/</u> <u>number-of-smartphone-users-worldwide/</u>
- Statista. (2023c). Share of users worldwide accessing the internet in 2nd quarter 2023, by device. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1289755/internet-access-by-device-worldwide/</u>

- Stec, M., Arbour, M., & Hines, H. (2019). Client Centered Mobile Health Care Applications:Using the Mobile Application Rating Scale Instrument for Evidence-Based Evaluation. *Journal of midwifery & women's health*, 64(3), 324-329. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12941</u>
- Stieger, M., Robinson, S., Bisson, A., & Lachman, M. (2020). The relationship of personality and behavior change in a physical activity intervention: The role of conscientiousness and healthy neuroticism. *Personality and individual differences*, 166, 110224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110224</u>
- Stoyanov, S. (2016). MARS training video. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=25vBwJQIOcE
- Stoyanov, S., Hides, L., Kavanagh, D., & Wilson, H. (2016). Development and Validation of the User Version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS). *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, 4(2), e72. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.5849</u>
- Stoyanov, S., Hides, L., Kavanagh, D., Zelenko, O., Tjondronegoro, D., & Mani, M. (2015). Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 3(1), e27-e27. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.3422</u>
- STRAVA. (2021). Strava Privacy Policy. https://www.strava.com/legal/privacy
- Synnott, A., O'Keeffe, M., Bunzli, S., Dankaerts, W., O'Sullivan, P., & O'Sullivan, K. (2015). Physiotherapists may stigmatise or feel unprepared to treat people with low back pain and psychosocial factors that influence recovery: a systematic review. *Journal* of physiotherapy, 61(2), 68-76. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2015.02.016</u>
- Thomas, E., Haydon, H., Mehrotra, A., Caffery, L., Snoswell, C., Banbury, A., & Smith, A. (2020). Building on the momentum: Sustaining telehealth beyond COVID-19. *Journal* of Telemedicine and Telecare, 28(4), 301-308. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X20960638
- Thurnheer, S., Gravestock, I., Pichierri, G., Steurer, J., & Burgstaller, J. (2018). Benefits of Mobile Apps in Pain Management: Systematic Review. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 6(10), e11231-e11231. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/11231</u>
- Toelle, T., Utpadel-Fischler, D., Haas, K., & Priebe, J. (2019). App-based multidisciplinary back pain treatment versus combined physiotherapy plus online education: a randomized controlled trial. *NPJ digital medicine*, *2*(1), 34-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-019-0109-x</u>
- Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., & Craig, J. (2007). Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 19*(6), 349–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/ mzm042</u>
- Toomey, E., Currie-Murphy, L., Matthews, J., & Hurley, D. (2015). The effectiveness of physiotherapist-delivered group education and exercise interventions to promote self-management for people with osteoarthritis and chronic low back pain: A rapid review Part I. *Manual Therapy*, 20(2), 265-286. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2014.10.013</u>
- Turner-McGrievy, G., Hales, S., Schoffman, D., Valafar, H., Brazendale, K., Weaver, R., Beets, M., Wirth, M., Shivappa, N., Mandes, T., Hébert, J., Wilcox, S., Hester, A., &

McGrievy, M. (2017). Choosing between responsive-design websites versus mobile apps for your mobile behavioral intervention: presenting four case studies. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, *7*(2), 224–232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13142-016-0448-y</u>

- University of Queensland (UQ). (2022). Centre for Online Health Telehealth and coronavirus: Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) activity in Australia. <u>https://coh.centre.uq.edu.au/telehealth-and-coronavirus-medicare-benefits-schedulembs-activity-australia</u>
- van Tulder, M., Ostelo, R., Vlaeyen, J., Linton, S., Morley, S., & Assendelft, W. (2000). Behavioral Treatment for Chronic Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review Within the Framework of the Cochrane Back Review Group. *Spine*, *25*(20). <u>https://journals.lww.com/spinejournal/Fulltext/2000/10150/Behavioral_Treatment_for</u> <u>Chronic Low Back Pain_A.24.aspx</u>
- Vos, T., Abajobir, A., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K., Abate, K., Abd-Allah, F., Abdulle, A., Abebo, T., Abera, S., Aboyans, V., Abu-Raddad, L., Ackerman, I., Adamu, A., Adetokunboh, O., Afarideh, M., Afshin, A., Agarwal, S., Aggarwal, R., Agrawal, A., . . . Hailu, A. (2017). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet (British edition)*, *390*(10100), 1211-1259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32154-2</u>
- Vos, T., Lim, S., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K., Abbasi, M., Abbasifard, M., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., Abdollahi, M., Abdollahpour, I., Abolhassani, H., Aboyans, V., Abrams, E., Abreu, L., Abrigo, M., Abu-Raddad, L., Abushouk, A., . . . Murray, C. (2020). Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet*, 396(10258), 1204-1222. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9</u>
- Wang, Z., Zhang, L., Ma, L., & Liu, B. (2018). Modeling Medical Services with Mobile Health Applications. *Journal of healthcare engineering*, *2018*, 1385034-1385011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1385034</u>

Webster, P. (2020). Virtual health care in the era of COVID-19. *The Lancet (British edition)*, *395*(10231), 1180-1181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30818-7</u>

- Wehmeier, P., Fox, T., Doerr, J., Schnierer, N., Bender, M., & Nater, U. (2020).
 Development and Validation of a Brief Measure of Self-Management Competence: The Self-Management Self-Test (SMST). *Therapeutic innovation & regulatory science*, *54*(3), 534-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43441-019-00085-3</u>
- Whitelaw, S., Mamas, M., Topol, E., & Van Spall, H. (2020). Applications of digital technology in COVID-19 pandemic planning and response. *The Lancet (British edition)*, 2(8), e435-e440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30142-4</u>
- Whitley, M., Herman, P., Aliyev, G., Sherbourne, C., Ryan, G., & Coulter, I. (2021). Income as a Predictor of Self-Efficacy for Managing Pain and for Coping With Symptoms Among Patients With Chronic Low Back Pain. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 44(6), 433-444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2021.05.004</u>
- Wicks, P., & Chiauzzi, E. (2015). 'Trust but verify' five approaches to ensure safe medical apps. *BMC medicine*, *13*(1), 205-205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-015-0451-z</u>
- Willis Tower Watson (WTW). (2022). Global Medical Trends Survey Report.

https://www.wtwco.com/en-AU/Insights/2021/11/2022-global-medical-trends-surveyreport

- Windisch, O., Zamberg, I., Zanella, M., Gayet-Ageron, A., Blondon, K., Schiffer, E., & Agoritsas, T. (2020). Using mHealth to Increase the Reach of Local Guidance to Health Professionals as Part of an Institutional Response Plan to the COVID-19 Outbreak: Usage Analysis Study. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 8(8), e20025-e20025. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/20025</u>
- World Bank Group. (2021). *The world by income and region*. <u>https://datatopics.worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/the-world-by-income-and-region.html</u>
- World Health Organisation (WHO). (2018). *Classification of digital health interventions v1.0: a shared language to describe the uses of digital technology for health.* <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260480</u>
- World Health Organisation (WHO). (2019). WHO guideline: recommendations on digital interventions for health system strengthening. <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311941/9789241550505-</u> <u>eng.pdf?ua=1</u>
- World Health Organisation (WHO). (2021). *The Global Health Observatory*. <u>https://www.who.int/data/gho/indicator-metadata-registry/imr-details/4791</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2022). WHO guideline on self-care interventions for health and well-being, 2022 revision. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240052192
- World Physiotherapy (WP). (2021). *Physiotherapist education framework.* <u>https://world.physio/sites/default/files/2021-07/Physiotherapist-education-framework-FINAL.pdf</u>
- Wu, A., March, L., Zheng, X., Huang, J., Wang, X., Zhao, J., Blyth, F., Smith, E., Buchbinder, R., & Hoy, D. (2020). Global low back pain prevalence and years lived with disability from 1990 to 2017: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Annals of translational medicine*, 8(6), 299-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2020.02.175</u>
- Yang, J., Wei, Q., Ge, Y., Meng, L., & Zhao, M. (2019). Smartphone-Based Remote Self-Management of Chronic Low Back Pain: A Preliminary Study. *Journal of healthcare engineering*, 2019, Article 4632946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4632946</u>
- Yang, J., Wei, Q., Ge, Y., Meng, L., & Zhao, M. (2019). Smartphone-Based Remote Self-Management of Chronic Low Back Pain: A Preliminary Study. *Journal of healthcare engineering*, 2019, 4632946-4632947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4632946</u>
- Yihunie, M., Abich, Y., Demissie, S., Kassa, T., Ranganathan, P., & Janakiraman, B. (2023). Fear-Avoidance Beliefs for Physical Activity Among Chronic Low Back Pain:

A Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study. *Journal of pain research*, *16*, 233-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S388002</u>

- Zadro, J., O'Keeffe, M., & Maher, C. (2019). Do physical therapists follow evidence-based guidelines when managing musculoskeletal conditions? Systematic review. *BMJ Open*, *9*(10), e032329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032329</u>
- Zhang, G., Chen, X., Xiao, L., Li, Y., Li, B., Yan, Z., Guo, L., & Rost, D. (2019). The Relationship Between Big Five and Self-Control in Boxers: A Mediating Model. *Frontiers in psychology*, *10*, 1690-1690. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01690</u>
- Zhang, Y., Wan, L., & Wang, X. (2014). The effect of health education in patients with chronic low back pain. *Journal of international medical research*, *42*(3), 815-820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060514527059</u>

Appendices

Appendix 1 Signed co-authorship approval form



Office of Graduate Research Room 003, Registry Building Bedford Park, SA 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide 5001 Australia Email: hdrexams@flinders.edu.au Phone: (08) 8201 5961 Website: https://students.flinders.edu.au/my-course/hdr CRICOS Provider: 00114A

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS FOR EXAMINATIONS

In accordance with Clause 5, 7 and 8 in the <u>HDR Thesis Rules</u>, a student must sign a declaration that the thesis does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text or footnotes. There can be no exception to this rule.

- a. Publications or significant sections of publications (whether accepted, submitted or in manuscript form) arising out of work conducted during candidature may be included in the body of the thesis, or submitted as additional evidence as an appendix, on the following conditions:
 - I. they contribute to the overall theme of the work, are conceptually linked to the chapters before and after, and follow a logical sequence
 - II. they are formatted in the same way as the other chapters (i.e. not presented as reprints unless as an appendix), whether included as separate chapters or integrated into chapters
 - III. they are in the same typeface as the rest of the thesis (except for reprints included as an appendix)
 - IV. published and unpublished sections of a chapter are clearly differentiated with appropriate referencing or footnotes, and
 - V. unnecessary repetition in the general introduction and conclusion, and the introductions and conclusions of each published chapter, is avoided.
- b. Multi-author papers may be included within a thesis, provided:
 - I. the student is the primary author
 - II. there is a clear statement in prose for each publication at the front of each chapter, recording the percentage contribution of each author to the paper, from conceptualisation to realisation and documentation.
 - III. The publication adheres to Flinders <u>Research Publication</u>, <u>Authorship and Peer Review Policy</u>, and
 - IV. each of the other authors provides permission for use of their work to be included in the thesis on the <u>Submission of Thesis Form</u> below.
- c. Papers where the student is not the primary author may be included within a thesis if a clear justification for the paper's inclusion is provided, including the circumstances relating to production of the paper and the student's position in the list of authors. However, it is preferable to include such papers as appendices, rather than in the main body of the thesis.

STUDENT DETAILS

Student Name	<u>Claudia Didyk</u>
Student ID	9504699
College	Choose an item. CNHS
Degree	Doctor of Philosophy
Title of Thesis	Smartphone Applications for the Self-management of Low Back Pain

PUBLICATION 1

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Effectiveness of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain in adults: a systematic review.				
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 2				
Student's contribution to the publication	70 % 80 % 80 %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing			

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

Claudia Didyk contributed to the conceptualisation of the research questions and research design with input form the supervisory team. Claudia Didyk conducted the literature search and data extraction. Claudia Didyk and Belinda Lange conducted the data analysis, and Claudia Didyk completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

Name of Co-Author 1	Associate Professor Belinda Lange	Signed	Bhango	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 2	Professor Lucy Lewis	Signed	Solaris	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 3		Signed		Date	

PUBLICATION 2

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic assessment.				
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 3				
Student's contribution to the publication	70 % 80 % 80 %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing			

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the review. Claudia Didyk and Belinda Lange conducted the systematic app search. Claudia Didyk and Belinda Lange conducted the data analysis, and Claudia Didyk completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

Name of Co-Author 1	Associate Professor Belinda Lange	_ Signed _	Bhango	_ Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 2	Professor Lucy Lewis	_ Signed _	Sources	_ Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 3		Signed		Date	

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS EXAMINATION

PUBLICATION 3

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Self-efficacy, self-management and use of smartphone apps for low back pain: an observational study.				
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 4				
Student's contribution to the publication	80 90 70	% %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing		

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the study. Claudia Didyk completed the initial version of the survey. All authors contributed to create the final version of the survey. Claudia Didyk conducted the data analysis and completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

Name of Co-Author 1	Professor Lucy Lewis	Signed	Sours	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 2	Associate Professor Belinda Lange	Signed	Bhango	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 3		Signed		Date	

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS EXAMINATION

PUBLICATION 4

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Health professionals' use of smartphone apps for clients with low back pain: an observational study.				
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 5				
Student's contribution to the publication	80 % 90 % 70 %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing			

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the study. Claudia Didyk completed the initial version of the survey. All authors contributed to create the final version of the survey. Claudia Didyk conducted the data analysis and completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

Name of Co-Author 1	Associate Professor Belinda Lange	Signed	Bhango	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 2	Professor Lucy Lewis	Signed	Solaris	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 3		Signed		Date	

PUBLICATION 5

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Co-design of a consumer-level tool to assess the quality of smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain				
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 6				
Student's contribution to the publication	80 % 95 % 75 %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing			

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

All authors were involved in formulating the concept and design of the study. Claudia Didyk managed the study, conducting recruitment, undertaking the workshops and pilot study as well as data collection. Claudia Didyk conducted the data analysis and consulted with co-authors on the categories arising from the qualitative data analysis. Claudia Didyk completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

Name of Co-Author 1	Professor Lucy Lewis	Signed	Sours	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 2	Associate Professor Belinda Lange	Signed	Bhango	Date	18/07/2023
Name of Co-Author 3		Signed		Date	

Appendix 2 Ethics Approval – Study 3 & 4, chapter 4-5

26 November 2021



HUMAN ETHICS LOW RISK PANEL

APPROVAL NOTICE

Dear Mrs Claudia Didyk,

The below proposed project has been approved on the basis of the information contained in the application and its attachments.

Project No:	2818
Project Title:	Self-management of low back pain.
Primary Researcher:	Mrs Claudia Didyk
Approval Date:	26/11/2021
Expiry Date:	31/01/2023

Please note: Due to the current COVID-19 situation, researchers are strongly advised to develop a research design that aligns with the University's COVID-19 research protocol involving human studies. Where possible, avoid face-to-face testing and consider rescheduling face-to-face testing or undertaking alternative distance/online data or interview collection means. For further information, please go to https://staff.flinders.edu.au/coronavirus-information/research-updates.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF RESEARCHERS AND SUPERVISORS

1. Participant Documentation

Please note that it is the responsibility of researchers and supervisors, in the case of student projects, to ensure that:

- all participant documents are checked for spelling, grammatical, numbering and formatting errors. The Committee does not accept any responsibility for the above mentioned errors.
- the Flinders University logo is included on all participant documentation (e.g., letters of Introduction, information Sheets, consent forms, debriefing information and questionnaires – with the exception of purchased research tools) and the current Flinders University letterhead is included in the header of all letters of introduction. The Flinders University international logo/letterhead should be used and documentation should contain international dialing codes for all telephone and fax numbers listed for all research to be conducted overseas.

2. Annual Progress / Final Reports

In order to comply with the monitoring requirements of the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research 2007 (updated 2018) an annual progress report must be submitted each year on the approval anniversary date for the duration of the ethics approval using the HREC Annual/Final Report Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system.

<u>Please note</u> that no data collection can be undertaken after the ethics approval expiry date listed at the top of this notice. If data is collected after expiry, it will not be covered in terms of ethics. It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that annual progress reports are submitted on time; and that no data is collected after ethics has expired.

If the project is completed *before* ethics approval has expired please ensure a final report is submitted immediately. If ethics approval for your project expires please <u>either</u> submit (1) a final report; <u>or</u> (2) an extension of time request (using the HREC Modification Form).

For student projects, the Low Risk Panel recommends that current ethics approval is maintained until a student's thesis has been submitted, assessed and finalised. This is to protect the student in the event that reviewers recommend that additional data be collected from participants.

3. Modifications to Project

Modifications to the project must not proceed until approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee. Such proposed changes / modifications include:

- change of project title;
- change to research team (e.g., additions, removals, researchers and supervisors)
- changes to research objectives;
- · changes to research protocol;
- · changes to participant recruitment methods;
- changes / additions to source(s) of participants;
- · changes of procedures used to seek informed consent;
- · changes to reimbursements provided to participants;
- changes to information / documents to be given to potential participants;
- · changes to research tools (e.g., survey, interview questions, focus group questions etc);
- extensions of time (i.e. to extend the period of ethics approval past current expiry date).

To notify the Committee of any proposed modifications to the project please submit a Modification Request Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system. Please note that extension of time requests should be submitted <u>prior</u> to the Ethics Approval Expiry Date listed on this notice.

1. Adverse Events and/or Complaints

Researchers should advise the Executive Officer of the Human Research Ethics Committee on at <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u> immediately if:

- · any complaints regarding the research are received;
- a serious or unexpected adverse event occurs that effects participants;
- an unforeseen event occurs that may affect the ethical acceptability of the project.

Yours sincerely,

Hendryk Flaegel

on behalf of

Human Ethics Low Risk Panel Research Development and Support human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au

Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia, 5001

http://www.flinders.edu.au/research/researcher-support/ebi/human-ethics/human-ethics home.cfm

Appendix 3 Ethics Approval – Study 5, chapter 6

29 July 2022



HUMAN ETHICS LOW RISK PANEL

APPROVAL NOTICE

Dear Mrs Claudia Didyk,

The below proposed project has been approved on the basis of the information contained in the application and its attachments.

Project No:	5568
Project Title:	Co-design of low back pain self-management app assessment tool
Primary Researcher:	Mrs Claudia Didyk
Approval Date:	29/07/2022
Expiry Date:	20/05/2023
Conditions of Approval:	None

Please note: Due to COVID-19, researchers should try to avoid face-to-face testing where possible and consider undertaking alternative distance/online data or interview collection means. For further information, please go to https://staff.flinders.edu.au/coronavirus-information.

Please note: For all research projects wishing to recruit Flinders University students as participants, approval needs to be sought from the Office to the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Students). To seek approval, please provide a copy of the Ethics approval for the project and a copy of the project application to the Office of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Students) via <u>dvcsoffice@dl.flinders.edu.au</u>.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF RESEARCHERS AND SUPERVISORS

1. Participant Documentation

Please note that it is the responsibility of researchers and supervisors, in the case of student projects, to ensure that:

- all participant documents are checked for spelling, grammatical, numbering and formatting errors. The Committee does not accept any responsibility for the above mentioned errors.
- the Flinders University logo is included on all participant documentation (e.g., letters of Introduction, information Sheets, consent forms, debriefing information and questionnaires – with the exception of purchased research tools) and the current Flinders University letterhead is included in the header of all letters of introduction. The Flinders University international logo/letterhead should be used and documentation should contain international dialing codes for all telephone and fax numbers listed for all research to be conducted overseas.

2. Annual Progress / Final Reports

In order to comply with the monitoring requirements of the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research 2007 (updated 2018) an annual progress report must be submitted each year on the approval anniversary date for the duration of the ethics approval using the HREC Annual/Final Report Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system.

<u>Please note</u> that no data collection can be undertaken after the ethics approval expiry date listed at the top of this notice. If data is collected after expiry, it will not be covered in terms of ethics. It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that annual progress reports are submitted on time; and that no data is collected after ethics has expired.

If the project is completed *before* ethics approval has expired please ensure a final report is submitted immediately. If ethics approval for your project expires please <u>either</u> submit (1) a final report; <u>or</u> (2) an extension of time request (using the HREC Modification Form).

For student projects, the Low Risk Panel recommends that current ethics approval is maintained until a student's thesis has been submitted, assessed and finalised. This is to protect the student in the event that reviewers recommend that additional data be collected from participants.

1. Modifications to Project

Modifications to the project must not proceed until approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee. Such proposed changes / modifications include:

- change of project title;
- change to research team (e.g., additions, removals, researchers and supervisors)
- changes to research objectives;
- · changes to research protocol;
- · changes to participant recruitment methods;
- changes / additions to source(s) of participants;
- changes of procedures used to seek informed consent;
- changes to reimbursements provided to participants;
- · changes to information / documents to be given to potential participants;
- changes to research tools (e.g., survey, interview questions, focus group questions etc);
- · extensions of time (i.e. to extend the period of ethics approval past current expiry date).

To notify the Committee of any proposed modifications to the project please submit a Modification Request Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system. Please note that extension of time requests should be submitted <u>prior</u> to the Ethics Approval Expiry Date listed on this notice.

2. Adverse Events and/or Complaints

Researchers should advise the Executive Officer of the Human Research Ethics Committee on at <u>human researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u> immediately if:

- · any complaints regarding the research are received;
- · a serious or unexpected adverse event occurs that effects participants;
- · an unforeseen event occurs that may affect the ethical acceptability of the project.

Yours sincerely,

Hendryk Flaegel

on behalf of

Human Ethics Low Risk Panel Research Development and Support <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u>

Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia, 5001

http://www.flinders.edu.au/research/researcher-support/ebi/human-ethics/human-ethics home.cfm





Appendix 4 Smartphone apps and back pain treatments

Posted on November 11, 2021 by newsdesk



Australians hoping to reduce medical and physiotherapy costs by using smartphone apps to self-manage lower back pain could be setting themselves up for failure – with a new study outlining the lacklustre quality and lack of individualised medical advice on the apps.

The study, published in open-access journal <u>Disability and Rehabilitation</u>, found 25 apps that are available for Apple and Android smartphones offer poor quality advice and information, instead recommending common aerobic exercises that fail to deliver important customised management tools for lower back pain.

Nine of the smartphone apps had to be purchased with some offering an initial one-month trial before monthly fees were introduced.

Flinders University PhD Candidate Claudia Didyk, in the College of Nursing and Health Sciences, says the results suggest apps have the potential to improve lower back pain outcomes, however they re not well regulated, and the quality of information and advice provided is often poor.

Smartphones apps can be a cost-effective option for health monitoring and advice, particularly for those who are time-poor, have financial constraints, have transport difficulties or live-in rural areas with poor access to health care. But the rapid rate that

health and wellbeing apps are developed makes it difficult to monitor and effectively regulate content quality," says Ms Didyk.

"Many of the apps were not developed by individuals with a clear health-related background. None of the apps have been tested to determine if they can improve lower back pain outcomes, self-management, and behaviour change. This limits consumer confidence in the product."

"There is a clear need for higher-quality apps that have been evaluated and are from reliable sources. Only one of the apps, the SelfBack app, had been trialled and evaluated in randomised controlled trials."

With back and neck pain effecting millions of Australians at some point in their lives and consistently ranked as a common reason for GP and hospital visits, technology could offer effective alternatives that don't clog up the health system.

But the researchers say the poorly regulated industry reduces product quality and the health benefits are unproven as a result.



Associate Professor Belinda Lange, in the College of Nursing & Health Sciences.

"There is a need for low-cost, easily accessible, reliable, tailored interventions that can address health inequities by enabling the immediate delivery of high-level public health services to address the economic and personal costs of LBP," says Associate Professor Belinda Lange, in the College of Nursing & Health Sciences.



Academic Lead Physiotherapy, Associate Professor Lucy Lewis, in College of Nursing & Health Sciences.

Associate Professor Lucy Lewis says that the variable quality and lack of testing of most apps shows it's important for consumers to consult with a health professional to find out how using an appropriate app may supplement their care.

"There is great potential for apps for low back pain to further encompass behaviour change principles by including features such as sharing behaviours with others, similar to popular exercise app Strava.

Social support has been shown to improve exercise adherence and longevity with behaviour change – this is an important future area for app developers working in the area of low back pain self-management apps."

Funding for app purchases was provided by the Flinders University Research Student Maintenance (RSM) support.

Posted in College of Nursing and Health Sciences News Research

Appendix 5 Smartphone apps and back pain treatments



11 November 2021



Credit: Pixabay/CC0 Public Domain

Australians hoping to reduce medical and physiotherapy costs by using smartphone apps to selfmanage lower back pain could be setting themselves up for failure with a new study outlining the lackluster quality and lack of individualized medical advice on the apps.

The study, published in open-access journal *Disability and Rehabilitation*, found 25 apps that are available for Apple and Android smartphones offer poor quality advice and information, instead recommending common aerobic exercises that fail to deliver important customized management tools for lower back pain.

Nine of the <u>smartphone</u> apps had to be purchased with some offering an initial one-month trial before monthly fees were introduced.

Flinders University Ph.D. Candidate Claudia Didyk, in the College of Nursing and Health Sciences, says the results suggest apps have the potential to improve lower back pain outcomes, however they're not well regulated, and the quality of information and advice provided is often poor.

Smartphones apps can be a cost-effective option for <u>health</u> monitoring and advice, particularly for those who are time-poor, have financial constraints, have transport difficulties or live-in rural areas with poor access to <u>health care</u>. But the rapid rate that health and wellbeing apps are developed makes it difficult to monitor and effectively regulate content quality, says Ms Didyk.

Many of the apps were not developed by individuals with a clear health-related background. None of the apps have been tested to determine if they can improve <u>lower back pain</u> outcomes, self- management, and behavior change. This limits consumer confidence in the product. "There is a clear need for higher-quality apps that have been evaluated and are from reliable sources. Only one of the apps, the SelfBack app, had been trialed and evaluated in randomized controlled trials."

With back and neck <u>pain</u> effecting millions of Australians at some point in their lives and consistently ranked as a common reason for GP and hospital visits, technology could offer effective alternatives that don't clog up the health system.

But the researchers say the poorly regulated industry reduces product quality and the health benefits are unproven as a result.

"There is a need for low-cost, easily accessible, reliable, tailored interventions that can address health inequities by enabling the immediate delivery of high-level public health services to address the economic and personal costs of LBP," says Associate Professor Belinda Lange, in the College of Nursing & Health Sciences.

"Clinical recommendations of current <u>smartphone apps</u> for LBP should take into consideration that although apps are of acceptable quality, they are not specifically designed with self-management support and behavior change principles."

The results suggest developers need to work together with consumers and health professionals to incorporate increased self-management and behavior change content and subsequently trial apps to test their effectiveness.

More information: Claudia Didyk et al, Availability, content and quality of commercially available smartphone applications for the self- management of low back pain: a systematic assessment, *Disability and Rehabilitation* (2021). <u>DOI:</u> <u>10.1080/09638288.2021.1979664</u>

Provided by Flinders University

APA citation: Smartphone apps and back pain treatments (2021, November 11) retrieved 15 November 2021 from <u>https://medicalxpress.com/news/2021-11-smartphone-apps-pain-</u> <u>treatments.html</u>